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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS AND INFORMATION  
   

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”), the other reports, statements, and information that we have previously filed or 
that we may subsequently file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and public announcements that we have previously made 
or may subsequently make include, may include, incorporate by reference or may incorporate by reference certain statements that may be 
deemed to be forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report and those 
reports, statements, information and announcements address activities, events or developments that Reed’s, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries 
hereinafter referred to as “we,” “us,” “our” or “Reed’s”) expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future. Any statements in this document 
about expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts and are forward-looking 
statements. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “predict,” 
“potential,” “believe,” “will likely result,” “expect,” “will continue,” “anticipate,” “seek,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “projection,” “would” 
and “outlook,” and similar expressions. Accordingly, these statements involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties, which could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in them. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the 
factors discussed throughout this document. All forward-looking statements concerning economic conditions, rates of growth, rates of income or 
values as may be included in this document are based on information available to us on the dates noted, and we assume no obligation to update 
any such forward-looking statements.  
   

The risk factors referred to in this Annual Report could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any 
forward-looking statements made by us, and you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking 
statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement or 
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 
New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict which will arise. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each 
factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in any forward-looking statements.  
   

Management cautions that these statements are qualified by their terms and/or important factors, many of which are outside of our 
control, involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from the 
statements made, including, but not limited to, the following, and other factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report, including under the 
section entitled “Risk Factors:”  
   

   

   

   

   

   

 

   
   

  

•  Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to support capital expansion plans and general operating activities,  

•  Decreased demand for our products resulting from changes in consumer preferences,  

•  Competitive products and pricing pressures and our ability to gain or maintain its share of sales in the marketplace,  

•  The introduction of new products,  

•  Our being subject to a broad range of evolving federal, state and local laws and regulations including those regarding the labeling 
and safety of food products, establishing ingredient designations and standards of identity for certain foods, environmental 
protections, as well as worker health and safety. Changes in these laws and regulations could have a material effect on the way in 
which we produce and market our products and could result in increased costs,  

•  Changes in the cost and availability of raw materials and the ability to maintain our supply arrangements and relationships and 
procure timely and/or adequate production of all or any of our products,  

•  Our ability to penetrate new markets and maintain or expand existing markets,  
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Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future 

results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements.  
 
   
 

  

•  Maintaining existing relationships and expanding the distributor network of our products,  

•  The marketing efforts of distributors of our products, most of whom also distribute products that are competitive with our products,  

•  Decisions by distributors, grocery chains, specialty chain stores, club stores and other customers to discontinue carrying all or any 
of our products that they are carrying at any time,  

•  The availability and cost of capital to finance our working capital needs and growth plans,  

•  The effectiveness of our advertising, marketing and promotional programs,  

•  Changes in product category consumption,  

•  Economic and political changes,  

•  Consumer acceptance of new products, including taste test comparisons,  

•  Possible recalls of our products, and  

•  Our ability to make suitable arrangements for the co-packing of any of our products.  
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PART I  

   
Item 1. Business  
   
Background  
 

We develop, manufacture, market, and sell natural non-alcoholic and “New Age” beverages, candies and ice creams. “New Age 
Beverages” is a category that includes natural soda, fruit juices and fruit drinks, ready-to-drink teas, sports drinks and water. We currently 
manufacture, market and sell eight unique product lines:  
 

 
In addition, we have a growing private label business and have two national chains that we deliver private labels products.  

 
We sell most of our products in specialty gourmet and natural food stores (estimated at approximately 4,000 smaller or specialty stores 

and approximately 3,000 supermarket format stores ), supermarket chains (estimated at approximately 7,000 stores), retail stores and restaurants 
in the United States and, to a lesser degree, in Canada, Europe and other international territories.  We primarily sell our products through a 
network of natural, gourmet and independent distributors.  We also maintain an organization of in-house sales managers who work mainly in the 
stores serviced by our natural, gourmet and mainstream distributors and with our distributors.  We also work with regional, independent sales 
representatives who maintain store and distributor relationships in a specified territory.    
 

We produce and co-pack our products in part at our facility in Los Angeles, California, known as the Brewery, and primarily at a 
contracted co-packing facility in Pennsylvania. The co-pack facility in Pennsylvania supplies us with soda products for the eastern half of the 
United States and nationally for soda products that we do not produce at The Brewery.   Our ice creams are co-packed for us at a facility in 
upstate New York.  We pack our candy products at the Brewery.  
   

Key elements of our business strategy include:  

 
Our current sales effort is focused on building our business in our approximately 10,500 natural and mainstream supermarket accounts 

in the U.S. and Canada.  
 

We create consumer demand for our products by:  

   

  

   •  Reed’s Ginger Brews,  
   •  Virgil’s Root Beer, Cream Sodas and Real Cola, including diet sodas,  
   •  China Colas,  
   •  Reed’s Ginger Chews,  
   •  Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams,  
   •  Sonoma Sparkler Sparkling Juices,  
   •  R(x)eed’s Nausea Relief, and  
   •  Energy Elixir  

   •  increase our relationship with and sales to the approximately 10,500 supermarkets that carry our products in natural and 
mainstream,  

   •  stimulate consumer demand and awareness for our existing brands and products,  
   •  develop additional alternative and natural beverage brands and other products, including specialty packaging and alternative 

uses for our products, such as our new nausea relief product,  
   •  develop and produce private-label products for select customers,  
   •  lower our cost of sales for our products, and  
   •  optimize the size of our sales force to manage our relationships with distributors.  

   •  supporting in-store sampling programs of our products,  
   •  generating free press through public relations,  
   •  advertising in store publications,  
   •  maintaining a company website (www.reedsgingerbrew.com),  
   •  participating in large public events as sponsors; and  
   •  partnering with alcohol brands such as Dewar’s and Bacardi to create co-branded cocktail recipes such as “Dewar’s and 

Reeds”  and a “Reed’s Dark and Stormy.”   
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Our principal executive offices are located at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061.  Our telephone number is 

(310) 217-9400. Our Internet address is (www.reedsgingerbrew.com). Information contained on our website or that is accessible through our 
website should not be considered to be part of this Annual Report.    
 
Historical Development  
   

In June 1987, Christopher J. Reed, our founder and Chief Executive Officer, began development of Reed’s Original Ginger Brew, his 
first beverage creation.  After two years of development, the product was introduced to the market in Southern California stores in 1989.  By 
1990, we began marketing our products through natural food distributors and moved our production to a larger facility in Boulder, Colorado.  
 

In 1991, we incorporated our business operations in the state of Florida under the name of Original Beverage Corporation and moved 
all of our production to a co-pack facility in Pennsylvania.  We began exhibiting at national natural and specialty food trade shows, which 
brought national distribution in natural, gourmet and specialty foods and the signing of our first mainstream supermarket distributor.  Our 
products began to receive trade industry recognition as an outstanding new product.  The United States National Association of the Specialty 
Food Trade, or NASFT, named Original Ginger Brew as an “Outstanding Beverage Finalist” in the United States in 1997, and the Canadian 
Fancy Food Association, or CFFA, awarded us “Best Imported Food Product” in 1991.  
 

Throughout the 1990’s, we continued to develop and launch new Ginger Brew varieties.  Reed’s Ginger Brews reached broad 
placement in natural and gourmet foods stores nationwide through major specialty, natural/gourmet and mainstream food and beverage 
distributors.  
 

In 1997, we began licensing the products of China Cola and eventually acquired the rights to that product in December 2000.  In 
addition, we launched Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy, a product which we manufacture in Fiji under a proprietary, natural, non-sulfured 
process.  In 1999, we purchased the Virgil’s Root Beer brand from the Crowley Beverage Company.  The brand has won numerous gourmet 
awards.  In 2000, we began to market three new products: Reed’s Original Ginger Ice Cream, Reed’s Cherry Ginger Brew and a beautiful 
designer 10-ounce gift tin of our Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy.  In December 2000, we purchased an 18,000 square foot warehouse 
property, the Brewery, in Los Angeles, California, to house our west coast production and warehouse facility.  The Brewery now also serves as 
our principal executive offices.  In 2001, pursuant to a reincorporation merger, we changed our state of incorporation to Delaware and also 
changed our name to Reed’s, Inc.  We also introduced our Reed’s Chocolate Ginger Ice Cream and Reed’s Green Tea Ginger Ice Cream 
products and expanded our confectionary line with two new candy products: Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Baking Bits and Reed’s Ginger 
Chews.  In 2002, we launched our Reed’s Ginger Juice Brew line, with four flavors of organic juice blends. In November 2002, we completed 
our first test runs of Reed’s and Virgil’s products at the Brewery and in January 2003, our first commercially available products came off the Los 
Angeles line.  In 2003, we commenced our own direct distribution in Southern California and introduced sales of our 5-liter Virgil’s party keg. 
In 2004, we expanded our product line to include Virgil’s Cream Soda (including in a 5-liter keg), Reed’s Spiced Apple Brew in a 750 ml. 
champagne bottle and draught Virgil’s Root Beer and Cream Soda. In 2006, we expanded our product line to include Virgil’s Black Cherry 
Cream Soda. Progressive Grocers, a top trade publication in the grocery industry voted this product as the best new beverage product of 2006. 
On December 12, 2006, we completed the sale of 2,000,000 shares of our common stock at an offering price of $4.00 per share in our initial 
public offering. The public offering resulted in gross proceeds of $8,000,000 to us.  
 

 In 2007, we executed several elements of our business plan, including the hiring of several key personnel such as a Chief Operating 
Officer, two Senior Vice Presidents of Sales, an Executive Vice President of Sales and several sales personnel.  In addition, we developed and 
launched a line of diet sodas of the three flavors of the Virgil’s brand and introduced a new 7 ounce package of our Extra Ginger Brew.  We 
gained a warehouse immediately adjacent to our principal executive office and brewery in Los Angeles that serves as our finished goods 
warehouse.  We executed several agreements with distributors that service mainstream retailers that expand our product reach beyond our core 
reach of natural and specialty retailers through direct store distribution (known as DSD).  The relationships with these distributors are supported, 
in large part, by one of our Senior Vice Presidents of Sales and newly hired sales staff.  We hired a Senior Vice President of Sales to develop 
sales into national accounts, such as grocery store chains, club stores and other large retailers that can be serviced either directly or through our 
existing natural foods distributors or mainstream distributors.  We also hired an Executive Vice President of Sales and reassigned an existing 
sales executive to co-lead our initiative to introduce our products to international customers in Europe, Asia, the Middle East and South 
America.  Also in 2007, we raised a net of $7,600,000 in a private placement.  
 

In 2008, we refined our sales strategy to focus our sales efforts on the estimated 10,500 natural and mainstream supermarket grocery 
stores that carry our products.  Our 2007 sales strategy had focused on a more global effort to hit all the accounts in certain regions of the 
Country.  As part of our sales forces’ new direction, we consolidated roles and reduced the sales staff by 16 people from 33 at the end of 2007 to 
10 at end of 2008.  We also launched our Peanut Butter Ginger Chews in 2008, the second candy in the Reed’s Ginger Chew line.  
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In 2009, we continued our focus on natural and mainstream supermarket grocery stores that carry our products.  We introduced our 

Energy Elixir and our Orange Cream Soda.  We also began our initiative to produce and sell private-label products.   We acquired an additional 
product line, the Sonoma Sparkler brand, which is anticipated to increase revenues during the holiday season.  Sonoma Sparkler beverages are 
sparkling juices in 750ml and 12oz sizes.  
 

In 2010, we launched our R(x)eed’s Nausea Relief drink for the drug store channel in 5.5 oz cans in full wrapped four pack boxes.  
 
Industry Overview  
 

Our beverages fall within the New Age Beverage category, which we believe is growing rapidly.  Consumer awareness of the health 
risks of too much sugar, in addition to studies evidencing the athletic performance benefits of proper hydration plus a variety of new 
beverages/serving sizes are, we believe, fueling robust sales in the New Age Beverage category that currently exceeds $17 billion annually .  
 

We also believe the non-chocolate candy segment, such as Reed’s Ginger Chews, will continue to be a growth segment as well.  Non-
chocolate candy sales increased 4.2% from 2006 to 2007, according to the National Confectioners Association (NCA).    Additionally, the annual 
confectionary retail sales (including chocolate, non-chocolate and gum sales) in the United States were approximately $28.2 billion in 2006, of 
which approximately $8.9 billion was non-chocolate candy.  
   

Furthermore, we believe that the packaged ice cream industry, which includes economy, regular, premium and super-premium products 
has the potential for continued robust growth.  According to Mintel International Group, the entire frozen market will grow 15% by 2012 
through all retail channels.  Furthermore, super-premium ice cream, such as Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams, is generally characterized by a greater 
richness and density than other kinds of ice creams.  This higher quality ice cream generally sells at a premium to the other ice cream segments 
due to its emphasis on quality, brand image, flavor selection and texture.  
   
Our Products  
 

We currently manufacture and sell 16 beverages, three candies and three ice creams. We make all of our products using premium all-
natural ingredients.  
 

We produce carbonated soda products. According to Spence Information Services (“SPINS”), a market research and consulting firm for 
the Natural Products Industry, which is the only sales information service catering to the natural food trade, for the 52 weeks ending December 
1, 2007, Reed’s products were the top five items based on dollar sales among all sugar/fructose sweetened sodas in the natural foods industry in 
the United States, with Reed’s Extra Ginger Brew holding the number one position, Virgil’s Root Beer being number two, Premium Ginger 
Brew being number three and Original Ginger Brew as number four.   
 

Our carbonated products include six varieties of Reed’s Ginger Brews, eight varieties of Virgil’s Root Beer and Cream Sodas and Real 
Cola (including diet varieties), China Cola and Cherry China Cola.  In 2009, we introduced our Natural Energy Elixer, and in 2010 our R(x)eeds 
Nausea Releif, both products being derivations of our Ginger Brew’s.  
 

Our candy products include Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy, Reed’s Peanut Butter Ginger Chews and Reed’s Ginger Chews.  
 

Our ice cream products include Reed’s Original Ginger Ice Cream, Reed’s Chocolate Ginger Ice Cream and Reed’s Green Tea Ginger 
Ice Cream.  
 
Beverages  
 

Reed’s Ginger Brews  
 

Ginger ale is the oldest known soft drink.  Before modern soft drink technology existed, non-alcoholic beverages were brewed at home 
directly from herbs, roots, spices, and fruits.  These handcrafted brews were then aged like wine and highly prized for their taste and their tonic, 
health-giving properties.  Reed’s Ginger Brews are a revival of this home brewing art and we make them with care and attention to 
wholesomeness and quality, using the finest fresh herbs, roots, spices, and fruits.  Our expert brew masters brew each batch and age it with great 
pride.  
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We believe that Reed’s Ginger Brews are unique in their kettle brewed origin among all mass-marketed soft drinks. Reed’s Ginger 

Brews contain between 8 and 26 grams of fresh ginger in every 12-ounce bottle. We use no refined sugars as sweeteners. Our products differ 
from commercial soft drinks in three particular characteristics: sweetening, carbonation and coloring for greater adult appeal. Instead of using 
injected-based carbonation, we produce our carbonation naturally, through slower, beer-oriented techniques.  This process produces smaller, 
longer lasting bubbles that do not dissipate rapidly when the bottle is opened.  We do not add coloring.  The color of our products comes 
naturally from herbs, fruits, spices, roots and juices.  
 

In addition, since Reed’s Ginger Brews are pasteurized, they do not require or contain any preservatives.  In contrast, modern 
commercial soft drinks generally are produced using natural and artificial flavor concentrates prepared by flavor laboratories, tap water, and 
highly refined sweeteners. Typically, manufacturers make a centrally processed concentrate that will lend itself to a wide variety of situations, 
waters, and filling systems.  The final product is generally cold-filled and requires preservatives for stability.  Colors are added that are either 
natural, although highly processed, or artificial.  
 

In addition, while we make no claim as to any medical or therapeutic benefits of our products, we have found friends and advocates 
among alternative, holistic, naturopathic, and homeopathic medical practitioners, dieticians and medical doctors, who tell us that they 
recommend Reed’s Extra Ginger Brew for their patients as a simple way to ingest a known level of ginger. The United States Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) includes ginger on their GRAS (generally recognized as safe) list.  However, neither the FDA nor any other government 
agency officially endorses or recommends the use of ginger as a dietary supplement.  
 

We currently manufacture and sell seven varieties of Reed’s Ginger Brews:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
All six of Reed’s Ginger Brews are offered in 12-ounce bottles and are sold in stores as singles, in four-packs and in 24-bottle cases. 

Reed’s Original Ginger Brew is sold by select retailers in a special 12-pack. Reed’s Original Ginger Brew, Extra Ginger Brew and Spiced Apple 
Brew are now available in 750 ml. champagne bottles. The Reed’s Extra Ginger Brew is also produced in a 7-ounce bottle and sold in eight-
packs and 32-bottle cases.  The Natural Energy Elixir is sold in a 10.5 oz can.  
   

  

  •  Reed’s Original Ginger Brew was our first creation, and is a Jamaican recipe for homemade ginger ale using 17 grams of 
fresh ginger root, lemon, lime, honey, fructose, pineapple, herbs and spices. Reed’s Original Ginger Brew is 20% fruit juice.  

  •  Reed’s Extra Ginger Brew is the same approximate recipe, with 25 grams of fresh ginger root for a stronger bite. Reed’s 
Extra Ginger Brew is 20% fruit juice.  

  •  Reed’s Premium Ginger Brew is the no-fructose version of Reed’s Original Ginger Brew, and is sweetened only with honey 
and pineapple juice. Reed’s Premium Ginger Brew is 20% fruit juice.  

  •  Reed’s Raspberry Ginger Brew is brewed from 17 grams of fresh ginger root, raspberry juice and lime. Reed’s Raspberry 
Ginger Brew is 20% raspberry juice and is sweetened with fruit juice and fructose.  

  •  Reed’s Spiced Apple Brew uses 8 grams of fresh ginger root, the finest tart German apple juice and such apple pie spices as 
cinnamon, cloves and allspice. Reed’s Spiced Apple Brew is 50% apple juice and sweetened with fruit juice and fructose.  

  •  Reed’s Cherry Ginger Brew is the newest addition to our Ginger Brew family, and is naturally brewed from: filtered water, 
fructose, fresh ginger root, cherry juice from concentrate and spices. Reed’s Cherry Ginger Brew is brewed from 22 grams 
of fresh ginger root.  

  •  Reed’s Natural Energy Elixir , an energy drink infused with all natural ingredients designed to provide consumers with a 
healthy and natural boost to energy levels  
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Virgil’s Root Beer  
 

Over the years, Virgil’s Root Beer has won numerous awards and has a reputation among many as one of the best root beers made 
anywhere. Virgil’s Root Beer won the “Outstanding Beverage” award at the NASFT’s International Fancy Food and Confection Show in 1997.  
 

Virgil’s is a premium root beer. We use all-natural ingredients, including filtered water, unbleached cane sugar, anise from Spain, 
licorice from France, bourbon vanilla from Madagascar, cinnamon from Sri Lanka, clove from Indonesia, wintergreen from China, sweet birch 
and molasses from the southern United States, nutmeg from Indonesia, pimento berry oil from Jamaica, balsam oil from Peru and cassia oil from 
China.  
 

We collect these ingredients worldwide and gather them together at the brewing and bottling facilities we use in the United States and 
Germany. We combine and brew these ingredients under strict specifications and finally heat-pasteurize Virgil’s Root Beer, to ensure quality.  
 

We sell Virgil’s Root Beer in four packaging styles: 12-ounce bottles in a four-pack, a special swing-lid style pint bottle and a 5-liter 
self-tapping party keg.  
 
 

Virgil’s Cream Soda  
 

We launched Virgil’s Cream Soda in January 2004. We make this product with the same attention to quality that makes Virgil’s Root 
Beer so popular. Virgil’s Cream Soda is a gourmet cream soda. We brew Virgil’s Cream Soda the same way we brew Virgil’s Root Beer. We 
use all-natural ingredients, including filtered water, unbleached cane sugar and bourbon vanilla from Madagascar.  
 

Virgil’s Cream Soda is currently sold in 12-ounce long neck bottles in colorful 4-packs and a 5-liter party keg version.  
 

In 2006, we expanded our product line to include Virgil’s Black Cherry Cream Soda in a 12-ounce bottle.  In 2009, we introduced 
Virgil’s Orange Cream Soda.  
 

Virgil’s Real Cola  
 

We launched Virgil’s Real Cola in February 2008. Virgil’s Real Cola is a classic cola recipe made naturally using the finest ingredients 
and unbleached cane sugar. Virgil’s Real Cola is made naturally without caffeine or preservatives.  
 

Virgil’s Real Cola is sold in 12-ounce bottles.  
 

In 2007, we further expanded our Virgil’s product line to include diet Root Beer, diet Black Cherry Cream Soda and diet Cream Soda. 
Our diet sodas are sweetened with Stevia and Xylitol.    In April 2008, we introduced diet Real Cola.  
 
China Cola  
 

We consider China Cola to be the most natural cola in the world. We restored China Cola to its original delicious blend of raw cane 
sugar, imported Chinese herbs, essential oils and natural spices. China Cola contains no caffeine. It comes in two varieties, Original China Cola 
and Cherry China Cola.   Original China Cola is made from filtered water, raw cane sugar Szechwan poeny root, cassia bark, Malaysian vanilla, 
oils of lemon and oil of orange, nutmeg, clove, licorice, cardamom, caramel color, citric acid and phosphoric acid.   Cherry China Cola is made 
from the same ingredients as Original China Cola, with the addition of natural cherry flavor.   China Cola and Cherry China Cola sell as singles, 
in four-packs and in 24-bottle cases.  
 
R(x)eed’s Nausea Relief  
 

We recently launched our Nausea Relief product for the Drug Store Channel. This product is based on our Ginger Brews with added B 
vitamins. Both ginger and B vitamins have been studied for their effectiveness in combating nausea. Our products have been designed with the 
FDA in mind and have the proper disclosure.  
 
Sonoma Sparkler  
 

Our Sonoma Sparkler products are sparkling juices in champagne-style bottles designed to be celebratory drinks for holidays and 
special occasions.  We sell Natural Pear, Organic Apple, Peach and Lemon beverages.  
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Reed’s Ginger Candies  
 

Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy  
 

Reed’s Crystallized Ginger was the first crystallized ginger on the market in the United States to be sweetened with raw cane instead of 
refined white sugar. Reed’s Crystallized Ginger is custom-made for us in Fiji.  
 

The production process is an ancient one that has not changed much over time. After harvesting baby ginger (the most tender kind), the 
root is diced and then steeped for several days in large vats filled with simmering raw cane syrup. The ginger is then removed and allowed to 
crystallize into soft, delicious nuggets. Many peoples of the Islands have long enjoyed these treats for health and pleasure.  
 

We sell this product in 3.5-ounce bags, 10-ounce enameled, rolled steel gift tins, 16-ounce re-sealable Mylar bags, and in bulk. We also 
sell Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Baking Bits in bulk.  
 

Reed’s Ginger Chews  
 

For many years, residents of Southeast Asia from Indonesia to Thailand have enjoyed soft, gummy ginger candy chews. We sell Reed’s 
Ginger Chews individually wrapped in hard-packs of ten candies and as individually wrapped loose pieces in bulk. The candies come in two 
flavors, Reed’s Ginger Chews and Reed’s Peanut Butter Ginger Chews. Reed’s has taken them a step further, adding more ginger, using no 
gelatin (vegan), making the candies potentially more appealing to the vegan market, and making them slightly easier to unwrap than their Asian 
counterparts.    Reed’s Ginger Chews are made for us in Indonesia from sugar, maltose (malt sugar), ginger, and tapioca starch. In addition, the 
peanut butter version includes peanut butter.  
   
Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams  
 

We make Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams with 100% natural ingredients, using the finest hormone-free cream and milk. We combine fresh 
milk and cream with the finest natural ginger puree, Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy and natural raw cane sugar to make a delicious ginger ice 
cream with a super premium, ultra-creamy texture and Reed’s signature spicy-sweet bite. Our ice creams are made for us, according to our own 
recipes, at a dairy in upstate New York.   We sell Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams in pint containers and cases of eight pints.  
   
New Product Development  
   

We are always working on developments to continue expanding from our Reed’s Ginger Brews, Virgil’s product line, Reed’s Ginger 
Ice Cream, and Reed’s Ginger Candy product lines and packaging styles.   However, research and development expenses in the last two years 
have been nominal.  We intend to expend some, but not a significant amount, of funds on research and development for new products and 
packaging. We intend to introduce new products and packaging as we deem appropriate from time to time for our business plan.  
 

Among the advantages of our  self-operated Brewery are the flexibility to try innovative packaging and the capability to experiment 
with new product flavors at less cost to our operations or capital. Currently, we sell a half-liter Virgil’s Root Beer swing-lid bottle that is made 
for us in Europe. We intend to produce several of our beverages in one-liter swing-lid bottles in the United States. Our Reed’s Original Ginger 
Brew, Extra Ginger Brew and Spiced Apple Brew are available in a 750 ml champagne bottle and other products are planned to be available with 
this packaging in the near future.  
 

During 2009, we started developing and producing private-label products in our Los Angeles Brewery.  Based on strong demand and 
our ability to be nimble and innovative, we believe that this segment of our business will grow rapidly.  
   
Manufacture of Our Products  
   

We produce our carbonated beverages at two facilities:  
 

   

  

  •  a facility in Los Angeles, California, known as The Brewery, at which we produce certain soda products for the western half of the 
United States, and  

  •  a packing, or co-pack, facility in Pennsylvania which supplies us with product we do not produce at The Brewery. The term of our 
agreement with the co-packer terminates November 1, 2011 and grants Reed’s the option to extend the contract for an additional 
one year period.  The co-packer assembles our products and charges us a fee, generally by the case, for the products they produce.  
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Our west coast Brewery facility is running at about 60% of capacity.  As we are able to make the Brewery become more fully utilized, 

we believe that we will experience improvements in gross margins due to freight and production savings.  
 

We follow a “fill as needed” manufacturing model to the best of our ability and we have no significant backlog of orders.    
Substantially all of the raw materials used in the preparation, bottling and packaging of our products are purchased by us or by our contract 
packers in accordance with our specifications. Reed’s Crystallized Ginger is made to our specifications in Fiji. Reed’s Ginger Candy Chews are 
made and packed to our specifications in Indonesia.  
 

Generally, we obtain the ingredients used in our products from domestic suppliers and each ingredient has several reliable suppliers. We 
have no major supply contracts with any of our suppliers. As a general policy, we pick ingredients in the development of our products that have 
multiple suppliers and are common ingredients. This provides a level of protection against a major supply constriction or calamity.  
 

We believe that as we continue to grow, we will be able to keep up with increased production demands. We believe that the Brewery 
has ample capacity to handle increased West Coast business. To the extent that any significant increase in business requires us to supplement or 
substitute our current co-packers, we believe that there are readily available alternatives, so that there would not be a significant delay or 
interruption in fulfilling orders and delivery of our products. In addition, we do not believe that growth will result in any significant difficulty or 
delay in obtaining raw materials, ingredients or finished product that is repackaged at the Brewery.  
 

             In July 2007, the FDA issued a statement that warned that fresh ginger from a specific importer was contaminated with a banned 
pesticide. We import ginger from China, but from a different importer than was named by the FDA. Our importer requires a pre-shipment lab 
test in order to perform chemical analysis. In addition to the pre-shipment chemical analysis, our importer has indicated to us that they verify that 
every container of ginger shipped has passed the Chinese Photosanitary inspection. Upon arrival at the Port of Long Beach, California, the 
ginger we import undergoes a food safety inspection by the USDA’s Agricultural Quality Inspection Unit. We believe the ginger we use is 
certified clean and good for human consumption.  
 
Our Primary Markets  
   

We target a niche in the soft drink industry known as New Age beverages. The soft drink industry generally characterizes New Age 
Beverages as being made more naturally, with upscale packaging, and often creating and utilizing new and unique flavors and flavor 
combinations.  
 

The New Age beverage segment is highly fragmented and includes such competitors as SoBe, Snapple, Arizona, Hansen’s and Jones 
Soda, among others. These brands have the advantage of being seen widely in the national market and being commonly well known for years 
through well-funded ad campaigns. Despite our products having a relatively high price for a premium beverage product, no mass media 
advertising and a relatively small presence in the mainstream market compared to many of our competitors, we believe that results to date 
demonstrate that Reed’s Ginger Brews and Virgil’s sodas are making market inroads among these significantly larger brands. See “Business - 
Competition.”  
 

We sell the majority of our products in natural food stores, mainstream supermarket chains and foodservice locations, primarily in the 
United States and, to a lesser degree, in Canada and Europe.  
 

Natural Food Stores  
 

Our primary and historical marketing source of our products has been natural food and gourmet stores. These stores include Whole 
Foods Market, Wild Oats and Trader Joe’s. We also sell in gourmet restaurants and delis.    We believe that our products have achieved a leading 
position in their niche in the fast-growing natural food industry.    With the advent of large natural food store chains and specialty merchants, the 
natural foods segment continues to grow each year in direct competition with the mainstream grocery trade.  
 

Mainstream Supermarkets and Retailers  
 

We sell our products to distributors who specialize in mainstream retailers, Natural Foods, and specialty stores; and directly to 
customers who have distribution centers that handle their own logistics .  
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Supermarkets, particularly supermarket chains and prominent local supermarkets, often impose slotting fees before permitting new 

product placements in their store or chain. These fees can be structured to be paid one-time only or in installments.  We pursue broad-based 
slotting in supermarket chains throughout the United States and, to a lesser degree, in Canada.  However, our direct sales team in Southern 
California and our national sales management team have been able to place our products without having to pay significant slotting fees. Slotting 
fees for new placements normally cost between $10 and $100 per store per new item placed.  
 

We also sell our products to large national retailers who place our products within their national distribution streams.  These retailers 
include Costco, Sam’s Club, Cost Plus World Markets and Trader Joe’s.  
 

Foodservice Placement  
 

We also market our beverage products to industrial cafeterias, bars and restaurants. We intend to place our beverage products in 
stadiums, sports arenas, concert halls, theatres, and other cultural centers as a long-term marketing plan.  
 
International Sales  
   

We have developed a limited market for our products in Canada, Europe and Asia. Sales outside of North America currently represent 
less than 1% of our total sales. Sales in Canada represent about 1.3% of our total sales. We are currently analyzing our international sales and 
marketing plan. Our analysis will explore options that may include outsourcing the international sales effort to third or related parties.  
 

We have a export company that orders our products on a regular basis for distribution in Japan. We are holding preliminary discussions 
with other trading companies and import/ export companies for the distribution of our products throughout Asia, Europe and South America. We 
believe that these areas are a natural fit for Reed’s ginger products, because of the importance of ginger in International, but especially the Asian 
diet and nutrition. Recently, we launched into the South African marketplace and Israel. Both of these markets are showing early signs of 
success.  
   
Distribution, Sales and Marketing  
   

We currently have a national network of mainstream, natural and specialty food distributors in the United States and Canada.  We sell 
directly to our distributors, who in turn sell to retail stores. We also use our own sales group and independent sales representatives to promote 
our products for our distributors and direct sales to our retail customers. In Southern California, we previously maintained our own direct 
distribution in addition to other local distributors and are in the process of discontinuing our direct distribution and redirecting our customers to 
local distributors.  
 

One of the main goals of our sales and marketing efforts is to increase sales and grow our brands. Our sales force consists of eight sales 
personnel (down from 33 at its peak in 2007) and several outside independent food brokerage companies.  The reduction of our sales force from 
2007 was instigated by the refocusing of our sales efforts from 2007’s global effort to market to all accounts up and down the street in 20 
markets nationally to 2008’s refocus of expanding the sales to our existing approximately 7,000 supermarket customers. In addition, we are 
working to increase the number of stores that carry our products. To support our sales effort to our existing supermarket customers we are 
actively enlisting regional mainstream beverage distributors to carry our products.  We are not abandoning our up and down the street sales 
marketing approach.  But in most markets, we are delaying that effort until after we have expanded our sales and presence in supermarkets.  
 

We have entered into agreements with our customers that commit us to fees if we terminate the agreements early or without cause.  The 
agreements call for our customer to have the right to distribute our products to a defined type of retailer within a defined geographic region.  As 
is customary in the beverage industry, if we should terminate the agreement or not automatically renew the agreement, we would be obligated to 
make certain payments to our customers.  We have no plans to terminate or not renew any agreement with any of our customers.  
 

Our sales force markets existing products, run promotions and introduces new items. Our in-house sales managers are responsible for 
the distributor relationships and larger chain accounts that require headquarter sales visits and managing our independent sales representatives.  
 

In addition, we distribute our products internationally through Reed’s Brokerage, Inc., a company controlled by Mark Reed, and Robert 
T. Reed, both brothers of Christopher J. Reed.  
 

We also offer our products and promotional merchandise directly to consumers via the Internet through our website, 
www.reedsgingerbrew.com.  
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Marketing to Distributors  
   

We market to distributors using a number of marketing strategies, including direct solicitation, telemarketing, trade advertising and 
trade show exhibition. These distributors include natural food, gourmet food, and mainstream distributors.  Our distributors sell our products 
directly to natural food, gourmet food and mainstream supermarkets for sale to the public. We maintain direct contact with the distributors 
through our in-house sales managers. In limited markets, where use of our direct sales managers is not cost-effective, we utilize food brokers and 
outside representatives.  
   
Marketing to Retail Stores  
   

The primary focus of our sales efforts is supermarket sales.  We have a small highly trained sales force that is directly contacting 
supermarket chains and setting up promotional calendars.  In addition, we market to retail stores by utilizing trade shows, trade advertising, 
telemarketing, direct mail pieces and direct contact with the store. Our sales managers and representatives visit these retail stores to sell directly 
in many regions. Sales to retail stores are coordinated through our distribution network and our regional warehouses.  
   
Competition  
   

The beverage industry is highly competitive. The principal areas of competition are pricing, packaging, development of new products 
and flavors and marketing campaigns. Our products compete with a wide range of drinks produced by a relatively large number of 
manufacturers. Most of these brands have enjoyed broad, well-established national recognition for years, through well-funded ad and other 
branding campaigns. In addition, the companies manufacturing these products generally have greater financial, marketing and distribution 
resources than we do.  
 

Important factors affecting our ability to compete successfully include taste and flavor of products, trade and consumer promotions, 
rapid and effective development of new, unique cutting edge products, attractive and different packaging, branded product advertising and 
pricing. We also compete for distributors who will concentrate on marketing our products over those of our competitors, provide stable and 
reliable distribution and secure adequate shelf space in retail outlets. Competitive pressures in the New Age beverage categories could cause our 
products to be unable to gain or to lose market share or we could experience price erosion.  
 

We believe that our innovative beverage recipes and packaging and use of premium ingredients and a trade secret brewing process 
provide us with a competitive advantage and that our commitments to the highest quality standards and brand innovation are keys to our success. 
 

Our premium New Age beverage products compete generally with all liquid refreshments and in particular with numerous other New 
Age beverages, including: SoBe, Snapple, Mistic, IBC, Stewart’s, Henry Weinhard, Arizona, Hansen’s, Knudsen & Sons and Jones Sodas.  
 

Our Virgil’s and China Cola lines compete with a number of other natural soda companies, including Stewarts, IBC, Henry Weinhard, 
Blue Sky, A&W and Natural Brews.  
 

We also generally compete with other traditional soft drink manufacturers and distributors, such as Coke, Pepsi and Cadbury 
Schweppes.  
 

Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy competes primarily with other candies and snacks in general and, in particular, with other ginger 
candies. The main competitors in ginger candies are Royal Pacific, Australia’s Buderim Ginger Company, and Frontier Herbs. We believe that 
Reed’s Crystallized Ginger Candy is the only one among these brands that is sulfur-free.  
 

Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams compete primarily with other premium and super-premium ice cream brands. Our principal competitors in 
the ice cream business are Haagen-Dazs, Ben & Jerry’s, Godiva, Starbucks, Dreyer’s and a number of smaller natural food ice cream companies. 
   
Proprietary Rights  
   

We own trademarks that we consider material to our business. Three of our material trademarks are registered trademarks in the U.S. 
Patent and Trademark Office: Virgil’s ®, Reed’s Original Ginger Brew All-Natural Jamaican Style Ginger Ale ® and Tianfu China Natural 
Soda ®. Registrations for trademarks in the United States will last indefinitely as long as we continue to use and police the trademarks and renew 
filings with the applicable governmental offices. We have not been challenged in our right to use any of our material trademarks in the United 
States. We intend to obtain international registration of certain trademarks in foreign jurisdictions.  
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In addition, we consider our finished product and concentrate formulae, which are not the subject of any patents, to be trade 

secrets.  Our brewing process is a trade secret.  This process can be used to brew flavors of beverages other than ginger ale and ginger beer, such 
as root beer, cream soda, cola, and other spice and fruit beverages.  We have not sought any patents on our brewing processes because we would 
be required to disclose our brewing process in patent applications.  
 

We generally use non-disclosure agreements with employees and distributors to protect our proprietary rights.  
   
Government Regulation  
   

The production, distribution and sale in the United States of many of our Company’s products are subject to the Federal Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanham Act, state consumer protection laws, federal, state and local workplace health 
and safety laws, various federal, state and local environmental protection laws and various other federal, state and local statutes and regulations 
applicable to the production, transportation, sale, safety, advertising, labeling and ingredients of such products. Outside the United States, the 
distribution and sale of our many products and related operations are also subject to numerous similar and other statutes and regulations.  

   
A California law requires that a specific warning appear on any product that contains a component listed by the State as having been 

found to cause cancer or birth defects. The law exposes all food and beverage producers to the possibility of having to provide warnings on their 
products. This is because the law recognizes no generally applicable quantitative thresholds below which a warning is not required. 
Consequently, even trace amounts of listed components can expose affected products to the prospect of warning labels.  Products containing 
listed substances that occur naturally or that are contributed to such products solely by a municipal water supply are generally exempt from the 
warning requirement. No Company beverages produced for sale in California are currently required to display warnings under this law. We are 
unable to predict whether a component found in a Company product might be added to the California list in the future, although the state has 
initiated a regulatory process in which caffeine will be evaluated for listing. Furthermore, we are also unable to predict when or whether the 
increasing sensitivity of detection methodology that may become applicable under this law and related regulations as they currently exist, or as 
they may be amended, might result in the detection of an infinitesimal quantity of a listed substance in a beverage of ours produced for sale in 
California.  

   
Bottlers of our beverage products presently offer and use nonrefillable, recyclable containers in the United States and various other 

markets around the world. Some of these bottlers also offer and use refillable containers, which are also recyclable. Legal requirements apply in 
various jurisdictions in the United States and overseas requiring that deposits or certain ecotaxes or fees be charged for the sale, marketing and 
use of certain nonrefillable beverage containers. The precise requirements imposed by these measures vary. Other types of beverage container-
related deposit, recycling, ecotax and/or product stewardship statutes and regulations also apply in various jurisdictions in the United States and 
overseas. We anticipate that additional, similar legal requirements may be proposed or enacted in the future at local, state and federal levels, both 
in the United States and elsewhere.  

   
All of our facilities and other operations in the United States are subject to various environmental protection statutes and regulations, 

including those relating to the use of water resources and the discharge of wastewater. Our policy is to comply with all such legal requirements. 
Compliance with these provisions has not had, and we do not expect such compliance to have, any material adverse effect on our capital 
expenditures, net income or competitive position.  
   
Environmental Matters  
   

Our primary cost environmental compliance activity is in recycling fees and redemption values.  We are required to collect redemption 
values from our customers and remit those redemption values to the state, based upon the number of bottles of certain products sold in that state.  
 
Employees  
   

We have 43 full-time employees, as follows: three in general management, eight in sales and marketing support, six in admin and 
operations and 26 in production. We employ additional people on a part-time basis as needed.  We have never participated in a collective 
bargaining agreement. We believe that the relationship with our employees is good.  
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Item 2.  Property  
   

We lease a facility of approximately 30,000 square feet, which serves as our principal executive offices, our West Coast Brewery and 
bottling plant and our Southern California warehouse facility.  The lease commenced in June 2009, and is for a term of fifteen years.  
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings  
   

From time to time, we are a party to claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Our management evaluates 
our exposure to these claims and proceedings individually and in the aggregate and provides for potential losses on such litigation if the amount 
of the loss is estimable and the loss is probable.  
 

From August 3, 2005 through April 7, 2006, we issued 333,156 shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public 
offering. These securities represented all of the shares issued in connection with the initial public offering prior to October 11, 2006. These 
shares issued in connection with the initial public offering may have been issued in violation of either Federal or State securities laws, or both, 
and may be subject to rescission.  
 

On August 12, 2006, we made a rescission offer to all holders of the outstanding shares that we believe are subject to rescission, 
pursuant to which we offered to repurchase these shares then outstanding from the holders. At the expiration of the rescission offer on September 
18, 2006, the rescission offer was accepted by 32 of the offerees to the extent of 28,420 shares for an aggregate of $119,000, including statutory 
interest. The shares that were tendered for rescission were agreed to be purchased by others and not from our funds.  
 

Federal securities laws do not provide that a rescission offer will terminate a purchaser’s right to rescind a sale of stock that was not 
registered as required or was not otherwise exempt from such registration requirements. With respect to the offerees who rejected the rescission 
offer, we may continue to be liable under federal and state securities laws for up to an amount equal to the value of all shares of common stock 
issued in connection with the initial public offering plus any statutory interest we may be required to pay. If it is determined that we offered 
securities without properly registering them under federal or state law, or securing an exemption from registration, regulators could impose 
monetary fines or other sanctions as provided under these laws. However, we believe the rescission offer provides us with additional meritorious 
defenses against any future claims relating to these shares.  
 

Except as set forth above, we believe that there are no material litigation matters at the current time. Although the results of such 
litigation matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such claims and proceedings will not have a 
material adverse impact on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.  
   
Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
   

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company was held on November 20, 2009.  At the meeting, the following individuals 
were elected as directors of the Company and received the number of votes set opposite their respective names:  
 

 
In addition, at the meeting, our stockholders ratified the appointment by the board of directors of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as the Company’s 
independent registered public accounting firm for the 2009 fiscal year; with 6,535,395 votes for, 63,906 votes against, and 1,071,941 
Abstention/non-broker votes.  
 
 

  

                
Votes 

Withheld,    
          Votes    Abstentions,    

Director    Votes For    Against    
Broker Non-

Votes    
Christopher J. Reed      6,542,104       -      1,129,140     
Judy Holloway Reed      6,504,155       -      1,167,089     
Mark Harris      6,500,566       -      1,170,678     
Dr. D.S.J. Muffoletto, N.D.      6,500,120       -      1,171,124     
Michael Fischman      6,500,566       -      1,170,678     

  
14 



 
PART II  

   
Item 5.  Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  
 

Our common stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market trading under the symbol “REED”.  The following is a 
summary of the high and low bid prices of our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market for the periods presented:    
   

 

 
As of December 31, 2009, there were approximately 228 stockholders of record of the common stock (not including the number of 

persons or entities holding stock in nominee or street name through various brokerage firms) and approximately 9,606,127 outstanding shares of 
common stock.  
 
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities  
 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, we sold the following equity securities that were unregistered under the Securities 
Act:  
 

During 2009, the Company sold 50,000 shares of common stock for $3.00 per share or $150,000. The shares were issued pursuant to an 
exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.  
 

During 2009, the Company issued 197,647 shares of common stock in exchange for consulting and legal services.  The value of the 
stock was based on the closing price of the stock on the issuance or agreed upon date.  The total value of shares issued for services was 
$260,000.  The shares were issued pursuant to exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.  
 

During 2009, we granted options to purchase 120,000 shares of common stock under our employee stock option plan at exercise prices 
of $0.75 to $1.30 pursuant to exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.  
 

On December 22, 2009, we granted 38,750 shares of common stock to our employees as bonuses.  The closing price of our common 
stock on that date was $1.32 per share.  The shares were issued pursuant to exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.  
 
Dividend Policy  
 

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our 
business, and, therefore, we do not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. Payments of future dividends, if any, 
will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including the terms of our credit facility and our 
financial condition, operating results, current and anticipated cash needs and plans for expansion.  

   
We are obligated to pay a non-cumulative 5% dividend from lawfully available assets to the holders of our Series A and Series B 

preferred stock in either cash or additional shares of common stock at our discretion. In 2009 and 2008, we paid the dividend in an aggregate of 
12,950 and 10,910 shares of common stock in each such year, respectively, and anticipate that we will be obligated to issue at least this many 
shares annually to the holders of the Series A preferred stock so long as such shares are issued and outstanding. Series B shareholders have not 
yet received annual dividends on the shares, as they were issued in December 2009.  
   

  

    Sales Price    
    High      Low    
Year Ending December 31, 2008              
First Quarter    $ 6.24     $ 1.50   
Second Quarter      3.94       1.89   
Third Quarter      3.30       1.45   
Fourth Quarter      2.31       1.00   

    Sales Price    
    High      Low    
Year Ending December 31, 2009              
First Quarter    $ 1.41     $ 0.75   
Second Quarter      2.42       1.06   
Third Quarter      2.50       1.80   
Fourth Quarter      2.10       1.23   
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  
 
2001 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Stock Option Plan  
 

We are authorized to issue options to purchase up to 500,000 shares of common stock under our 2001 Stock Option Plan, and we are 
authorized to issue options to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares of common stock under our 2007 Stock Option Plan.  On August 28, 2001, our 
board of directors adopted the 2001 Stock Option Plan and the plan was approved by our stockholders.  On October 8, 2007, our board of 
directors adopted the 2007 Stock Option Plan and the plan was approved by our stockholders on November 19, 2007.  
 

The plans permit the grant of options to our employees, directors and consultants.  The options may constitute either “incentive stock 
options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code or “non-qualified stock options.”  The primary difference between 
“incentive stock options” and “non-qualified stock options” is that once an option is exercised, the stock received under an “incentive stock 
option” has the potential of being taxed at the more favorable long-term capital gains rate, while stock received by exercising a “non-qualified 
stock option” is taxed according to the ordinary income tax rate schedule.  
 

The plans are currently administered by the board of directors.  The plan administrator has full and final authority to select the 
individuals to receive options and to grant such options as well as a wide degree of flexibility in determining the terms and conditions of options, 
including vesting provisions.  
   

The exercise price of an option granted under the plan cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value per share of common stock on 
the date of the grant of the option.  The exercise price of an incentive stock option granted to a person owning more than 10% of the total 
combined voting power of the common stock must be at least 110% of the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of the 
grant.  Options may not be granted under the plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the plan.  Incentive stock options granted to 
a person owning more than 10% of the combined voting power of the common stock cannot be exercisable for more than five years.  
   

When an option is exercised, the purchase price of the underlying stock will be paid in cash, except that the plan administrator may 
permit the exercise price to be paid in any combination of cash, shares of stock having a fair market value equal to the exercise price, or as 
otherwise determined by the plan administrator.  
   

If an optionee ceases to be an employee, director, or consultant with us, other than by reason of death, disability, or retirement, all 
vested options must be exercised within three months following such event.  However, if an optionee’s employment or consulting relationship 
with us terminates for cause, or if a director of ours is removed for cause, all unexercised options will terminate immediately.  If an optionee 
ceases to be an employee or director of, or a consultant to us, by reason of death, disability, or retirement, all vested options may be exercised 
within one year following such event or such shorter period as is otherwise provided in the related agreement.  
   

When a stock award expires or is terminated before it is exercised, the shares set aside for that award are returned to the pool of shares 
available for future awards.  
   

No option can be granted under the plan after ten years following the earlier of the date the plan was adopted by the board of directors 
or the date the plan was approved by our stockholders.  
 
2009 Consultant Stock Plan  
 

We are authorized to issue up to 100,000 shares of common stock to   employees, officers, directors, consultants, independent 
contractors, advisors, or other service providers to Reed’s under our 2009 Consultant Stock Plan.  The 2009 Consultant Stock Plan was adopted 
by our board of directors on February 13, 2009 and is administered by a committee of the board of directors.  The plan committee may from time 
to time, and subject to the provisions of the plan and such other terms and conditions as the plan committee may prescribe, grant to any eligible 
person one or more shares of common stock of  Reed’s ("Award Shares"). The grant of Award Shares or grant of the right to receive Award 
Shares shall be evidenced by either a written consulting agreement or a separate written agreement confirming such grant, executed by Reed’s 
and the recipient, stating the number of Award Shares granted and stating all terms and conditions of such grant.  During 2009, 60,416 shares of 
common stock were issued under the Plan.  
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The plan committee, in its sole discretion, may grant Award Shares in any of the following instances:  

   
(i)           as a "bonus" or "reward" for services previously rendered and compensated, in which case the recipient of the Award 

Shares shall not be required to pay any consideration for such Award Shares, and the value of such Award Shares shall be the fair market value 
of such Award Shares on the date of grant; or  
   

(ii)           as "compensation" for the previous performance or future performance of services or attainment of goals, in which 
case the recipient of the Award Shares shall not be required to pay any consideration for such Award Shares (other than the performance of his 
services).  
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information  
   

The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2009, with respect to options outstanding and available under the 2001 
Plan and 2007 Plan and certain other outstanding options:  
   

   
Item 6.  Selected Financial Data  
   

As a smaller reporting company, Reed’s is not required to provide disclosure pursuant to this Item 6.  
   
Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation  
   

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our 
financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking 
statements based on assumptions about our future business. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual 
Report.  
 
Overview  
   

We develop, manufacture, market, and sell natural non-alcoholic and “New Age” beverages, candies and ice creams. “New Age 
Beverages” is a category that includes natural soda, fruit juices and fruit drinks, ready-to-drink teas, sports drinks, and water. We currently 
manufacture, market and sell eight unique product lines:  
   

   

  

Plan Category  

  

Number of 
Securities to be 

Issued Upon 
Exercise of 

Outstanding 
Options, 

Warrants and 
Rights  

(a)    

Weighted-
Average  

Exercise Price of 
Outstanding 

Options, 
Warrants  
and Rights  

(b)    

Number of 
Securities 
Remaining 

Available for 
Future Issuance 
Under Equity 
Compensation 

Plans (excluding 
securities 

reflected in 
Column(a))(c)    

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders      600,000       $    1.74       1,310,000     

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders      2,091,690       $    4.70       
Not 

applicable     
                            
TOTAL      2,691,690       $    3.94       1,310,000     

  •  Reed’s Ginger Brews,  
      
  •  Virgil’s Root Beer, Cream Sodas and Real Cola, including diet sodas  
      
  •  China Colas,  
      
  •  Reed’s Ginger Chews,  
      
  •    Reed’s Ginger Ice Creams,   
      
  •  Sonoma Sparkle Sparkling Juices,  
      
  •  R(x)eed’s Natural Ginger Nausea Relief, and   
      
  •  Energy Elixir  
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In addition, we have a growing private label business that currently services two national chains. We sell most of our products in 

specialty gourmet and natural food stores, supermarket chains, retail stores and restaurants in the United States and, to a lesser degree, in Canada. 
We primarily sell our products through a network of natural, gourmet and independent distributors. We also maintain an organization of in-house 
sales managers who work mainly in the stores serviced by our natural, gourmet and mainstream distributors and with our distributors. We also 
work with regional, independent sales representatives who maintain store and distributor relationships in a specified territory.  
   
Trends, Risks, Challenges, Opportunities That May or Are Currently Affecting Our Business  
   

Our main challenges, trends, risks, and opportunities that could affect or are affecting our financial results include but are not limited to: 
   

Low Carbohydrate Diets and Obesity - Most of our products are not geared for the low carbohydrate market. Consumer trends have 
reflected higher demand for lower carbohydrate products. We monitor these trends closely and have developed low-carbohydrate versions of 
some of our beverages namely the Virgil’s line.  
   

Distribution Consolidation - There has been a recent trend towards continued consolidation of the beverage distribution industry 
through mergers and acquisitions. This consolidation results in a smaller number of distributors to market our products and potentially leaves us 
subject to the potential of our products either being dropped by these distributors or being marketed less aggressively by these distributors. As a 
result, we initiated our own direct distribution to mainstream supermarkets and natural and gourmet foods stores in Southern California and to 
large national retailers. However, we are in the process of discontinuing our direct distribution and redirecting our customers to local distributors. 
Consolidation among natural foods industry distributors has not had an adverse affect on our sales.  
 

Consumers Demanding More Natural Foods - The rapid growth of the natural foods industry has been fueled by the growing consumer 
awareness of the potential health problems due to the consumption of chemicals in the diet. Consumers are reading ingredient labels and 
choosing products based on them. We design products with these consumer concerns in mind. We feel this trend toward more natural products is 
one of the main trends behind our growth. Recently, this trend in drinks has not only shifted to products using natural ingredients, but also to 
products with added ingredients possessing a perceived positive function like vitamins, herbs and other nutrients. Our ginger-based products are 
designed with this consumer demand in mind.  

   
Supermarket and Natural Food Stores - More and more supermarkets, in order to compete with the growing natural food industry, have 

started including natural food sections. As a result of this trend, our products are now available in mainstream supermarkets throughout the 
United States in natural food sections. Supermarkets can require that we spend more advertising money and they sometimes require slotting fees. 
We continue to work to keep these fees reasonable. Slotting fees in the natural food section of the supermarket are generally not as expensive as 
in other areas of the store.  

   
Beverage Packaging Changes - Beverage packaging has continued to innovate, particularly for premium products. There is an increase 

in the sophistication with respect to beverage packaging design. While we feel that our current core brands still compete on the level of 
packaging, we continue to experiment with new and novel packaging designs such as the 5-liter party keg and 750 ml. champagne style bottles. 
We have further plans for other innovative packaging designs.  

   
Packaging or Raw Material Price Increases - An increase in packaging or raw materials has caused our margins to suffer and has 

negatively impacted our cash flow and profitability. We continue to search for packaging and production alternatives to reduce our cost of goods. 
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Cash Flow Requirements - Our growth will depend on the availability of additional capital infusions. We have a financial history of 

losses and are dependent on non-banking sources of capital, which tend to be more expensive and charge higher interest rates. Any increase in 
costs of goods will further increase losses and will further tighten cash reserves.  

   
Interest Rates - We use lines of credit as a source of capital and are negatively impacted as interest rates rise.    

 
Critical Accounting Policies  
   

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or 
GAAP. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in our financial statements including various 
allowances and reserves for accounts receivable and inventories, the estimated lives of long-lived assets and trademarks and trademark licenses, 
as well as claims and contingencies arising out of litigation or other transactions that occur in the normal course of business. The following 
summarize our most significant accounting and reporting policies and practices:  
   

Revenue Recognition .  Revenue is recognized on the sale of a product when the product is shipped, which is when the risk of loss 
transfers to our customers, and collection of the receivable is reasonably assured.  A product is not shipped without an order from the customer 
and credit acceptance procedures performed.  The allowance for returns is regularly reviewed and adjusted by management based on historical 
trends of returned items. Amounts paid by customers for shipping and handling costs are included in sales.   
 

Trademark License and Trademarks .  We own trademarks that we consider material to our business. Three of our material trademarks 
are registered trademarks in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office: Virgil’s ®, Reed’s Original Ginger Brew All-Natural Jamaican Style Ginger 
Ale ® and Tianfu China Natural Soda ®. Registrations for trademarks in the United States will last indefinitely as long as we continue to use and 
police the trademarks and renew filings with the applicable governmental offices. We have not been challenged in our right to use any of our 
material trademarks in the United States. We intend to obtain international registration of certain trademarks in foreign jurisdictions.  
    

We account for these items in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Guidance and thus we do not amortize indefinite-lived 
trademark licenses and trademarks.  
 

We evaluate our non-amortizing trademark license and trademarks quarterly for impairment. We measure impairment by the amount 
that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the trademark license and trademarks. The fair value is calculated by reviewing net 
sales of the various beverages and applying industry multiples. Based on our quarterly impairment analysis the estimated fair values of 
trademark license and trademarks exceeded the carrying value and no impairments were identified during the years ended December 31, 2009 or 
December 31, 2008.  
   

Long-Lived Assets . Our management regularly reviews property, equipment and other long-lived assets, including identifiable 
amortizing intangibles, for possible impairment. This review occurs quarterly or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If there is indication of impairment of property and equipment or amortizable intangible 
assets, then management prepares an estimate of future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to result from the use of 
the asset and its eventual disposition. If these cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized to write 
down the asset to its estimated fair value. The fair value is estimated at the present value of the future cash flows discounted at a rate 
commensurate with management’s estimates of the business risks. Quarterly, or earlier, if there is indication of impairment of identified 
intangible assets not subject to amortization, management compares the estimated fair value with the carrying amount of the asset. An 
impairment loss is recognized to write down the intangible asset to its fair value if it is less than the carrying amount. Preparation of estimated 
expected future cash flows is inherently subjective and is based on management’s best estimate of assumptions concerning expected future 
conditions. No impairments were identified during the years ended December 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008.    
 

Management believes that the accounting estimate related to impairment of our long lived assets, including our trademark license and 
trademarks, is a “critical accounting estimate” because: (1) it is highly susceptible to change from period to period because it requires 
management to estimate fair value, which is based on assumptions about cash flows and discount rates; and (2) the impact that recognizing an 
impairment would have on the assets reported on our balance sheet, as well as net income, could be material. Management’s assumptions about 
cash flows and discount rates require significant judgment because actual revenues and expenses have fluctuated in the past and we expect they 
will continue to do so.  
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In estimating future revenues, we use internal budgets. Internal budgets are developed based on recent revenue data for existing product 

lines and planned timing of future introductions of new products and their impact on our future cash flows.  
   

Accounts Receivable . We evaluate the collectability of our trade accounts receivable based on a number of factors. In circumstances 
where we become aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, a specific reserve for bad debts is estimated and 
recorded which reduces the recognized receivable to the estimated amount our management believes will ultimately be collected. In addition to 
specific customer identification of potential bad debts, bad debt charges are recorded based on our historical losses and an overall assessment of 
past due trade accounts receivable outstanding.   
 

Inventories .  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost to purchase and/or manufacture the inventory or the current estimated market 
value of the inventory. We regularly review our inventory quantities on hand and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based 
primarily on our estimated forecast of product demand and/or our ability to sell the product(s) concerned and production requirements. Demand 
for our products can fluctuate significantly. Factors that could affect demand for our products include unanticipated changes in consumer 
preferences, general market conditions or other factors, which may result in cancellations of advance orders or a reduction in the rate of reorders 
placed by customers. Additionally, our management’s estimates of future product demand may be inaccurate, which could result in an 
understated or overstated provision required for excess and obsolete inventory.  
   

Stock-Based Compensation. We periodically issue stock options and warrants to employees and non-employees in non-capital 
raising transactions for services and for financing costs. We account for stock option and warrant grants issued and vesting to employees 
based on the authoritative guidance provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. We account for stock option and warrant grants 
issued and vesting to non-employees in accordance with the authoritative guidance provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
whereas the value of the stock compensation is based upon the measurement date as determined at either  
a) the date at which a performance commitment is reached, or b) at the date at which the necessary performance to earn the equity 
instruments is complete.  
 

We estimate volatility and forfeitures based upon historical data. As permitted by the authoritative guidance issued by the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board, we use the “simplified” method to determine the expected life of an option grant due to the Company’s lack of 
sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis, which is a result of the relative high turnover rates experienced in the past for 
positions granted options. All of these variables have an effect on the estimated fair value of our share-based awards.  
   
Results of Operations  
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year ended December 31, 2008  
 
Sales of $15,178,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009 represented a decrease of 1% or $99,000, as compared to the 2008 sales of 
$15,277,000.  The decrease in revenues is primarily due to a promotional program in 2008, covering our 5-liter “party kegs” of root beer, which 
did not recur in 2009; resulting in approximately $900,000 lower sales of that product.  The decrease was mitigated by an increase in the 
volume and revenues from our primary 12-ounce products delivered in 2009, which was approximately 2% higher than the same 2008 
period.   A new brand contributed $470,000 in revenues during 2009 that were not in 2008 revenues.  
 
Cost of Goods Sold  
 
Cost of goods sold consists primarily of the costs of our ingredients, packaging, production and freight.  Cost of goods sold decreased by 3% to 
$11,566,000 during the year ended December 31, 2009 from $11,891,000 in 2008.  The 3% decrease in cost of goods sold is consistent with the 
1% decrease in sales during the same periods.  
 
Gross Profit  
 
Our gross profit increased to $3,612,000 in the year ended December 31, 2009, from $3,386,000 in 2008, an increase of $226,000 or 7%.  The 
gross profit as a percentage of sales improved to 24%, as compared to 22% in 2008, mostly due to lower freight and warehouse costs.  
 
Selling and marketing expenses  
 
Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of direct charges for staff compensation costs, advertising, sales promotion, marketing and 
trade shows. Selling and marketing costs decreased to $2,412,000 in the year ended December 31, 2009 from $3,817,000 in 2008, a net 
decrease of $1,405,000 or 37%.  The decrease is primarily due to decreases in compensation and travel costs of $1,217,000, decreases in 
advertising promotion and trade shows of $416,000, and decreases in facilities-related costs of $17,000; partially offset by an increase in stock 
option expense of $245,000.  
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Our strategic direction in sales is to focus on our product placements in our estimated 10,500 supermarkets nationwide. This strategy replaces 
our strategy in 2008 that focused on both the supermarkets and a direct store delivery (DSD) effort.  As a result, our sales organization has been 
reduced by 16 compared to the level we had in 2008. We have found that our most effective sales efforts are to grocery stores.  We feel that the 
trend in grocery stores to offer their customers natural products can be served with our products.  Our sales personnel are leveraging our success 
at natural food grocery stores to establish new relationships with mainstream grocery stores.  
 
General and Administrative Expenses  
   
General and administrative expense consists primarily of the cost of executive, administrative, and finance personnel, as well as professional 
fees. General and administrative expenses decreased to $2,632,000 during the year ended December 31, 2009 from $3,140,000 in the same 
period of 2008, a net decrease of $508,000 or 16%. The decrease in 2009 is primarily due to a decrease in professional fees expense of 
$331,000 and a decrease in compensation costs of $296,000; partially offset by an increase in facilities-related costs of $85,000, and an increase 
in stock option expense of $34,000. In the 2008 period, we had a one-time non cash expense of approximately $300,000 for professional 
consulting services, for which we issued stock.  
   
We believe that our existing executive and administrative staffing levels are sufficient to allow for moderate growth without the need to add 
personnel and related costs for the foreseeable future.  
   
Impairment Loss  
   
In connection with the sale of our buildings and brewery equipment in June 2009, and the concurrent lease-back of the same property and 
equipment, we recognized an impairment loss on the assets of $641,000.  The loss recognized from impairment is a result of the lower net 
carrying values of the assets at the time of sale in relation to the market value of the property.  
   
Loss from Operations  
   
Our loss from operations decreased to $2,073,000 in the year ended December 31, 2009 from $3,571,000 in the same period of 2008.  The 
reduced loss in 2009 is substantially a result of the lower operating costs in 2009.  
 
Interest Expense  
 
Interest expense increased to $486,000 in the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to interest expense of $244,000 in 2008.  The increase 
is due to the increase in long-term debt, as a result of our sale-leaseback; and increased borrowing under a line of credit agreement, secured 
primarily by our inventory and accounts receivable.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
As of December 31, 2009, we had shareholders equity of $4,377,000 and we had working capital of $2,037,000, compared to shareholders 
equity of $3,961,000 and working capital of $636,000 at December 31, 2008. Cash and cash equivalents were $1,306,000 as of December 31, 
2009, as compared to $229,000 at December 31, 2008. This increase in our working capital was primarily attributable to the proceeds from the 
financing transaction relating to our buildings and equipment, net of the repayment of long-term debt, and to the sales of our equity securities in 
the aggregate amount of $1,542,000, net of costs.  In addition to our cash position on December 31, 2009, we had availability under our line of 
credit of approximately $221,000.  
 
Our increase in cash and cash equivalents to $1,306,000 at December 31, 2009 compared to $229,000 at December 31, 2008 was the result of 
$1,317,000 used in operating activities; $356,000 used in investing activities; and $2,750,000 provided by financing activities.  
 
We believe that the Company currently has the necessary working capital to support existing operations through 2010.  Our primary capital 
source will be cash flow from operations, as we reach profitability in 2010.  During October 2009, we raised net proceeds of approximately 
$563,000 from an offering of our shares.  In November 2009, we entered into an agreement to replace our revolving line of credit, which more 
fully values our assets for collateral and enable increased borrowing for working capital purposes.  In December 2009, we sold our Series B 
Preferred Stock for $829,000, net of offering costs.  We believe that the Company can become leaner if our sales goals do not materialize, and 
that our costs can be managed to produce profitable operations.  Historically, we have financed our operations primarily through private sales of 
common stock, preferred stock, convertible debt, a line of credit from a financial institution, and cash generated from operations.  
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Net cash used in operations during 2009 was $1,317,000 compared with $2,468,000 used in operations during the same period in 2008.   Cash 
used in operations during 2009 was primarily due to the net loss in the period and to a decrease in accounts payable.  
 
Net cash used in investing activities of $356,000 during 2009 compared with $191,000 during 2008 is primarily the result of equipment 
purchases.  
 
Net cash provided by financing activities of $2,750,000 during 2009 was primarily due to proceeds from the sale of our buildings and 
equipment of $3,056,000 and the sale of common and preferred stock of $1,604,000, offset by principal payments on long-term debt of 
$1,763,000. During the same period in 2008, we derived net proceeds from the refinancing of our land and buildings of $1,770,000 and net 
borrowings on our revolving line of credit of $1,354,000; offset by principal payments on debt of $800,000. Our line of credit lender is a 
privately held, Senior Secured Commercial Lender.  
 
On June 15, 2009, we closed escrow on the sale of our two buildings and its brewery equipment and concurrently entered into a long-term lease 
agreement for the same property and equipment. In connection with the lease we have the option to repurchase the buildings and brewery 
equipment from 12 months after the commencement date to the end of the lease term at the greater of the fair market value or an agreed upon 
amount. Since the lease contains a buyback provision and other related terms, we determined that we had continuing involvement that did not 
warrant the recognition of a sale; therefore, the transaction has been accounted for as a long-term financing.  The proceeds from the sale, net of 
transaction costs, have been recorded as a financing obligation in the amount of $3,056,000. Monthly payments under the financing agreement 
are recorded as interest expense and a reduction in the financing obligation at an implicit rate of 9.9%. The financing obligation is personally 
guaranteed by the principal shareholder and chief executive officer.  
 
On October 8, 2009, we sold an aggregate of 364,189 units (“Units”) consisting of one share of our common stock (“Share”) and warrants to 
purchase shares of our common stock (“Warrants”)at a price of $1.80 per Unit pursuant to a public shelf registration on Form S-3. The Warrants 
consist of (i) Series A Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of common stock equal to 40% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an 
initial exercise price of $2.25 per share and are exercisable for a period of five years commencing 183 days from the date of issuance, (ii) Series 
B Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of common stock equal to 50% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an exercise price equal 
to $1.80 and are exercisable for 60 trading days commencing immediately, and (iii) Series C Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of 
common stock equal to 20% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an exercise price of $2.25 and are exercisable for five years commencing 183 
days from the date of issuance.  The Series B Warrants and Series C Warrants were only issued to purchasers who purchased Units for an 
aggregate purchase price of at least $125,000.   The Company paid an 8% placement agent fee. The net proceeds to the Company from the shelf 
take-down, after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses, were approximately $563,000. At the closing, the Company 
issued 364,189 shares of common stock, Series A Warrants to purchase 145,676 shares of common stock, Series B Warrants to purchase 69,445 
shares of common stock, and Series C Warrants to purchase 27,778 shares of common stock.  
 
In November 2009, we entered a revolver line commitment with GemCap Lending I, LLC to replace our existing line of credit.  The senior 
revolver facility is for $3,000,000, based on 80% of eligible accounts receivable and 50% of eligible inventory, with a maximum inventory 
advance of $1,500,000.  The line of credit bears interest of 18% per annum.  
 
During December 2009, we sold 120,820 shares of Series B Preferred stock, for net proceeds of $829,000, after offering costs.  
 
Our operating losses have negatively impacted our liquidity and we are continuing to work on decreasing operating losses, while focusing on 
increasing net sales. We believe that our current cash position and lines of credit will be sufficient to enable us to meet our cash needs 
throughout 2010. We believe that if the need arises we can raise money through the equity markets.  
 
We may not generate sufficient revenues from product sales in the future to achieve profitable operations. If we are not able to achieve 
profitable operations at some point in the future, we eventually may have insufficient working capital to maintain our operations as we presently 
intend to conduct them or to fund our expansion and marketing and product development plans. In addition, our losses may increase in the 
future as we expand our manufacturing capabilities and fund our marketing plans and product development. These losses, among other things, 
have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our working capital, total assets and stockholders’ equity. If we are unable to achieve 
profitability, the market value of our common stock will decline and there would be a material adverse effect on our financial condition.  
 
If we continue to suffer losses from operations, our working capital may be insufficient to support our ability to expand our business operations 
as rapidly as we would deem necessary at any time, unless we are able to obtain additional financing. There can be no assurance that we will be 
able to obtain such financing on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may 
not be able to pursue our business objectives and would be required to reduce our level of operations, including reducing infrastructure, 
promotions, personnel and other operating expenses. These events could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. There can be no assurance  that additional financing will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not 
available or if they are not available on acceptable terms, our ability to fund the growth of our operations, take advantage of opportunities, 
develop products or services or otherwise respond to competitive pressures, could be significantly limited.  
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
 
In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-05, which amends ASC 820 to provide further guidance on measuring the fair value of a 
liability. It primarily does three things: 1) sets forth the types of valuation techniques to be used to value a liability when a quoted price in 
an active market for the identical liability is not available, 2) clarifies that when estimating the fair value of a liability, a reporting entity is 
not required to include a separate input or adjustment to other inputs relating to the existence of a restriction that prevents the transfer of the 
liability, and 3) clarifies that both a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability at the measurement date and the quoted price 
for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market, when no adjustments to the quoted price of the asset are required, are 
Level 1 fair value measurements. This standard became effective for the Company beginning in the fourth quarter of 2009. The Company’s 
adoption of ASU 2009-05 did not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  
 
In January 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 2010-6, “Improving Disclosures About Fair Value   Measurements” (“ASU 2010-6”), which 
requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair-value measurements including significant transfers 
into and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair-value measurements and information on purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross 
basis in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair-value measurements. ASU 2010-6 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2009, except for Level 3 reconciliation disclosures, which are effective for annual periods beginning after December 
15,2010. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this update on its financial position, results of operations and liquidity.  
 
In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition that will become effective for the Company beginning July 1, 
2010, with earlier adoption permitted. Under the new guidance on arrangements that include software elements, tangible products that have 
software components that are essential to the functionality of the tangible product will no longer be within the scope of the software revenue 
recognition guidance, and software-enabled products will now be subject to other relevant revenue recognition guidance. We believe adoption of 
this new guidance will not have a material impact on our financial statements.  
 
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the AICPA, and the SEC did not 
or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future financial statements.  
 
Inflation  
   
Although management expects that our operations will be influenced by general economic conditions, we do not believe that inflation has a 
material effect on our results of operations.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Reed’s, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and 
the related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position of Reed’s, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  

   
   
   

/s/ WEINBERG & COMPANY, P.A.  
   

Weinberg & Company, P.A.  
Los Angeles, California  
March 17, 2010  
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REED’S, INC.  

BALANCE SHEETS  
   

 
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
 

  

    
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
ASSETS              
Current assets:              

Cash    $ 1,306,000     $ 229,000   
Inventory      2,884,000       2,837,000   
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns and discounts of $90,000 

and $97,000, respectively      866,000       897,000   
Prepaid and other current assets      99,000       68,000   

Total Current Assets      5,155,000       4,031,000   
                  

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $727,000 and $1,150,000, respectively      3,655,000       4,133,000   
Brand names      1,029,000       800,000   
Deferred offering costs      -      62,000   
Deferred financing fees, net of amortization of $10,000 and $40,000, respectively      131,000       77,000   

Total assets    $ 9,970,000     $ 9,103,000   

                  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY                  
Current Liabilities:                  

Accounts payable    $ 954,000     $ 1,592,000   
Accrued expenses      127,000       96,000   
Recycling fees payable      456,000       337,000   
Line of credit      1,415,000       1,354,000   
Current portion of long term debt      -      16,000   
Current portion of long term financing obligation      40,000       -  
Current portion capital leases      24,000       -  
Current portion note payable      102,000       -  

Total current liabilities      3,118,000       3,395,000   
                  

Long term financing obligation, less current portion, net of discount of $726,000      2,274,000       -  
Capital leases payable, less current portion      130,000       -  
Note payable, less current portion      71,000       -  
Long term debt, less current portion      -      1,747,000   

Total Liabilities      5,593,000       5,142,000   
                  

Commitments and contingencies  
                   

Stockholders’  equity:                  
Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $10 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 46,621 and 47,121 shares 

issued and outstanding, respectively      466,000       471,000   
Series B Convertible Preferred stock, $10 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 120,820 shares issued 

and outstanding at December 31, 2009      1,208,000       -  
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 19,500,000 shares authorized, 9,606,127  and 8,979,341 shares issued 

and outstanding, respectively      1,000       1,000   
Additional paid in capital      20,203,000       18,408,000   
Accumulated deficit      (17,501,000 )     (14,919,000 ) 

Total stockholders’  equity      4,377,000       3,961,000   
Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 9,970,000     $ 9,103,000   
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REED’S, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008  

   

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  

 

  

    2009      2008    
Sales    $ 15,178,000     $ 15,277,000   
Cost of sales      11,566,000       11,891,000   
                  

Gross profit      3,612,000       3,386,000   
                  
Operating expenses:                  
Selling and marketing expense      2,412,000       3,817,000   
General and administrative expense      2,632,000       3,140,000   
Impairment of assets      641,000       -  

Total operating expenses      5,685,000       6,957,000   
                  

Loss from operations      (2,073,000 )     (3,571,000 ) 
                  
Interest income      -      1,000   
Interest expense      (486,000 )     (244,000 ) 
                  

Net loss      (2,559,000 )     (3,814,000 ) 
                  
Preferred stock dividend      (23,000 )     (24,000 ) 
                  

Net loss attributable to common stockholders    $ (2,582,000 )   $ (3,838,000 ) 

                  
Loss per share available to common stockholders - basic and diluted    $ (0.28 )   $ (0.43 ) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic and diluted      9,238,002       8,884,338   
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REED’S, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008  

 

   
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
 

  

          Series A      Series B      Additional           Total   
    Common Stock      Preferred Stock      Preferred Stock      Paid-In      Accumulated     Stockholders'   
    Shares      Amount     Shares      Amount     Shares      Amount      Capital      Deficit      Equity    
Balance, December 31, 

2007      8,751,721     $ 1,000       48,121     $ 481,000       -    $ -    $ 17,838,000     $ (11,081,000 )   $ 7,239,000   
Fair Value of Common 

Stock issued 
for      bonus and 
services      212,710       -      -      -      -      -      392,000       -      392,000   

Common stock issued in 
connection with the June 
30, 2008 preferred stock 
dividend      10,910       -      -      -      -      -      24,000       (24,000 )     -  

Common stock issued 
upon conversion of 
preferred stock      4,000       -      (1,000 )     (10,000 )     -      -      10,000       -      -  

Fair value vesting of 
options issued to 
employees      -      -      -      -      -      -      144,000       -      144,000   

Net loss      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      (3,814,000 )     (3,814,000 ) 
Balance, December 31, 

2008      8,979,341       1,000       47,121       471,000       -      -      18,408,000       (14,919,000 )     3,961,000   
                                                                          
Fair Value of Common 

Stock issued for services 
and finance fees      197,647       -      -      -      -      -      260,000       -      260,000   

Warrants issued in 
connection with 
purchase option      -      -      -      -      -      -      752,000       -      752,000   

Common stock issued in 
connection with the June 
30, 2009 preferred stock 
dividend      12,950       -      -      -      -      -      23,000       (23,000 )     -  

Common stock issued 
upon conversion of 
preferred stock      2,000       -      (500 )     (5,000 )     -      -      5,000       -      -  

Private sale of common 
stock      50,000       -      -      -      -      -      150,000       -      150,000   

Sale of common stock in 
shelf offering      364,189       -      -      -      -      -      563,000       -      563,000   

Sale of Series B preferred 
stock, net of offering 
costs      -      -      -      -      120,820       1,208,000       (379,000 )     -      829,000   

Fair value vesting of 
options issued to 
employees      -      -      -      -      -      -      421,000       -      421,000   

Net loss      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      (2,559,000 )     (2,559,000 ) 
Balance, December 31, 

2009      9,606,127     $ 1,000       46,621     $ 466,000       120,820     $ 1,208,000     $ 20,203,000     $ (17,501,000 )   $ 4,377,000   
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REED’S, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008  

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  

 

  

    2009      2008    
Cash flows from operating activities:              

Net loss    $ (2,559,000 )   $ (3,814,000 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                  

Depreciation and amortization      469,000       355,000   
Loss on disposal of equipment      -      5,000   
Fair value of stock options issued to employees      421,000       144,000   
Fair value of common stock issued for services      236,000       392,000   
Impairment loss on assets      641,000       -  
Decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts      (7,000 )     -  
Changes in assets and liabilities:                  

Accounts receivable      38,000       264,000   
Inventory      (37,000 )     191,000   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      (31,000 )     25,000   
Accounts payable      (638,000 )     (113,000 ) 
Accrued expenses      31,000       38,000   
Recycling Fees Payable      119,000       45,000   

Net cash used in operating activities      (1,317,000 )     (2,468,000 ) 
Cash flows from investing activities:                  

Purchase of property and equipment      (356,000 )     (191,000 ) 
Net cash used in investing activities      (356,000 )     (191,000 ) 

Cash flows from financing activities:                  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in shelf offering      563,000       -  
Proceeds from private sale of common stock      150,000       -  
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock      891,000       -  
Payments for offering costs      -      (77,000 ) 
Payments for deferred financing fees      (117,000 )     (102,000 ) 
Proceeds received from long term financing obligation      3,056,000       -  
Principal repayments on long term financing obligation      (16,000 )     -  
Principal repayments on capital lease obligation      (9,000 )     -  
Principal repayments on long term debt      (1,763,000 )     -  
Payoff of former line of credit      (1,354,000 )     1,354,000   
Net borrowings on existing lines of credit      1,415,000           
Principal repayments on notes      (66,000 )     (800,000 ) 
Proceeds received from borrowings on long term debt      -      1,770,000   

Net cash provided by financing activities      2,750,000       2,145,000   
Net decrease in cash      1,077,000       (514,000 ) 

Cash at beginning of year      229,000       743,000   
Cash at end of year    $ 1,306,000     $ 229,000   

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:                  
Cash paid during the year for:                  

Interest    $ 457,000     $ 248,000   
Taxes    $ -    $ -  

Non Cash Investing and Financing Activities                  
Preferred Stock converted to common stock    $ 5,000     $ 10,000   
Fair value of warrants granted as valuation discounts    $ 752,000     $ -  
Common Stock issued in settlement of preferred stock  dividend    $ 23,000     $ 24,000   
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease obligation    $ 163,000     $ -  
Note payable issued for brand names    $ 229,000     $ -  

Note payable issued for inventory    $ 10,000     $ -  
Common stock issued for deferred financing fees    $ 24,000     $ -  
Deferred stock offering costs charged to paid in capital    $ 62,000     $ -  
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REED’S, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008  

   

   

   
Reed’s, Inc. (the “Company”) was organized under the laws of the state of Florida in January 1991. In 2001, the Company changed its 
name from Original Beverage Corporation to Reed’s, Inc. and changed its state of incorporation from Florida to Delaware. The 
Company is engaged primarily in the business of developing, manufacturing and marketing natural non-alcoholic beverages, as well as 
candies and ice creams. The Company currently offers 6 Reed’s Ginger Brew flavors (Original, Premium, Extra, Cherry Ginger, 
Raspberry Ginger and Spiced Apple Ginger), 7 Virgil’s Root Beer, Cream Sodas and Real Cola beverages (Root Beer, Cream Soda, 
Black Cherry Cream Soda, Real Cola, the same four in a Diet version, plus the Special Edition Bavarian Nutmeg Root Beer) , 2 China 
Cola beverages (regular and cherry), 3 kinds of  ginger candies (crystallized ginger, ginger chews and peanut butter ginger chews), and 
3 flavors of ginger ice cream (Original, Green Tea, and Chocolate).  In 2009, the Company also introduced its Reed’s Energy Elixir and 
acquired the Sonoma Sparkler brand product line. In 2010 we are introducing our R(x)eed's  nausea relief product.  
   
The Company sells its products primarily in upscale gourmet and natural food stores and supermarket chains in the United States and, 
to a lesser degree, in Europe and Canada.  

   

   
Cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted deposits and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less.  

   

   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.  

   

   
The Company evaluates the collectability of its trade accounts receivable based on a number of factors. In circumstances where the 
Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to the Company, a specific reserve for bad 
debts is estimated and recorded, which reduces the recognized receivable to the estimated amount the Company believes will ultimately 
be collected. In addition to specific customer identification of potential bad debts, bad debt charges are recorded based on the 
Company’s historical losses and an overall assessment of past due trade accounts receivable outstanding.  
   
The allowance for doubtful accounts and returns and discounts is established through a provision for returns and discounts charged 
against sales. Receivables are charged off against the allowance when payments are received or products returned. The allowance for 
doubtful accounts and returns and discounts as of December 31, 2009 was approximately $90,000 and December 31, 2008 was 
approximately $97,000.  

   

   
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using accelerated and straight-line methods over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows:  

    

   

  

(1)  Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

  A)  Nature of Operations  

  B)  Cash and Cash Equivalents  

  C)  Use of Estimates  

  D)  Accounts Receivable  

  E)  Property and Equipment and Related Depreciation  

Property and Equipment Type    Years of Depreciation    
Building      39 years   
Machinery and equipment      5-12 years   
Vehicles      5 years   
Office equipment      5-7 years   
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Management regularly reviews property, equipment and other long-lived assets for possible impairment. This review occurs quarterly, 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If there is 
indication of impairment, management prepares an estimate of future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected 
to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If these cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an 
impairment loss is recognized to write down the asset to its estimated fair value. Management believes that the accounting estimate 
related to impairment of its property and equipment is a “critical accounting estimate” because: (1) it is highly susceptible to change 
from period to period because it requires management to estimate fair value, which is based on assumptions about cash flows and 
discount rates; and (2) the impact that recognizing an impairment would have on the assets reported on our balance sheet, as well as net 
income, could be material. Management’s assumptions about cash flows and discount rates require significant judgment because actual 
revenues and expenses have fluctuated in the past and are expected to continue to do so.  

   

   
The Company records intangible assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Guidance.  Intangible assets consist mostly 
of brand names and are deemed to have indefinite lives are not subject to annual amortization. The Company reviews, at least quarterly, 
its investment in brand names and other intangible assets for impairment and if impairment is deemed to have occurred the impairment 
is charged to expense. Intangible assets which have finite lives are amortized on a straight line basis over their remaining useful life; 
they are also subject to annual impairment reviews.  
   
Management applies the impairment tests to determine if impairment has occurred. Accordingly, management compares the carrying 
value of the asset to its fair value in determining the amount of the impairment. No impairments were identified for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008.  
   
Management believes that the accounting estimate related to impairment of its intangible assets, is a “critical accounting estimate” 
because: (1) it is highly susceptible to change from period to period because it requires management to estimate fair value, which is 
based on assumptions about cash flows and discount rates; and (2) the impact that recognizing an impairment would have on the assets 
reported on our balance sheet, as well as net income, could be material. Management’s assumptions about cash flows and discount rates 
require significant judgment because actual revenues and expenses have fluctuated in the past and are expected to continue to do 
so.  Based on Management’s assessment, there are no indicators of impairment at December 31, 2009 or 2008.  

   

   
The Company’s cash balances on deposit with banks are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 at 
December 31, 2009. The Company may be exposed to risk for the amounts of funds held in bank accounts in excess of the insurance 
limit. In assessing the risk, the Company’s policy is to maintain cash balances with high quality financial institutions. The Company had 
cash balances in excess of the guarantee during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.  
   
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company had two customers who accounted for approximately 31% and 15% of its 
sales, respectively; and during the year ended December 31, 2008 the same customers accounted for 32% and 14% of its sales, 
respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of sales in either year. As of December 31, 2009 the Company had 
accounts receivable due from two customers who comprised $134,000 (14%) and $147,000 (15%), respectively, of its total accounts 
receivable; and at December 31, 2008 the Company had accounts receivable due from three customers who comprised $135,000 (14%), 
$183,000 (18%) and $102,000 (10%), respectively, of its total accounts receivable.  
   
The Company currently relies on a single contract packer for a majority of its production and bottling of beverage products. The 
Company has different packers available for their production of products. Although there are other packers and the Company has 
outfitted their own brewery and bottling plant, a change in packers may cause a delay in the production process, which could ultimately 
affect operating results.  

   

   
The Company uses various inputs in determining the fair value of its investments and measures these assets on a recurring basis. 
Financial assets recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized by the level of objectivity associated with the 
inputs used to measure their fair value. Authoritative guidance provided by the FASB defines the following levels directly related to the 
amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these financial assets:  

 
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
Level 2—Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.  
Level 3—Unobservable inputs based on the Company's assumptions.  

 
The Company has no fair value items required to be disclosed.  

   

  

  F)  Intangible Assets and Impairment Policy  

  G)  Concentrations  

  H)  Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
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The Company classifies shipping and handling costs, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, warehousing costs, freight costs, 
internal transfer costs and other costs associated with product distribution as costs of sales. Certain of these costs become a component 
of the inventory cost and are expensed to costs of sales when the product to which the cost has been allocated is sold.  Expenses not 
related to the production of our products are classified as operating expenses.  

 

   
Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year. A deferred income tax asset or 
liability is established for the expected future consequences of temporary differences in the financial reporting and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities. The Company considers future taxable income and ongoing, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, in assessing the 
value of its deferred tax assets. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized, the 
Company will reduce the value of these assets to their expected realizable value, thereby decreasing net income. Evaluating the value of 
these assets is necessarily based on the Company’s judgment. If the Company subsequently determined that the deferred tax assets, 
which had been written down, would be realized in the future, the value of the deferred tax assets would be increased, thereby 
increasing net income in the period when that determination was made.  

 

   
Revenue is recognized on the sale of a product when the product is shipped, which is when the risk of loss transfers to our customers, 
and collection of the receivable is reasonably assured. A product is not shipped without an order from the customer and credit 
acceptance procedures performed. The allowance for returns is regularly reviewed and adjusted by management based on historical 
trends of returned items. Amounts paid by customers for shipping and handling costs are included in sales.  

 
The Company accounts for certain sales incentives, including slotting fees, as a reduction of gross sales. These sales incentives for the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 approximated $847,000 and $815,000, respectively.  

 

   
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) applicable to Common Stockholders by the weighted 
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the 
net income (loss) applicable to Common Stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the number 
of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if all dilutive potential common shares had been issued, using the 
treasury stock method. Potential common shares are excluded from the computation as their effect is antidilutive.  

   
For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 the calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are the same because potential 
dilutive securities would have an anti-dilutive effect. The potentially dilutive securities consisted of the following as of:  
   

 
 

   
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling expense in the amount of $291,000 and $174,000, for the years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

   

  

  I)  Cost of sales  

  J)  Income Taxes  

  K)  Revenue Recognition  

  L)  Net Loss Per Share  

    December 31,    
    2009      2008    

Warrants      1,991,690       1,868,236   
Series A Preferred Stock      186,484       188,484   
Series B Preferred Stock      845,740       -  
Options      690,000       702,500   
Total      3,713,914       2,759,220   

  M)  Advertising Costs  
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The Company periodically issues stock options and warrants to employees and non-employees in non-capital raising transactions for 
services and for financing costs. The Company accounts for stock option and warrant grants issued and vesting to employees based on 
the authoritative guidance provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. The Company accounts for stock option and warrant 
grants issued and vesting to non-employees in accordance with the authoritative guidance provided by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board whereas the value of the stock compensation is based upon the measurement date as determined at either  
a) the date at which a performance commitment is reached, or b) at the date at which the necessary performance to earn the equity 
instruments is complete.  

 
We estimate volatility and forfeitures based upon historical data. As permitted by the authoritative guidance issued by the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board, we use the “simplified” method to determine the expected life of an option grant due to the Company’s 
lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis, which is a result of the relative high turnover rates experienced in 
the past for positions granted options. All of these variables have an effect on the estimated fair value of our share-based awards.  

 

 
The Company capitalizes costs incurred related to its issuance of common stock until such time as the stock is issued. These costs 
included attorney’s fees, accountant’s fees, SEC filing fees, state filing fees, and other specific incremental costs directly related to the 
public offering and related issuance of common stock. As proceeds are received from the offering, the deferred offering costs were 
charged to additional paid in capital. During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, $379,000 and $0, respectively, of deferred 
offering costs were charged to additional paid in capital.  

   

   
In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-05, which amends ASC 820 to provide further guidance on measuring the fair value of a 
liability. It primarily does three things: 1) sets forth the types of valuation techniques to be used to value a liability when a quoted price 
in an active market for the identical liability is not available, 2) clarifies that when estimating the fair value of a liability, a reporting 
entity is not required to include a separate input or adjustment to other inputs relating to the existence of a restriction that prevents the 
transfer of the liability, and 3) clarifies that both a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability at the measurement date 
and the quoted price for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market, when no adjustments to the quoted price of 
the asset are required, are Level 1 fair value measurements. This standard became effective for the Company beginning in the fourth 
quarter of 2009. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2009-05 did not have a material impact on its financial position, results of 
operations or liquidity.  

 
In January 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 2010-6, “Improving Disclosures About Fair Value  
Measurements” (“ASU 2010-6”), which requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair-
value measurements including significant transfers into and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair-value measurements and information on 
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair-value measurements. ASU 2010-6 
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for Level 3 reconciliation disclosures, which 
are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15,2010. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this update 
on its financial position, results of operations and liquidity.  

 
In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition that will become effective for the Company 
beginning July 1, 2010, with earlier adoption permitted. Under the new guidance on arrangements that include software elements, 
tangible products that have software components that are essential to the functionality of the tangible product will no longer be 
within the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance, and software-enabled products will now be subject to other relevant 
revenue recognition guidance. We believe adoption of this new guidance will not have a material impact on our financial 
statements.  

 
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the AICPA, and the SEC 
did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future financial statements  

   

  

  N)  Stock Compensation Expense  

  O)  Deferred Offering Costs  

  P)  Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
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Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market, and is comprised of the following as of:  

 

   

   
Fixed assets are comprised of the following as of:  

 

   
During 2009, an impairment charge in the amount of $641,000 was recorded in connection with a sale and lease-back of the Company’s 
buildings and equipment (See Note 6), as it was determined that the carrying value of the buildings and brewery equipment was greater than 
the fair market value of those assets on the date of the transaction.  

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $356,000 and $302,000, respectively.  

 
Machinery and equipment at December 31, 2009 includes equipment held under capital leases of $163,000. Accumulated depreciation 
on equipment held under leases was $13,000 as of December 31, 2009.  

 

   
Brand Names  

   
Brand Names consist of three trademarks for natural beverages, two of which the Company acquired in previous years and one brand 
acquired in 2009. As long as the Company continues to renew its trademarks, these intangible assets will have an indefinite life. 
Accordingly, they are not subject to amortization. The Company determines fair value for Brand Names by reviewing the net sales of 
the associated beverage and applying industry multiples for which similar beverages are sold. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 
carrying amounts for Brand Names were $1,029,000 and $800,000, respectively.  

 
Deferred Financing Fees  

 
Deferred financing are comprised of the following as of:  

   

 

  

(2)  Inventory  

    
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Raw Materials and Packaging    $ 1,337,000     $ 755,000   
Finished Goods      1,547,000       2,082,000   
    $ 2,884,000     $ 2,837,000   

(3)  Fixed Assets  

    
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Land    $ 1,108,000     $ 1,410,000   
Building      1,393,000       1,769,000   
Vehicles      320,000       320,000   
Machinery and equipment      1,169,000       1,398,000   
Office equipment      392,000       386,000   
      4,382,000       5,283,000   
Accumulated depreciation      (727,000 )     (1,150,000 ) 
    $ 3,655,000     $ 4,133,000   

(4)  Intangible Assets  

    
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Loan fees relating to financing    $ 141,000     $ 102,000   
Accumulated amortization      (10,000 )     (40,000 ) 
    $ 131,000     $ 62,000   
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Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $89,000 and $53,000 respectively.  

   
Amortization of deferred financing fees is as follows for the years ending December 31:  

   

   

   

   
(A)  In May 2008 the Company entered into a Credit and Security Agreement under which the Company was provided with a $2 
million revolving credit facility. In July 2008, the line of credit was increased to $3 million.  Interest accrued and was paid monthly on 
outstanding loans under the credit facility at a rate equal to 5.75% per annum plus the greater of 2% or the LIBOR rate.  The amount 
available to borrow was based on a calculation of eligible accounts receivable and inventory.  Borrowings under the credit facility were 
secured by all of the Company's assets and the loan was personally guaranteed by the principal shareholder and Chief Executive 
Officer.  The line of credit was closed in November 2009.  

 
(B)  On November 18, 2009, the Company executed a revolver line commitment with GemCap Lending I, LLC to replace its existing 
line of credit.  The senior revolver facility is for $3,000,000, based on 80% of eligible accounts receivable and 50% of eligible 
inventory, with a maximum inventory advance of $1,500,000.  The line of credit bears interest of 18% per annum.  
  At December 31, 2009, the aggregate amount outstanding under the line of credit was $1,415,000 and the Company had approximately 
$221,000 of availability on this line of credit.  

 

 

 
On June 15, 2009, the Company closed escrow on the sale of its two buildings and its brewery equipment and concurrently entered into 
a long-term lease agreement for the same property and equipment. In connection with the lease the Company has the option to 
repurchase the buildings and brewery equipment from 12 months after the commencement date to the end of the lease term at the 
greater of the fair market value or an agreed upon amount. Since the lease contains a buyback provision and other related terms, the 
Company determined it had continuing involvement that did not warrant the recognition of a sale; therefore, the transaction has been 
accounted for as a long-term financing.  The proceeds from the sale, net of transaction costs, have been recorded as a financing 
obligation in the amount of $3,056,000. Monthly payments under the financing agreement are recorded as interest expense and a 
reduction in the financing obligation at an implicit rate of 9.9%. The financing obligation is personally guaranteed up to a limit of 
$150,000 by the principal shareholder and Chief Executive Officer, Christopher J. Reed.  

 

  

Year    Amount    
2010    $ 112,000   
2011      5,000   
2012      5,000   
2013      5,000   
2014      4,000   
Total    $ 131,000   

(5)  Lines of Credit  

    December 31,    
    2009      2008    
Line of Credit (A)    $ -    $ 1,354,000   
Line of Credit (B)      1,415,000       -  
    $ 1,415,000     $ 1,354,000   

(6)  Lo3.Long Term Financing Obligation  

    December 31,    
    2009      2008    
Long term financing obligation    $ 3,040,000     $ -  
Valuation discount      (726,000 )     -  
    $ 2,314,000     $ -  
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In connection with the financing obligation, the Company issued an aggregate of 400,000 warrants to purchase its common stock at $1.20 
per share for five years. The 400,000 warrants were valued at $752,000 and reflected as a debt discount, using the Black Scholes option 
pricing model. The following assumptions were utilized in valuing the 400,000 warrants: strike price of $2.10 to $2.25; term of 5 years; 
volatility of 91.36% to 110.9%; expected dividends 0%; and discount rate of 2.15% to 2.20%. The 400,000 warrants were recorded as 
valuation discount and are being amortized over 15 years, the term of the purchase option.  Amortization of valuation discount was $25,000 
and $0, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.  

   
The aggregate due under the financing obligation at December 31, 2009 was $3,040,000.  Aggregate future obligations under the 
financing obligation are as follows:  
   

 

 
Long-term debt consists of the following as of:  

 
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows as of December 31:  

    

   

   
The Company has entered into various capital leases for equipment with monthly payments ranging from $438 to $1,545 per month, 
including interest, at interest rates ranging from 17.27% to 17.32% per annum. At December 31, 2009, monthly payments under these 
leases aggregated $4,081. The leases expire at various dates through 2014.  

 
   

  

Year        
2010    $ 40,000   
2011      55,000   
2012      71,000   
2013      90,000   
2014      111,000   

Thereafter      2,673,000   
Total    $ 3,040,000   

(7)  Lo4.Long Term Debt  

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2009      2008    
Note payable with a bank in the amount of $1,770,000. The note matures in February 2038. The note carries 

an 8.41% per annum interest rate, requires a monthly payment of principal and interest of $13,651, and is 
secured by all of the land and buildings owned by the Company, and is personally guaranteed by the 
majority stockholder.    $ -    $ 1,763,000   

Note payable from acquisition of brand in the amount of $239,000, recorded at an implicit rate of 5%, 
requires a monthly payment of $9,000, and matures in August 2011.      173,000       -  

          Total      173,000       1,763,000   
          Less current portion      102,000       16,000   
    $ 71,000     $ 1 ,747,000   

Year    Amount   
2010    $ 102,000   
2011      71,000   
Total    $ 173,000   

(8)  Obligations Under Capital Leases  
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Future minimum lease payments under capital leases are as follows:  
   

   

 
Preferred Stock  
   
Series A  
Series A Preferred stock consists of 500,000 shares authorized to Series A, $10.00 par value, 5% non-cumulative, participating, 
preferred stock. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008 there were 47,121 and 48,121 shares outstanding respectively, with a liquidation 
preference of $10.00.  
   
These preferred shares have a 5% pro-rata annual non-cumulative dividend. The dividend can be paid in cash or, in the sole and 
absolute discretion of our board of directors, in shares of common stock based on its then fair market value. We cannot declare or pay 
any dividend on shares of our securities ranking junior to the preferred stock until the holders of our preferred stock have received the 
full non-cumulative dividend to which they are entitled. In addition, the holders of our preferred stock are entitled to receive pro rata 
distributions of dividends on an “as converted” basis with the holders of our common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2009 
the Company accrued and paid a $23,000 dividend payable to the preferred shareholders, which management elected to pay through the 
issuance of 12,950 shares of its common stock; and during the year ended December 31, 2008 the Company accrued and paid a $28,000 
dividend payable to the preferred shareholders, which management elected to pay through the issuance of 3,820 shares of its common 
stock.  
   
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, or if there is a change of control event, then, subject to the 
rights of the holders of our more senior securities, if any, the holders of our Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive, prior to the 
holders of any of our junior securities, $10.00 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. Thereafter, all remaining assets shall be 
distributed pro rata among all of our security holders.  Since June 30, 2008, we have the right, but not the obligation, to redeem all or 
any portion of the Series A preferred stock by paying the holders thereof the sum of the original purchase price per share, which was 
$10.00, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends.  
   
The Series A preferred stock may be converted, at the option of the holder, at any time after issuance and prior to the date such stock is 
redeemed, into four shares of common stock, subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends, 
recapitalization, reclassification and similar transactions. We are obligated to reserve out of our authorized but unissued shares of 
common stock a sufficient number of such shares to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock. During 
the year ended December 31, 2009, 500 shares of preferred stock were converted into 2,000 shares of common stock.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2008, 10,819 shares of preferred stock were converted into 43,276 shares of common stock.  
   
Except as provided by law, the holders of our Series A preferred stock do not have the right to vote on any matters, including, without 
limitation, the election of directors. However, so long as any shares of Series A preferred stock are outstanding, we shall not, without 
first obtaining the approval of at least a majority of the holders of the Series A preferred stock, authorize or issue any equity security 
having a preference over the Series A preferred stock with respect to dividends, liquidation, redemption or voting, including any other 
security convertible into or exercisable for any equity security other than any senior preferred stock.  

   

  

Years Ending December 31,        
2010    $ 49,000   
2011      49,000   
2012      49,000   
2013      49,000   
2014      29,000   

Total payments      225,000   
Less: Amount representing interest      71,000   
Present value of net minimum 

lease  payments      154,000   
Less: Current portion      24,000   
Non-current portion    $ 130,000   

(9)  Stockholders’  Equity  
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Series B  
On April 23, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a new class of Preferred Stock for the purpose of selling the Preferred 
stock in the Corporation’s rights offering.  The Preferred Stock is designated as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, with a number of 
shares authorized being shared with the Series A preferred stock.  In the aggregate, both classes of preferred stock may not exceed 500,000 
shares.  

 
On November 13, 2009, the Company issued transferable rights to all common shareholders of record.  Shareholders received one 
transferable right for each share held on the record date.  Each transferable right entitled the investor to purchase one share of Series B 
preferred stock at the par value of $10.00 per share.  Each share of Series B Preferred carries a five percent (5%) annual dividend for a 
term of three (3) years, and is convertible into shares of common stock at a conversion ratio of seven (7) shares of common stock, or a 
conversion price of $1.43.   The shares carry a mandatory conversion feature when the Company’s common stock exceeds a closing 
price of $2.75 for five (5) consecutive trading days.  

 
During December 2009, investors purchased 120,820 shares of Series B Preferred resulting in an aggregate of $1,208,000 in gross proceeds 
to the Company. The Company paid commissions of $88,000 and an expense allowance of $10,000 to the placement agent for the Series B 
offering and issued warrants to the placement to purchase up to 33,796 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $1.43 per share. 
The Company received proceeds after commissions and the expense allowance of approximately $1,110,000 in the aggregate, of which 
approximately $829,000 was received net of offering costs.  

 
These preferred shares have a 5% pro-rata annual non-cumulative dividend payable quarterly for a period of three years. The dividend 
can be paid in cash or, in the sole and absolute discretion of our board of directors, in shares of common stock based on its then fair 
market value. We cannot declare or pay any dividend on shares of our securities ranking junior to the preferred stock until the holders of 
our preferred stock have received the full non-cumulative dividend to which they are entitled. During the year ended December 31, 
2009, no dividends were accrued or paid.   The first dividend date will be March 31, 2010.  
   
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, or if there is a change of control event, then, subject to the 
rights of the holders of our more senior securities, if any, the holders of our Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive, prior to the 
holders of any of our junior securities, $10.00 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. Thereafter, all remaining assets shall be 
distributed pro rata among all of our security holders.  
   
The Series B preferred stock may be converted, at the option of the holder, at any time after issuance and prior to the date such stock is 
redeemed, into seven shares of common stock, subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends, 
recapitalization, reclassification and similar transactions. We are obligated to reserve out of our authorized but unissued shares of 
common stock a sufficient number of such shares to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock. During 
the year ended December 31, 2009, no shares of preferred stock were converted into shares of common stock.  
   
Except as provided by law, the holders of our Series B preferred stock do not have the right to vote on any matters, including, without 
limitation, the election of directors. However, so long as any shares of Series B preferred stock are outstanding, we shall not, without 
first obtaining the approval of at least a majority of the holders of the Series B preferred stock, authorize or issue any equity security 
having a preference over the Series B preferred stock with respect to dividends, liquidation, redemption or voting, including any other 
security convertible into or exercisable for any equity security other than any senior preferred stock.  

 
Common Stock  
   
Common stock consists of $.0001 par value, 19,500,000 shares authorized, 9,606,127 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 
2009 and 8,979,341 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2008.  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company issued 161,960 shares of common stock at stock prices ranging from $1.99 to 
$3.85 per share with a value of $336,000 in exchange for consulting services and 50,750 shares of common stock at a share price of 
$1.11 per share and a value of $56,000 to employees as a bonus.  

 
On October 8, 2009, the Company sold an aggregate of 364,189 units (“Units”) consisting of one share of our common stock (“Share”) and 
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock (“Warrants”) at a price of $1.80 per Unit resulting in gross proceeds of $656,000 to the 
Company pursuant to a public shelf registration on Form S-3.  The Warrants consist of  (i) Series A Warrants, for the purchase of a number 
of shares of common stock equal to 40% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an initial exercise price of $2.25 per share and are exercisable 
for a period of five years commencing 183 days from the date of issuance, (ii) Series B Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of 
common stock equal to 50% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an exercise price equal to $1.80 and are exercisable for 60 trading days 
commencing immediately, and (iii) Series C Warrants, for the purchase of a number of a shares of common stock equal to 20% of a 
purchaser’s Shares, which have an exercise price of $2.25 and are exercisable for five years commencing 183 days from the date of 
issuance.  The Series B Warrants and Series C Warrants were only issued to purchasers who purchased Units for an aggregate purchase 
price of at least $125,000.   The Company paid an 8% placement agent fee of $52,000. The Company received proceeds from the shelf-
registration, after deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses, of approximately $563,000. At the closing, the Company issued 
364,189 shares of common stock, Series A Warrants to purchase 145,676 shares of common stock, Series B Warrants to purchase 69,445 
shares of common stock, and Series C Warrants to purchase 27,778 shares of common stock.  
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During 2009, the Company also sold 50,000 shares of common stock for $3.00 per share or $150,000.  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company issued 181,147 shares of common stock in exchange for consulting and legal 
services.  The value of the stock was based on the closing price of the stock on the issuance or agreed upon date.  The total value of 
shares issued for services was $236,000.   The Company issued 13,500 shares of common stock valued at $24,000 for financial fees 
related to the capital leases entered into during the 2009 fiscal year.  The value of these shares has been recorded as deferred financing 
fees and is being amortized over the term of the capital leases (see Note 4).  

 
On December 22, 2009, the Company granted 38,750 shares of common stock valued at $51,000, based upon the stock price on the date 
of grant, to its employees as bonuses. The shares of common stock were issued subsequent to year-end and have been included in 
accounts payable as of December 31, 2009.  

 

   

   
In 2001, the Company adopted the Original Beverage Corporation 2001 Stock Option Plan and in 2007 the Company adopted the 
Reed’s Inc 2007 Stock Option Plan (the “Plans”). The options under both plans shall be granted from time to time by the Compensation 
Committee. Individuals eligible to receive options include employees of the Company, consultants to the Company and directors of the 
Company. The options shall have a fixed price, which will not be less than 100% of the fair market value per share on the grant date. 
The total number of options authorized is 500,000 and 1,500,000, respectively for the Original Beverage Corporation 2001 Stock 
Option Plan and the Reed’s Inc 2007 Stock Option Plan.  
   
During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company issued 120,000 and 325,000 options, respectively, to purchase the 
Company's common stock at a weighted average price of $1.18 and $1.62, respectively, to employees under the Plans. On March 6, 
2009, the Company repriced 420,000 employee options to an exercise price of $0.75.  Such options had previously been issued at 
exercise prices between $1.99 per share and $8.50 per share.  The total increase in stock compensation expense, as a result of the 
repricing, was $81,000; of which $44,000 was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2009.  The aggregate value of the options 
vesting, net of forfeitures, during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $421,000 and $144,000, respectively, and has been 
reflected as compensation cost. As of December 31, 2009, the aggregate value of unvested options was $286,000, which will be 
amortized as compensation cost as the options vest, over 3 years.  

 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2009 and 2008 was $1.18 and $1.23, respectively.  The fair value 
of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in 
the following table.  For purposes of determining the expected life of the option, the full contract life of the option is used. The risk-free 
rate for periods within the contractual life of the options is based on the U. S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant.  

 

   
 

  

 (10)  Stock Options and Warrants  

  A)  Stock Options  

  Year ended December 31,  
     2009    2008  
Expected volatility  89%- 97%    107%-109%  
Weighted average volatility  91%    109%  
Expected dividends  —    —  
Expected average term (in 
years)  

2.82    4.3  

Risk free rate - average  1.72%    2.75%  
Forfeiture rate  0%    0%  
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A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2009 and changes during the two years then ended is presented below:  

 

   
The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the market price and the exercise price of the Company’s stock, 
which was $1.43 as of December 31, 2009.  

 
A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested shares granted under the Company’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2009 
and changes during the year then ended is presented below:  

 

 
Additional information regarding options outstanding as of December 31, 2009 is as follows:  

 

   

  

     

  

Shares  

  Weighted-Average  
Exercise Price  

  

Weighted-Average  
Remaining  
Contractual  

Terms (Years)  

  
Aggregate  
Intrinsic  
Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2007    749,000    $6.02          
Granted    325,000    $1.62          
Exercised    —    —          
Forfeited or expired    (371,500)    $6.83          
Outstanding at December 31, 2008    702,500    $3.55          
Granted    120,000    $1.18          
Exercised    —    —          
Forfeited or expired    (132,500)    $2.38          
Outstanding at December 31, 2009    690,000    $1.74      3.0    $300,000  
Exercisable at December 31, 2009    334,999    $2.23      2.4    $141,000  

          Weighted-    
          Average    
          Grant Date    
    Shares      Fair Value    
Nonvested at December 31, 2008      495,833       $0.86   
Granted      120,000       $0.66   
Vested      (217,500 )     $0.87   
Forfeited      (43,333 )     $1.23   
Nonvested at December 31, 2009      355,001       $0.74   

    Options Outstanding at December 31, 2009    
Options Exercisable at  

December 31, 2009    

Range of 
Exercise Price    

Number of Shares 
Outstanding    

Weighted Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 
(years)    

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price    
Number of Shares 

Exercisable    

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price    
                                    
$ 0.01 - $1.99       560,000       3.26     $ 0.89       221,666     $ 0.79     
$ 2.00 - $4.99       80,000       1.30     $ 4.00       80,000     $ 4.00     
$ 5.00 - $6.99       -      -      -       -      -     
$ 7.00 - $8.50       50,000       2.42     $ 7.55       33,333     $ 7.55     
        690,000                   334,999           
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During the year ended December 31, 2008, 200,000 warrants were granted in connection with a distribution agreement between the 
Company and a company which is owned by two brothers of Christopher Reed, President of the Company.  The warrants are issuable only 
upon the attainment of certain international product sales goals.  The warrants will be valued and a corresponding expense will be recorded 
upon the attainment of the sales goals identified when the warrants were granted.  In April 2009, the 200,000 warrants were re-priced to 
$1.35 from a weighted average price of $2.77.  Since these are performance-based warrants and no performance criteria have been met as 
of December 31, 2009, no expense was recognized in the re-pricing of these warrants.  The value of the re-pricing was approximately 
$5,000 and the value of the warrants after re-pricing was $168,000, using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The following 
assumptions were utilized in valuing the 200,000 warrants: strike price of $1.35; term of 3 years; volatility of 99.8%; expected dividends 
0%; and discount rate of 1.89%.  

 
In October 2009, the Company granted an aggregate 242,899 warrants at a price of $2.25 in connection with an equity placement of its 
common stock (see Note 9).  69,445 of the warrants expired unexercised on January 4, 2010.  The remaining 173,454 options expire in five 
years.  The aggregate value of the warrants was approximately $217,000, using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The following 
assumptions were utilized in valuing the 173,454 warrants: strike price of $2.25; term of 5 years; volatility of 90.20%; expected dividends 
0%; and discount rate of 2.16%.  The value of the warrants has not been reflected in the Company’s financial statements as it is a reclass 
between paid in capital accounts.  

 
 In December 2009, the Company granted 33,796 warrants at $1.79 per share to a dealer-manager in connection with the placement of its 
Series B preferred stock (see Note 9).  The warrants were valued at $25,000, using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The following 
assumptions were utilized in valuing the 33,796 warrants: strike price of $1.79; term of 5 years; volatility of 71.74%; expected dividends 
0%; and discount rate of 2.62%.  The value of the warrants has not been reflected in the Company’s financial statements as it is a reclass 
between paid in capital accounts.  

 
The following table summarizes warrant activity for the two years ended December 31, 2009:  

 

 
The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated, as of December 31, 2009, as the difference between the market price and the exercise 
price of the Company’s stock, which was $1.43 as of December 31, 2009.  

 
The fair value of each warrant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions 
noted in the following table. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company. For purposes of determining the 
expected life of the warrant, the full contract life of the warrant is used. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the 
warrants is based on the U. S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant.   

 
 

   
   

The weighted-average grant date fair value of warrants granted during 2009 and 2008 was $1.47 and $1.88 respectively.  
   

   

  

  B)  Warrants  

     

  

Shares  

  Weighted-Average  
Exercise Price  

  

Weighted-Average  
Remaining  
Contractual  

Terms (Years)  

  
Aggregate  
Intrinsic  
Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2007    1,668,236     $5.75            
Granted    200,000     $2.54            
Exercised    -     -            
Forfeited or expired    -    -            
Outstanding at December 31, 2008    1,868,236     $5.41            
Granted    676,695     $1.56            
Exercised    -     -            
Forfeited or expired    (553,241)     $2.81            
Outstanding at December 31, 2009    1,991,690     $4.70      3.0    $108,000   
Exercisable at December 31, 2009    1,618,236     $5.38      2.8    $92,000   

  Year ended December 31,  
  2009    2008  

Expected volatility  72% - 111%    108%  
Weighted average 
volatility  

100%    108%  

Expected dividends  -    -  
Expected term (in 
years)  

5    5  

Risk free rate  2.18%    5.10%  
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The following table summarizes the outstanding warrants to purchase Common Stock at December 31, 2009:  

 

   

   
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had available Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards to reduce future taxable 
income. The amounts available were approximately $16,000,000 and $13,600,000 for Federal purposes, respectively, and $11,500,000 
and $10,200,000 for state purposes respectively. The Federal carryforward expires in 2030 and the state carryforward expires in 2015. 
Given the Company’s history of net operating losses, management has determined that it is more likely than not the Company will not 
be able to realize the tax benefit of the carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset for this 
benefit.  

 
 Accounting guidance requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of deferred 
tax assets will not be realized. Due to restrictions imposed by Internal Revenue Code Section 382 regarding substantial changes in 
ownership of companies with loss carry-forwards, the utilization of the Company’s net operating loss carry-forwards will likely be 
limited as a result of cumulative changes in stock ownership.  The company has not recognized a deferred tax asset and, as a result, the 
change in stock ownership has not resulted in any changes to valuation allowances.  

 
Upon the attainment of taxable income by the Company, management will assess the likelihood of realizing the tax benefit associated 
with the use of the carryforwards and will recognize a deferred tax asset at that time.  
   
Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets are as follows as of:  

    

   
Reconciliation of the effective income tax rate to the U.S. statutory rate is as follows:  

    

   

  

Number    Exercise Price    Expiration Dates  
400,000    $1.20    May 2014  
200,000    $1.35    May 2013  
33,796    $1.79    December 2014  
242,899    $1.80 - $2.25    January 2010 – April 2015  
365,000    $6.60    December 2011 – June 2012  
749,995    $7.50    June 2012  

(11)  Income Taxes  

    
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Deferred income tax asset:               
Net operating loss carry forward    $ 5,800,000     $ 5,000,000   
Valuation allowance      (5,800,000 )     (5,000,000 ) 
Net deferred income tax asset      —      —  

    Year Ended    
    December 31,    
    2009      2008    
Federal Statutory tax rate      (34% )     (34% ) 
State tax, net of federal benefit      (5% )     (5% ) 
Change in valuation      (39% )     (39% ) 
Allowance      39 %       39 %   
Effective tax rate      - %       - %   
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Lease Commitments  

   
The Company leases machinery under non-cancelable operating leases. Rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2008 was $40,000 and $48,000, respectively.  
   
Future payments under these leases as of December 31, 2009 are as follows:  
   

   
  Other Commitments  

 
The Company has entered into contracts with customers with clauses that commit the Company to fees if the Company terminates the 
agreement early or without cause.  The contracts call for the customer to have the right to distribute the Company’s products to a 
defined type of retailer within a defined geographic region.  If the Company should terminate the contract or not automatically renew 
the agreements, amounts would be due to the customer.  As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company has no plans to terminate or 
not renew any agreement with any of their customers; therefore no fees have been accrued in the accompanying financial statements.  

 

   
From time to time, we are a party to claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Our management evaluates 
our exposure to these claims and proceedings individually and in the aggregate and provides for potential losses on such litigation if the 
amount of the loss is estimable and the loss is probable.  

 
From August 3, 2005 through April 7, 2006, we issued 333,156 shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public 
offering. These securities represented all of the shares issued in connection with the initial public offering prior to October 11, 2006. 
These shares issued in connection with the initial public offering may have been issued in violation of either federal or state securities 
laws, or both, and may be subject to rescission.  

 
On August 12, 2006, we made a rescission offer to all holders of the outstanding shares that we believe are subject to rescission, 
pursuant to which we offered to repurchase these shares then outstanding from the holders. At the expiration of the rescission offer on 
September 18, 2006, the rescission offer was accepted by 32 of the offerees to the extent of 28,420 shares for an aggregate of $119,000, 
including statutory interest. The shares that were tendered for rescission were agreed to be purchased by others and not from our funds.  

 
Federal securities laws do not provide that a rescission offer will terminate a purchaser’s right to rescind a sale of stock that was not 
registered as required or was not otherwise exempt from such registration requirements. With respect to the offerees who rejected the 
rescission offer, we may continue to be liable under federal and state securities laws for up to an amount equal to the value of all shares 
of common stock issued in connection with the initial public offering plus any statutory interest we may be required to pay. If it is 
determined that we offered securities without properly registering them under federal or state law, or securing an exemption from 
registration, regulators could impose monetary fines or other sanctions as provided under these laws. However, we believe the 
rescission offer provides us with additional meritorious defenses against any future claims relating to these shares.  

 
Except as set forth above, we believe that there are no material litigation matters at the current time. Although the results of such 
litigation matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such claims and proceedings will 
not have a material adverse impact on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.  

   

   
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company employed two brothers of the majority shareholder and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company in sales roles. They were paid approximately $37,000 and $113,000.  Employment ended in 2008, so there 
were no payments during the year ended December 31, 2009.  

   

  

(12)  Commitments and Contingencies  

Year ending December 31,    Amount    
2010    $ 8,000   
2011      7,000   

Total    $ 15,000   

 (13)  Legal Proceedings  

(14)  Related Party Activity  
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During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement for the distribution of its products internationally. 
The agreement is between the Company and a company controlled by the same two brothers of Christopher Reed, Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company. The agreement remains in effect until terminated by either party and requires the Company to pay 10% of the 
defined sales of the previous month. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid commissions on sales of $10,000 
and issued 52,420 shares of its common stock in satisfaction of $66,000 due under this agreement.  During the year ended December 
31, 2008, the Company paid $60,000 for these services and 200,000 warrants were granted in connection with this distribution 
agreement. The warrants are issuable only upon the attainment of certain international product sales. No warrants vested during the year 
ended December 31, 2009. The warrants will be valued and a corresponding expense will be recorded upon the attainment of the sales 
goals identified when the warrants were granted.  

 

 
On October 19, 2009, the Company executed an Asset Purchase Agreement with Sonoma Cider Mill, Inc., to acquire the Sonoma Sparkler 
brand.  The aggregate purchase price under the Agreement was $252,000 which was allocated by the Company to its brand name. Initial 
payments of $45,000 were made prior to the Agreement and the balance of $207,000 is payable in installments of $9,000 over 23 remaining 
months, continuing on the first of every month.  The Company recorded a note payable in the amount of $239,000 in connection with this 
agreement (see Note 7).  

 

 
On February 5, 2010, the Company completed a standby offering of 12,780 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock at $10.00 per share, 
for gross proceeds of $127,800.    In connection with the offering, the Company also issued warrants for 3,575 shares of common stock 
at $1.78 per share for five years.  The Company paid legal and broker fees of approximately $11,000 in connection with the offering.  

 
On February 18, 2010, the Company sold an aggregate of 277,359 shares of common stock at a price of $1.70 per share for gross 
proceeds of $472,000.  Investors were also issued 83,208 Warrants, in connection with the transaction.  The Warrants are exercisable 
at a price of $2.10 per share of common stock for a period of five years commencing six months from the closing date of the 
offering.  In connection with the sale, the Company paid legal and broker fees of approximately $38,000.  

 
In January 2010, the Company issued 22,231 shares of common stock for services rendered.  During the period January 1, 2010 to 
March 23, 2010, 22,806 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were converted into 159,642 shares of common stock.  

 
 

  

(15)  Acquisition  

(16)  Subsequent Events  
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  
   

None.  
 
Item 9A(T).  Controls and Procedures  
   
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   
Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 
13a-15(f). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2009.  
   
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2009 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over 
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
   
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework . Based on our assessment we 
concluded that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.  
   
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over 
financial reporting.  Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm pursuant to 
temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management's report in this Annual 
Report.  
 
Item 9B.  Other Information  
   

None.  
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PART III  

   
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers , Promoters, Control Persons and Corporate Governance; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the 
Exchange Act  
   
General  
   

Our directors currently have terms which will end at our next annual meeting of the stockholders or until their successors are elected 
and qualify, subject to their death, resignation or removal. Officers serve at the discretion of the board of directors. Except as described below, 
there are no family relationships among any of our directors and executive officers. Our board members are encouraged to attend meetings of the 
board of directors and the annual meeting of stockholders. The board of directors held 13 meetings in 2009. The following table sets forth certain 
information with respect to our current directors and executive officers:  
    

 
Business Experience of Directors and Executive Officers  
 

Christopher J. Reed founded our company in 1987.  Mr. Reed has served as our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer since 
our incorporation in 1991. Mr. Reed also served as Chief Financial Officer during fiscal year 2007 until October 1, 2007 and again from April 
17, 2008 to January 19, 2009. Mr. Reed has been responsible for our design and products, including the original product recipes, the proprietary 
brewing process and the packaging and marketing strategies.  Mr. Reed received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering in 1980 from Rennselaer 
Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.  
 

James Linesch was appointed as Chief Financial Officer effective January 19, 2009. Mr. Linesch served as the chief financial officer of 
AdStar, Inc., a public company providing ad placement services and payment processing software for publishers, from February 2006 until 
January 2009.  He performed transaction intermediary services with MET Advisors, LLC from January 2005 until January 2006.  From June 
2000 to October 2004, he served as chief financial officer of DynTek, Inc., an information technology (IT) services company.  From May 1996 
until October 1999 he served as chief financial officer and president of CompuMed, Inc.  He also served as chief financial officer of Universal 
Self Care, Inc. from June 1991 until May 1996.  Mr. Linesch is a certified public accountant (CPA), having practiced with Price Waterhouse in 
Los Angeles.  He earned a BS degree in finance from California State University, Northridge, and an MBA from the University of Southern 
California.  
 

Thierry Foucaut has been our Chief Operating Officer since May 2007.  Prior to joining us, Mr. Foucaut worked for six years as Chief 
Operating Officer of Village Imports, a $30 million specialty foods and beverage distributor in California, where he created and launched a line 
of sparkling lemonades and managed the company’s operations including multiple warehouses and fleets of DSD delivery trucks.  Mr. Foucaut 
spent 2000 with Eve.com, a leading San Francisco website specializing in retail sales of high end cosmetics.  Mr. Foucaut worked for L’Oréal 
Paris from 1994 through 1999 with growing marketing and sales responsibilities, including Product Manager from September 1994 to May 1996, 
South Europe Marketing Coordinator from June 1996 to July 1998 and Duty Free Key Account Executive from July 1998 to December 1999, 
managing large airport and airline clients over several European countries.  He earned a Master of Science degree from Ecole Centrale Paris in 
1988, and an MBA from Harvard Business School in 1994.  
 

Judy Holloway Reed has been with us since 1992 and, as we have grown, has run the accounting, purchasing and shipping and 
receiving departments at various times since the 1990s.  Ms. Reed has been one of our directors since June 2004, and our Secretary since 
October 1996.  In the 1980s, Ms. Reed managed media tracking for a Los Angeles Infomercial Media Buying Group and was an account 
manager with a Beverly Hills, California stock portfolio management company.  She earned a Business Degree from MIU in 1981.  Ms. Reed is 
the wife of Christopher J. Reed, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer.  
 

Mark Harris has been a member of our board of directors since April 2005.  Mr. Harris is an independent venture capitalist and has 
been retired from the work force since 2002.  In late 2003, Mr. Harris joined a group of Amgen colleagues in funding NeoStem, Inc., a company 
involved in stem-cell storage, archiving, and research to which he is a founding investor.  From 1991 to 2002, Mr. Harris worked at Amgen, Inc. 
(Nasdaq: AMGN), a preeminent biotech company, managing much of Amgen’s media production for internal use and public relations. Mr. 
Harris spent the decade prior working in the aerospace industry at Northrop with similar responsibilities.  
   

  

Name    Position    Age  
          
Christopher J. Reed    President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board    51  
James Linesch    Chief Financial Officer    55  
Thierry Foucaut    Chief Operating Officer    45  
Judy Holloway Reed    Secretary and Director    50  
Mark Harris    Director    54  
Daniel S.J. Muffoletto    Director    55  
Michael Fischman    Director    54  
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Daniel S.J. Muffoletto, N.D. has been a member of our board of directors from April 2005 to December 2006 and from January 2007 

to the present.  Dr. Muffoletto has practiced as a Naturopathic Physician since 1986.  He has served as chief executive officer of Its Your Earth, a 
natural products marketing company since June 2004.  From 2003 to 2005, Dr. Muffoletto worked as Sales and Marketing Director for 
Worthington, Moore & Jacobs, a Commercial Law League member firm serving FedEx, UPS, DHL and Kodak, among others.  From 2001 to 
2003, he was the owner-operator of the David St. Michel Art Gallery in Montreal, Québec.  From 1991 to 2001, Dr. Muffoletto was the 
owner/operator of a Naturopathic Apothecary, Herbal Alter*Natives of Seattle, Washington and Ellicott City, Maryland.  The apothecary housed 
Dr. Muffoletto’s Naturopathic practice.  Dr. Muffoletto received a Bachelors of Arts degree in Government and Communications from the 
University of Baltimore in 1977, and conducted postgraduate work in the schools of Public Administration and Publication Design at the 
University of Baltimore from 1978 to 1979. In 1986, he received his Doctorate of Naturopathic Medicine from the Santa Fe Academy of 
Healing, Santa Fe, New Mexico.  
 

Michael Fischman has been a member of our board of directors since April 2005.  Since 1998, Mr. Fischman has been President and 
chief executive officer of the APEX course, the corporate training division of the International Association of Human Values.  In addition, Mr. 
Fischman is a founding member and the director of training for USA at the Art of Living Foundation, a global non-profit educational and 
humanitarian organization at which he has coordinated over 200 personal development instructors since 1997.    
 
Family Relationships  
 

Other than the relationship of Christopher J. Reed, and Judy Holloway Reed, Christopher Reed’s wife and a board member, none of our 
directors or executive officers are related to one another.  
 
Legal Proceedings  
 

To the best of our knowledge, none of our executive officers or directors are parties to any material proceedings adverse to Reed’s, have 
any material interest adverse to Reed’s or have, during the past ten years:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
Corporate Governance  
 

We are committed to having sound corporate governance principles. We believe that such principles are essential to running our 
business efficiently and to maintaining our integrity in the marketplace.  
 

There have been no changes to the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to our Board of  
Directors.  
 

  

   •  been convicted in a criminal proceeding or been subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor 
offenses);  

   •  had any bankruptcy petition filed by or against him/her or any business of which he/she was a general partner or executive officer, 
either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;  

   •  been subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his/her involvement in any type of business, securities, 
futures, commodities or banking activities;  

   •  been found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures 
Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, 
suspended, or vacated;  

   •  been subject to, or party to, any judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree , or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or 
vacated, relating to an alleged violation  of (i) any Federal or State securities or commodities law or regulation, (ii) any law or 
regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies including, but not limited to, a temporary or permanent injunction, 
order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or permanent cease-and-desist order, or removal or prohibition 
order or (iii) any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; orbeen the subject of, 
or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in 
Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(26))), any registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity 
Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 1(a)(29))), or any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over 
its members or persons associated with a member.  
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Director Qualifications  
 

We believe that our directors should have the highest professional and personal ethics and values, consistent with our longstanding 
values and standards. They should have broad experience at the policy-making level in business or banking. They should be committed to 
enhancing stockholder value and should have sufficient time to carry out their duties and to provide insight and practical wisdom based on 
experience. Their service on other boards of public companies should be limited to a number that permits them, given their individual 
circumstances, to perform responsibly all director duties for us. Each director must represent the interests of all stockholders. When considering 
potential director candidates, the board of directors also considers the candidate’s character, judgment, diversity, age and skills, including 
financial literacy and experience in the context of our needs and the needs of the board of directors.  
   
Director Independence  
 

The board of directors has determined that three members of our board of directors, Mr. Harris, Dr. Muffoletto and Mr. Fischman, are 
independent under the revised listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. We intend to maintain at least two independent directors on 
our board of directors in the future.  
 
Code  of Ethics  
 

Our Chief Executive Officer and all senior financial officers, including the Chief Financial Officer, are bound by a Code of Ethics that 
complies with Item 406 of Regulation S-B of the Exchange Act. Our Code of Ethics is posted on our website at www.reedsinc.com.  
 
Board Structure and Committee Composition  
 

As of the date of this Annual Report, our board of directors has five directors and the following three standing committees: an Audit 
Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominations and Governance Committee. These committees were formed in January 2007.  
 

US EURO Securities, Inc., the lead underwriter in our initial public offering, will have the right to designate an observer to our board of 
directors and each of its committees through the period ending December 12, 2011.  
 

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes, internal systems of accounting and 
financial controls, relationships with independent auditors and audits of financial statements. Specific responsibilities include the following:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Our Audit Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto, Mr. Harris and Mr. Fischman. Dr. Muffoletto serves as Chairman of the Audit 

Committee. The board of directors has determined that the three members of the Audit Committee are independent under the rules of the SEC 
and the Nasdaq National Market and that Dr. Muffoletto qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined by the rules of the SEC. 
Our board of directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee meeting applicable standards of the SEC and the Nasdaq National 
Market.  
   

  

  •  selecting, hiring and terminating our independent auditors;  

  •  evaluating the qualifications, independence and performance of our independent auditors;  

  •  approving the audit and non-audit services to be performed by our independent auditors;  

  •  reviewing the design, implementation, adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls and critical accounting policies;  

  •  overseeing and monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they 
relate to financial statements or accounting matters;  

  •  reviewing with management and our independent auditors, any earnings announcements and other public announcements regarding 
our results of operations; and  

  •  preparing the audit committee report that the SEC requires in our annual proxy statement.  
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Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Committee assists our board of directors in determining and developing plans for the 

compensation of our officers, directors and employees. Specific responsibilities include the following:  
 

 

 
Our Compensation Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto, Mr. Harris and Mr. Fischman. The board of directors has determined 

that all of the members of the Compensation Committee are independent under the rules of the Nasdaq National Market. Our board of directors 
has adopted a written charter for the Compensation Committee.  
 

Nominations and Governance Committee. Our Nominations and Governance Committee assists the board of directors by identifying 
and recommending individuals qualified to become members of our board of directors, reviewing correspondence from our stockholders, and 
establishing, evaluating and overseeing our corporate governance guidelines. Specific responsibilities include the following:  
 

 

 

 
Our Nominations and Governance Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto and Mr. Fischman. The board of directors has determined 

that all of the members of the Nominations and Governance Committee are independent under the rules of the Nasdaq National Market. Our 
board of directors has adopted a written charter for the Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee.  
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance under 2001 Stock Option Plan, 2007 Stock Option Plan and 2009 Consultant Stock Plan  
 

For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our 2001 Stock Option Plan, 2007 Stock Option Plan and 2009 
Consultant Stock Plan see “Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.”  
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance  
   

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires our directors and executive officers 
and beneficial holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in 
ownership of our equity securities.  
 

To our knowledge, based solely upon a review of Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to Reed’s under 17 CFR 240.16a-3
(e) during our most recent fiscal year and Forms 5 and amendments thereto furnished to Reed’s with respect to our most recent fiscal year or 
written representations from the reporting persons, we believe that during the year ended December 31, 2009 our directors, executive officers 
and persons who own more than 10% of our common stock complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements.  

  

  •  approving the compensation and benefits of our executive officers;  
   
  •  reviewing the performance objectives and actual performance of our officers; and  

  •  administering our stock option and other equity compensation plans.  

  •  evaluating the composition, size and governance of our board of directors and its committees and making recommendations regarding 
future planning and the appointment of directors to our committees;  

  •  establishing a policy for considering stockholder nominees for election to our board of directors; and  

  •  evaluating and recommending candidates for election to our board of directors.  
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Item 11.  Executive Compensation  
 

The following table summarizes all compensation for fiscal years 2009 and 2008 received by our principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer and chief operating officer, who are the only executive officers of the Company in fiscal year 2009, our “Named Executive 
Officers”.  
 

   

 
Employment Agreements  
 

We entered into an at-will employment agreement with Thierry Foucaut, our Chief Operating Officer, which provides for an annualized 
salary of approximately $130,000 per year.  In addition, we have granted Mr. Foucaut options to purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock 
which vest over a three year period ending in 2010.  
 

Further, we entered into an at-will employment agreement with James Linesch, our Chief Financial Officer, which provided for an 
annual salary of $156,000 per year commencing January 19, 2009. In addition, we have granted Mr. Linesch options under our 2007 Stock 
Option Plan to purchase up to 75,000 shares of common stock which vest over a three year period ending January 19, 2012.  In the event of a 
sale of Reed’s, Inc., should Mr. Linesch’s employment terminate during the first 12 months after the sale, he will be entitled to three months 
severance.    
 

Except as set forth above, there are no written employment agreements with any of our officers or key employees, including 
Christopher J. Reed.  We do not have any agreements which provide for severance upon termination of employment, whether in context of a 
change of control or not.  
 

  

Name and  
Principal Position      Year       Salary      Bonus      

Stock  
Awards      

Option  
Awards  
($)(1)      

Non-  
Equity  

Incentive  
Plan  

Compensation     

Non-  
Qualified  
Deferred  

Compensation 
Earnings      

All Other  
Compensation       Total    

                                                      
Christopher J. 
Reed ,  
Chief Executive 
Officer  2009    $ 150,000       -    $ 7,920       -      -      -    $ 4,616 (3)     $ 162,536   
  2008    $ 150,000                                             $ 4,616 (3)     $ 154,616   
                                                                      
James Linesch ,  
Chief Financial 
Officer (2)  2009    $ 151,983       -    $ 7,920     $ 55,500       -      -      -      $ 215,403   
                                                                      
Thierry Foucaut ,  
Chief Operating 
Officer  2009    $ 130,000     $ 57,600     $ 7,920       -                              $ 195,520   
  2008    $ 130,000     $ 57,600             $ 41,000                               $ 228,600   

(1)    The amounts represent the compensation expense for all share-based payment awards based on estimated fair values, computed in 
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards, excluding any impact of assumed forfeiture rates.  We record compensation expense for 
employee stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option pricing 
model.  See discussion of valuation assumptions in the financial statement Note 10.(A) Stock Options.  

(2)  Mr. Linesch was hired in January 2009.  Amounts represent payments pursuant to an at will employment agreement since his hire date.  
(3)  Represents value of automobile provided to Christopher J. Reed.  
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Outstanding Equity Awards At Fiscal Year-End  
 

The following table sets forth information regarding unexercised  options and equity incentive plan awards for each Named Executive 
Officer outstanding as of December 31, 2009.  
 

   
Notes:  

 
Director Compensation  
 

The following table summarizes the compensation paid to our directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009:  
 

 

   
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

   
The following table reflects, as of the date of this Annual Report, the beneficial common stock ownership of: (a) each of our directors, 

(b) each of our current named executive officers, (c) each person known by us to be a beneficial holder of 5% or more of our common stock, and 
(d) all of our executive officers and directors as a group.  
   
Except as otherwise indicated below, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common 
stock held by them.  Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each listed executive officer and director is 13000 South Spring Street, 
Los Angeles, California 90061.  
   

  

          Number of      Equity Incentive            
    Number of      Securities      Plan Awards:            
    Securities      Underlying      Number of            
    Underlying      Unexercised      Securities            
    Unexercised      Options      Underlying      Option    Option  
    Options (#)      (#)      Unexercised      Exercise    Expiration  
Name and Position    Exercisable      Unexercisable      Unearned Options     Price    Date  
Christopher J. Reed, Chief Executive 
Officer      -      -      -          
James Linesch, Chief Financial Officer      -      75,000 (1)             $ 1.30    01/04/14  
Thierry Foucaut, Chief Operating Officer      33,333       16,667  (2)             $ 7.55    06/03/12  
      16,667       33,333 (3)             $ 1.34    12/07/13  

(1) Vest as follows: 25,000 options vest on January 3, 2010 and 25,000 will vest on January 3, 2011 and January 3, 2012 .  
(2) Vest as follows: 16,666 options will vest on June 3, 2010.  
(3) Vest as follows: 16,667 will vest on December 6, 2010 and 16,667 will vest on December 6, 2011.  

    Fees                          
    Earned or              Non-Equity            
    Paid in      Stock    Option    Incentive Plan   All Other        
  Name    Cash      Awards    Awards    Compensation   Compensation   Total    
Judy Holloway Reed    $ 2,025                     $ 2,025   
Mark Harris    $ 0                     $ 0   
Daniel S.J. Muffoletto    $ 12,204 (1)                   $ 12,204   
Michael Fischman    $ 1,650                     $ 1,650   

(1)  Since November 2007, Dr. Muffoletto receives $833 per month to serve as the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  
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*   Less than 1%.  

   
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  
 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS  
 

Our board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship 
between Reed’s and one of our executive officers, directors, director nominees or 5% or greater stockholders (or their immediate family 
members), each of whom we refer to as a “related person,” in which such related person has a direct or indirect material interest.  
 

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, defined as a “related party transaction,” the 
related party must report the proposed related party transaction to our Chief Financial Officer.  The policy calls for the proposed related party 
transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by the Governance Committee. If practicable, the reporting, review and 
approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction.  If advance review and approval is not practicable, the Governance Committee will 
review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related party transaction. Any related party transactions that are ongoing in nature will be 
reviewed annually at a minimum.  The related party transactions listed below were reviewed by the full board of directors.  Prior to August 
2005, we did not have independent directors on our Board to review and approve related party transactions. The Governance Committee shall 
review future related party transactions.  
   

  

   
Name of Beneficial Owner    

Number of Shares  
Beneficially Owned     

Percentage 
of Shares  

Beneficially 
Owned (1)    

              
Directors and Named Executive Officers              
Christopher J. Reed (2)      3,153,238       31.2   
Judy Holloway Reed (2)      3,153,238       31.2   
Mark Harris (3)      319       *   
Daniel S.J. Muffoletto, N.D.      0       *   
Michael Fischman      0       *   
James Linesch (4)      31,000       *   
Thierry Foucaut (5)      61,000       *   
                  
Directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons)      3,245,557       31.8   
    
5% or greater stockholders    
Joseph Grace (5)      500,000       4.9   
Pearl Elias (6)      666,363       6.6   

(1)  Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC.  Shares of common stock subject to options or warrants 
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 23, 2010 are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of 
the stockholder holding the options or warrants but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other 
stockholder.  Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to this table, we believe stockholders named in the table have sole voting and 
sole investment power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such stockholder’s name.  Percentage of ownership is based on 
approximately 10,104,109   shares of common stock outstanding as of March 23, 2010.  

(2)  Christopher J. Reed and Judy Holloway Reed are husband and wife.  The same number of shares of common stock is shown for each of 
them, as they may each be deemed to be the beneficial owner of all of such shares.  

(3)  The address for Mr. Harris is 160 Barranca Road, Newbury Park, California 91320.  
(4)  Consists of 6,000 shares of common stock and options to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock.  Does not include options to purchase 

50,000 shares of common stock that vest over two years.  
(5)  Consists of 11,000 shares of common stock and options to purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock. Does not include options to 

purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock which vest over two years.  
(5)  The address for Mr. Grace is 1900 West Nickerson Street, Suite 116, PMB 158, Seattle, Washington 98119.  
(6)  The address for Mrs. Elias is P.O. Box 340, Merion Station  PA,  19066.  
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During the years December 31, 2009 and 2008, we have participated in the following transactions in which a related person had or 

will have a direct or indirect material interest:  
 

Judy Holloway Reed, our Secretary and director, is Christopher J. Reed’s spouse.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company employed two family members of the majority shareholder and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company in sales roles. They were paid approximately $37,000 and $113,000.  Employment ended in 2008, so there 
were no payments during the year ended December 31, 2009.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement for the distribution of its products internationally. 
The agreement is between the Company and a company controlled by two brothers of Christopher Reed, Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. The agreement remains in effect until terminated by either party and requires the Company to pay 10% of the defined sales of the 
previous month. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid commissions on sales of $10,000 and issued 52,420 shares of 
its common stock in satisfaction of $65,000 due under this agreement.  During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company paid $60,000 
for these services and 200,000 warrants were granted in connection with this distribution agreement. The warrants are issuable only upon the 
attainment of certain international product sales. No warrants vested during the year ended December 31, 2009. The warrants will be valued 
and a corresponding expense will be recorded upon the attainment of the sales goals identified when the warrants were granted.  
   
Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services  
   

Weinberg & Company, P.A. (“Weinberg”) was our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 
2009 and 2008.  
   

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued by us for the audit and other services provided by Weinberg for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008.  
   

   
As defined by the SEC, (i) “audit fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for the audit of our 

annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in our Form 10-K, or for services that are normally provided by the 
accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years; (ii) “audit-related fees” are fees for 
assurance and related services by our principal accountant that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial 
statements and are not reported under “audit fees;” (iii) “tax fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for tax 
compliance, tax advice, and tax planning; and (iv) “all other fees” are fees for products and services provided by our principal accountant, other 
than the services reported under “audit fees,” “audit-related fees,” and “tax fees.”  
   
Audit Fees  
   

Services provided to us by Weinberg with respect to such periods consisted of the audits of our financial statements and limited reviews 
of the financial statements included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Weinberg also provided services with respect to the filing of our 
registration statements in 2009 and 2008.  
 
Audit Related Fees  
   

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “audit related fees.”  
   
Tax Fees  
   

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “tax fees.”  
   
All Other Fees  
   

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “other fees.”  
   

  

    2008      2008    
              
Audit Fees    $ 120,000     $ 153,000   
Audit-Related Fees      0       0   
Tax Fees      0       0   
All Other Fees      0       0   
Total    $ 120,000     $ 153,000   
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Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures  
   

Under the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by the independent 
registered public accounting firm in order to ensure that they do not impair the auditors’ independence. The Commission’s rules specify the 
types of non-audit services that an independent auditor may not provide to its audit client and establish the Audit Committee’s responsibility for 
administration of the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm.  
   

Consistent with the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee review and pre-approve all audit 
services and permitted non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm to us or any of our subsidiaries. The 
Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to a member of the Audit Committee and if it does, the decisions of that member must be 
presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. Accordingly, all audit services and non-audit services described in this Item 
14 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.  
 

There were no hours expended on the principal accountant’s engagement to audit the registrant’s financial statements for the most 
recent fiscal year that were attributed to work performed by persons other than the principal accountant’s full-time, permanent employees.  
 

PART IV  
 
Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statements  
   

(a)  1. Financial Statements  
   

See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.  
   

2. Financial Statement Schedules  
   

All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in 
the financial statements or notes thereto.  
   

3. Exhibits  
   

See the Exhibit Index which follows the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.  
   

(b) Exhibits  
   

See Item 15(a) (3) above.  
   

(c) Financial Statement Schedules  
   

See Item 15(a) (2) above.  
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SIGNATURES  
   

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

   

   
In accordance with the Exchange Act, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the 

capacities and on the dates indicated.  
   

 
   
 

  

      
Date: March 30, 2010  REED’S, INC.  

a Delaware corporation  
      
  By:    /s/ Christopher J. Reed  
  Christopher J. Reed  

Chief Executive Officer  

Signature    Title    Date  
          

/s/ CHRISTOPHER J. REED  
  Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of 

the Board of Directors  
  

March 30, 2010  
Christopher J. Reed    (Principal Executive Officer)      

          
/s/ JAMES LINESCH    Chief Financial Officer    March 30, 2010  

James Linesch  
  

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer)     

  

          
/s/ JUDY HOLLOWAY REED    Director    March 30, 2010  

Judy Holloway Reed          
          

/s/ MARK HARRIS    Director    March 30, 2010  
Mark Harris          

          
/s/ DANIEL S.J. MUFFOLETTO    Director    March 30, 2010  

Daniel S.J. Muffoletto          
          

/s/ MICHAEL FISCHMAN    Director    March 30, 2010  
Michael Fischman          
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

   

   

  

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of Reed’s, Inc. as filed September 7, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’s 
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

3.2  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Reed’s, Inc. as filed September 27, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.2 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

3.3  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Reed’s, Inc. as filed December 18, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.3 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

3.4  Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock of Reed’s, Inc. as filed October 12, 2004
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

3.5  Certificate of Correction to Certificate of Designations as filed November 10, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

3.6  Amended Certificate of Designation of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, filed December 4, 2009. Filed herewith.  
3.7  Bylaws of Reed’s Inc., as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 

(File No. 333-120451))  
4.1  Form of common stock certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 

(File No. 333-120451))  
4.2  Form of Series A preferred stock certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on 

Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  
10.1  Brewing Agreement between Reed’s, Inc. and The Lion Brewery, Inc. dated May 15, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 

to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2. Portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for 
confidential treatment. (File No. 333-120451))  

10.2  Note in favor of the  U.S. Small Business Administration dated December 11, 2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

10.3  Note in favor of the  U.S .Small Business Administration dated December 11, 2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-120451))  

10.4  Loan Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and California United Bank dated  November 29, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.5 to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-146012))  

10.5  Brewing Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and The Lion Brewery, Inc. dated November 1, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Form 10Q/A filed December 18, 2009)  

10.8*  Employment Agreement between Reed’s, Inc. and Neal Cohane dated August 1, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

10.9*  Employment Agreement between Reed’s, Inc. and Thierry Foucaut dated May 5, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

10.10*  Employment Agreement between Reed’s, Inc. and James Linesch dated December 29, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.10  to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

10.13  Promissory Note in favor of Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB dated February 22, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to 
Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

10.15  Loan and Security Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and First Capital Western Region LLC dated May 30, 2008 ( Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Form 10Q/A December 7, 2009)  

10.16  Amendment Number One to Loan and Security Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and First Capital Western Region LLC dated June 
16, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Current Report on Form 8K dated July 23, 2008)  

10.17  Amendment Number Two to Loan and Security Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and First Capital Western Region LLC dated June 
16, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908))  

10.18  Amendment Number Three to Loan and Security Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and First Capital Western Region LLC dated 
September 24, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
156908))  
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10.19  Waiver to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 5, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Reed’s, Inc.’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908 ))  

10.20*  2001 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 
333-120451)  

10.21  Reed’s Inc. Master Brokerage Agreement between Reed’s, Inc. and Reed’s Brokerage, Inc. dated May 1, 2008 (Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Reed’s, Inc.’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-156908 ))  

10.22*  2007 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Reed's, Inc.'s Form 10K filed March 27, 2009)  
10.23*  2009 Consultant Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 

333-157359)  
10.24  
   

Amendment Number Four to loan and Security Agreement between Reed’s Inc. and First Capital Western Region LLC dated March 
27, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Reed's, Inc.'s Form 10K filed March 27, 2009)  

10.25  Standard Offer, Agreement, and Escrow Instructions for Purchase of Real Estate dated April 23, 2009, as amended (Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Reed's, Inc.'s Form 10Q/A as filed August 18, 2009)  

10.26  Standard Industrial Commercial Lease Agreement dated May 7, 2009, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
Reed's, Inc.'s Form 10Q/A as filed August 18, 2009)  

10.27  Asset Purchase Agreement between Reed's, Inc. and Sonoma Cider Mill, Inc. dated October 19, 2009 (Incorporated by Reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to Reed's, Inc.'s Form 10Q/A as filed  December 7, 2009)  

10.28  Loan and Security Agreement by and between GemCap Lending I, LLC and Reed’s Inc. dated November 18, 2009 (Filed herewith)  
14.1  Code of Ethics (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to Reed’s, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-

157359))  
21  Subsidiaries of Reed’s, Inc., filed herewith.  
23.1  Consent of Weinberg & Co., P.A., to the incorporation by reference to the previously filed Registration Statement (SEC File No. 

333-157359), filed herewith  
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
32.1**  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002  
32.2**  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002  

*  Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.   
**  The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 accompany the Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed “ filed”  by Reed’s, Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act  
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Exhibit 3.6  
   

AMENDED  CERTIFICATE  OF DESIGNATION   
   

(Pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law)  
   

   
The undersigned, Christopher J. Reed and Judy Holloway Reed, certify that:  
 
ONE.   They are the duly elected Chief Executive Officer and Secretary, respectively, of the Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “
Corporation ”).  
 
TWO. The Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation provides for a class of its authorized shares known as Preferred Stock comprised of 
500,000 shares issuable from time to time in one or more series, of which 47,121 shares designated as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are 
currently outstanding and no shares designated as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are currently outstanding.  
 
THREE.   Pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Certificate of 
Incorporation of this Corporation (“ Certificate of Incorporation ”), the Board of Directors of the Corporation (“ Board of Directors ”) has duly 
authorized and adopted resolutions amending the Certificate of Designation originally filed April 29, 2009 and amended November 16, 2009, by 
decreasing the Conversion Price (defined hereinbelow) of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to $1.43.  
 
FOUR. The Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly authorized and adopted the following recitals and resolutions on December 4, 2009:  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of this corporation is authorized to fix the number of shares of any series of Preferred Stock and to 
determine the designation of any such series and the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions granted to or imposed upon any wholly 
unissued series of Preferred Stock; and  

   
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has previously fixed and determined the designation of, the number of shares constituting, and the 

rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions relating to a Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, pursuant to a Certificate of Designation as filed 
with the Delaware Secretary of State on April 29, 2009 and amended November 16, 2009; and  

   
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to amend and restate the Certificate of Designation originally filed April 29, 2009 and 

amended November 16, 2009, by decreasing the Conversion Price (defined hereinbelow) of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to $1.43.  
   
RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors hereby amends and restates the Certificate of Designation filed April 29, 2009 and amended 

November 16, 2009 in its entirety and designates the number of shares, and fixes the relative rights, powers and preferences thereof, and the 
limitations or restrictions of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (in addition to any provisions set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation 
that are applicable to the Preferred Stock of all classes and series), as follows:  
   



   
SERIES B CONVERTIBLE  PREFERRED STOCK   

   
A total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares of the authorized and unissued Preferred Stock of the Corporation, $10.00 stated 

value per share , are hereby designated “Series B Convertible Preferred Stock” (the “ Series B Preferred ”) with such series having the following 
rights, preferences, powers, privileges and restrictions, qualifications and limitations:  
   
1.     Rank .  The Series B Preferred shall rank (a) senior, in all matters, to (i) any class of common stock of the Corporation, including, 
without limitation, the Corporation’s common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “ Common Stock ”), and any other class or series of 
capital stock into which the Common Stock is reclassified or reconstituted, (ii) any other class or series of capital stock of the Corporation either 
specifically ranking by its terms junior to the Series B Preferred or not specifically ranking by its terms senior to or on parity with the Series B 
Preferred, and (iii) any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation into which the capital stock referred to in the preceding subclauses (i) 
and (ii) is reclassified or reconstituted (the capital stock referred to in this clause (a) is hereinafter referred to as the “ Junior Stock ”); (b) on 
parity with any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation specifically ranking by its terms on parity, in all matters expressly provided, 
with the Series B Preferred (“ Parity Stock ”); and (c) junior, in all matters expressly provided, to the Corporation’s class of Preferred Stock 
designated as Series A Convertible Preferred stock and any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation specifically ranking by its terms 
senior to the Series B Preferred (“ Senior Stock ”).  
    
2.     Dividends .  
   
(a)           Subject to the prior payment in full of any dividends to which any Senior Stock is entitled pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, 
as then amended to date, for a period of three (3) years from the date of issuance of the Series B Preferred, the holders of the Series B Preferred 
(each, a “ Series B Holder ”) shall be entitled to receive, out of funds legally available therefor, dividends (the “ Series B Dividends ”), which 
shall be cumulative and non-compounding and accrue on a daily basis from the date on which a particular share of Series B Preferred is issued, 
at an annual rate equal to five percent (5%) of the Original Purchase Price (the “ Series B Dividend Rate, ” subject to increase as provided 
below), payable as provided in Section 2(b) hereof.  As used herein, “ Original Purchase Price ” means ten dollars ($10.00).  
 
(b)            Series B Dividends payable pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof shall be payable in quarterly dividends equal to 1.25% of such Liquidation 
Value (defined below) on each of September 30, December 31, March 31 and June 30 of each year (the “ Series B Dividend Payment Date ” ), 
for a period of 36 months from the date of issuance of the Series B Preferred Convertible Preferred Stock.  Such dividends shall be payable, on 
each Series B Dividend Payment Date, in additional shares of Series B Preferred Convertible Preferred Stock (“ PIK Dividends ”), or, in the sole 
discretion of the Board of Directors, in cash or Common Stock and such dividends shall be cumulative and shall accrue whether or not declared, 
earned or payable from and after the date of issue of the Series B Preferred.  The shares of Series B Preferred distributed as a PIK Dividend shall 
be deemed to be issued and outstanding from and after such Series B Dividend Payment Date, and the amount of shares issued as a PIK 
Dividend shall have an aggregate Liquidation Value, at the Series B Dividend Payment Date equal to the value of the dividend accrued and 
payable.  The initial “ Liquidation Value ” of each share of Series B Preferred will be $10.00 per share, and thereafter, there will be added to the 
Liquidation Value of each share of Series B Preferred, as of any Series B Dividend Payment Date, the amount of any dividends payable on such 
share on that Series B Dividend Payment Date but not paid on that Series B Dividend Payment Date, whether or not such dividends are declared, 
earned or payable. The amount of Series B Dividends payable on the Series B Preferred for any period shorter than a full calendar quarter shall 
be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.    
   

2 



   
(c)           So long as any shares of Series B Preferred are outstanding, the Corporation shall not pay or declare any dividend, whether in cash or 
property, or make any other distribution on any Junior Stock, or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Junior Stock until 
all Series B Dividends as set forth in Section 2(a) shall have been paid or declared and set apart.  
 
(d)           Any Series B Dividend shall be paid in PIK Dividends, cash or shares of Common Stock, in the sole and absolute discretion of the 
Board of Directors.  
 
(e)           If the Corporation elects to pay any Series B Dividend due in Common Stock (“ Interest Shares ”), the issuance price of the Interest 
Shares will be equal to the 10-day Weighted Average Price (as defined below) of the Common Stock ending on the day prior to Series B 
Dividend Payment Date. " Weighted Average Price " means, for any security as of any date, the dollar volume-weighted average price for such 
security on the principal national securities exchange on which such equity securities are listed or admitted to trading (“ Principal Market ” ) 
during the period beginning at 9:30:01 a.m., New York Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the official open 
of trading), and ending at 4:00:00 p.m., New York Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the official close of 
trading) as reported by Bloomberg through its "Volume at Price" functions, or, if the foregoing does not apply, the dollar volume-weighted 
average price of such security in the over-the-counter market on the electronic bulletin board for such security during the period beginning at 
9:30:01 a.m., New York Time (or such other time as such market publicly announces is the official open of trading), and ending at 4:00:00 p.m., 
New York Time (or such other time as such market publicly announces is the official close of trading) as reported by Bloomberg, or, if no dollar 
volume-weighted average price is reported for such security by Bloomberg for such hours, the average of the highest closing bid price and the 
lowest closing ask price of any of the market makers for such security as reported in the "pink sheets" by Pink Sheets LLC (formerly the 
National Quotation Bureau, Inc.).  If the Weighted Average Price cannot be calculated for a security on a particular date on any of the foregoing 
bases, the Weighted Average Price of such security on such date shall be as determined by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of 
the Board of Directors, or, if the requisite approval of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained, by a nationally recognized independent 
appraiser or investment bank selected, in good faith, by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors; provided, however , in no event 
shall there be a reduction in the fair market value of such equity securities based upon a “minority” or similar discount or based upon the fact 
that there does not exist any public trading market for such equity securities.  All such determinations to be appropriately adjusted for any stock 
dividend, stock split, stock combination or other similar transaction during the applicable calculation period.  
 
3.     Liquidation .  
 
(a)           In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, or a Triggering Event 
(as defined herein) (each referred to herein as a “ Liquidation Event ”), after payment or provision for payment of debts and other liabilities of 
the Corporation and all amounts due and owing to the holders of outstanding shares of Senior Stock, if any, each holder of Series B Preferred, 
before any distribution or payment is made upon any Junior Stock, shall be entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Corporation legally 
available for distribution to stockholders (the “ Available Assets ”), an amount equal to each holder’s Liquidation Preference.  The “ Liquidation 
Preference ” payable with respect to each share of Series B Preferred shall be equal to the greater of (i) the Liquidation Value and (ii) if such 
share of Series B Preferred were then convertible into Common Stock, such amount which the holder of Series B Preferred would be entitled to 
receive in connection with the Liquidation Event if such holder had converted his, her or its Series B Preferred immediately prior to the 
occurrence of the Liquidation Event. Shares of Series B Preferred shall (i) not be entitled to any distributions in the event of a Liquidation Event 
other than a distribution in an amount equal to the Liquidation Preference, and (ii) be deemed cancelled upon full distribution of such 
Liquidation Preference.  
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(b)           If the Available Assets shall be insufficient to permit full payment of the Liquidation Preference upon a Liquidation Event to all 
holders of Series B Preferred, as well as all payments then due or due by reason of such Liquidation Event on any Parity Stock, then the holders 
of Series B Preferred and holders of such Parity Stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of the Corporation’s assets in proportion to the 
full respective distributable amounts to which they are entitled.  
 
(c)           Written notice of a Liquidation Event, stating a payment date, the amount of the Liquidation Preference and the place where said sums 
shall be payable, shall be given by mail, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the payment date stated 
therein, to all holders of Series B Preferred of record, such notice to be addressed to each such stockholder at such holder’s post office address as 
shown by the records of the Corporation.  
 
(d)           Unless otherwise provided herein, whenever the distribution provided for in this Section 3 shall be payable in property other than cash, 
the value of such property shall be the Fair Market Value.  
 
(e)           As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  
 

(i)           “ Triggering Event ” means (a) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation to any Person, (b) any 
transaction or series of transactions by which any Person or group (as such term is used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the 
beneficial owner (as so defined), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate voting power of the 
Corporation. or (c) a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or other transaction or series of related transactions (a “
Recapitalization ”) in which the stockholders of the Corporation owning a majority of the voting stock of the Corporation with the right to elect 
a majority of the Board of Directors in the aggregate immediately prior to such Recapitalization do not own a majority of such voting stock or 
voting power of the surviving, successor or continuing entity following such Recapitalization.  
    

(ii)           “ Person ” means an individual or corporation, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, 
limited liability company, joint stock company, government (or an agency or subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.  
 

(iii)           “ Affiliate ” means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, any other Person that at such time directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries Controls, or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such first Person, and, with respect to the 
Corporation, shall include any Person beneficially owning or holding, directly or indirectly, ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or 
equity interests of the Corporation or any subsidiary or any corporation of which the Corporation and its subsidiaries beneficially own or hold, in 
the aggregate, directly or indirectly, ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or equity interests.  As used in this definition, “ Control ”
means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether 
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  
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(iv)           “ Fair Market Value ” shall mean the following: (i) with respect to equity securities, (A) in the event such equity securities 

are publicly traded, the 10-day Weighted Average Price for such equity securities preceding the date of consummation of the event requiring a 
determination of Fair Market Value (the “ Determination Date ”) (B) in the event such equity securities are not publicly traded, the fair market 
value of such equity securities shall be determined by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors or, if the 
requisite approval of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained, by a nationally recognized independent appraiser or investment bank selected, in 
good faith, by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors; provided, however , in no event shall there be a reduction in the fair market 
value of such equity securities based upon a “minority” or similar discount or based upon the fact that there does not exist any public trading 
market for such equity securities; (ii) with respect to debt securities, the present value of such debt securities utilizing an interest rate equal to the 
prime rate on the Determination Date, as published in The Wall Street Journal, Eastern Edition, on such Determination Date; or (iii) with respect 
to any other property, the fair market value of such property, as determined (A) by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the 
Board of Directors or (B) if the requisite approval of the Board of Directors referred to in the preceding clause (A) cannot be obtained, by a 
nationally recognized independent appraiser selected, in good faith, by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.   
 
4.            Voting Rights .  
 
(a)         The holders of the issued and outstanding Series B Preferred shall have no voting rights except as required by law or as provided in 
Section 4(b) .  
 
(b)         At any time when shares of Series B Preferred are outstanding, in addition to any other vote required by law or the Certificate of 
Incorporation, without the written consent or affirmative vote of holders representing at least a majority of the shares of Series B Preferred then 
outstanding, the Corporation shall not issue or authorize the issuance of any Senior Stock or Parity Stock.  
 
(c)         Any action which by law requires the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of Series B Preferred shall require the consent of holders 
representing at least a majority of the shares of Series B Preferred then outstanding.  
 
5.            Conversion .  
 
(a)          Optional Conversion .  The holders of Series B Preferred shall have the following conversion rights (each shall be referred to herein as 
an “ Optional Conversion ”):  
 

(i)                 At any time after issuance the shares of Series B Preferred shall be convertible at any time and from time to time, in 
whole or in part (but not in fractions of a share), at the option of the holder thereof, until any Redemption Date, into such number of fully paid 
and nonassessable shares of Common Stock as is determined by multiplying the number of shares to be converted with the Conversion Rate.  
   

5 



   
(ii)                 The “ Conversion Rate ” shall be the Original Purchase Price divided by the Conversion Price at the time in effect for a 

share of such Series B Preferred.  The “ Conversion Price ” per share of Series B Preferred initially shall be equal to One Dollar and Forty Three 
Cents ($1.43), subject to adjustment from time to time as provided below.  
 

(iii)                 As used herein, “ Acquisition Event ” means (A) the execution of a definitive agreement with a Person that is (1) the 
beneficial owner of at least a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B Preferred, or (2) an Affiliate of (1), providing for a transaction 
which would constitute a Triggering Event or (B) the public commencement by a Person that is not  (1) the beneficial owner of at least a 
majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B Preferred, or (3) an Affiliate of  (1), of an exchange or tender offer to acquire all of the 
Common Stock.    
 
(b)          Mandatory Conversion .  At any time after issuance of the Series B Preferred, if the closing price of the Common Stock as reported by 
the Principal Market or quotation system on which such Common Stock is traded or reported equals or exceeds Two Dollars and Seventy Five 
Cents ($2.75) per share of Common Stock of the then current Conversion Price for five (5) consecutive trading days, then the Corporation shall 
have the right to cause all (but not less than all) outstanding shares of Series B Preferred to be automatically converted into shares of Common 
Stock (such conversion being referred to herein as a “ Mandatory Conversion ” and the date on which such Mandatory Conversion becomes 
effective as the “ Mandatory Conversion Date ”).  
 
(c)         Conversion of the Series B Preferred may be effected by any holder thereof upon the surrender to the transfer agent for the Series B 
Preferred, or at such other office or offices, if any, as the Board of Directors may designate, of the certificate for such shares of the Series B 
Preferred to be converted accompanied (if the name(s) in which such certificate are to be registered differ from the name(s) in which the 
certificate formerly representing shares of Series B Preferred had been registered prior to conversion) by a written notice stating the name or 
names in which such holder wishes the certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock to be issued and, if an Optional Conversion, stating 
that such holder elects to convert all or a specified whole number of such shares.  In case such notice shall specify a name or names other than 
that of such holder, such notice shall be accompanied by a payment of all transfer taxes payable upon the issuance of shares of Common Stock in 
such name or names.  As promptly as practicable, and in any event within five business days after the surrender of such certificate or certificates 
and the receipt of such notice relating thereto and, if applicable, payment of all transfer taxes (or the demonstration to the satisfaction of the 
Corporation that such taxes have been paid), the Corporation shall deliver or cause to be delivered (i) certificates representing the number of 
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable full shares of Common Stock to which the holder of shares of the Series B Preferred being converted 
shall be entitled and (ii) if less than the full number of shares of the Series B Preferred evidenced by the surrendered certificate or certificates 
being converted, a new certificate or certificates, of like tenor, for the number of shares evidenced by such surrendered certificate or certificates 
less the number of shares being converted.  
   
(d)         In the event of any Optional Conversion, such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately prior to the close of business 
on the date of the surrender of the certificate or certificates for the shares of Series B Preferred to be converted and the giving of the notice 
relating thereto, and the Person or Persons entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all 
purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of Common Stock on such date.  In the event of a Mandatory Conversion, such 
conversion shall be deemed to have been made on the Mandatory Conversion Date, and the Person or Persons entitled to receive the shares of 
Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of Common Stock 
on the Mandatory Conversion Date.  On the date on which a conversion is deemed pursuant to this Section 5(d) to have been made, the rights of 
the holder of the shares of the Series B Preferred deemed to have been converted as to the shares being converted shall cease except for the right 
to receive shares of Common Stock in accordance herewith and the corresponding rights of a holder of Common Stock thereupon created.  
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(e)         In connection with the conversion of any shares of the Series B Preferred, no fractions of shares of Common Stock shall be issued, but in 
lieu thereof the Corporation shall pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fractional interest in an amount equal to such fractional interest 
multiplied by the then effective Conversion Price.  If more than one share of the Series B Preferred shall be surrendered for conversion by the 
same holder at the same time, the number of full shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the 
total number of shares of the Series B Preferred so surrendered.  
 
(f)         The Corporation shall at all times reserve, and keep available for issuance upon the conversion of the Series B Preferred, such number of 
its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock as will from time to time be sufficient to permit the conversion of all outstanding shares of 
the Series B Preferred, and shall take all action required to increase the authorized number of shares of Common Stock if necessary to permit the 
conversion of all outstanding shares of the Series B Preferred.  
 
(g)         The Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:  
 

(i)                  Adjustments for Subdivisions or Combinations of Common Stock .  In the event the outstanding shares of Common 
Stock shall be subdivided by stock split, stock dividend or otherwise, into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price of 
the Series B Preferred then in effect shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such subdivision, be proportionately decreased.  In the event the 
outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be combined or consolidated into a lesser number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price 
of the Series B Preferred then in effect shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such combination or consolidation, be proportionately 
increased.  
    

(ii)                  Adjustments for Non-Cash Dividends and Other Distributions .  In the event the Corporation makes, or fixes a record 
date for the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive, any distribution (excluding repurchases of securities by the 
corporation not made on a pro rata basis) payable in property or in securities of the Corporation other than shares of Common Stock, then and in 
each such event the holders of Series B Preferred shall receive, at the time of such distribution, the amount of property or the number of 
securities of the Corporation that they would have received had their Series B Preferred been converted into Common Stock on the date of such 
event.  
 

(iii)                  Adjustments for Reorganizations, Reclassifications or Similar Events .  If the Common Stock shall be changed into the 
same or a different number of shares of any other class or classes of stock or other securities or property, whether by capital reorganization, 
reclassification or otherwise, then each share of Series B Preferred shall thereafter be convertible into the number of shares of stock or other 
securities or property to which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation deliverable upon conversion of such shares 
of Series B Preferred shall have been entitled upon such reorganization, reclassification or other event.  
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(iv)                  Shares Owned by Corporation .   For purposes of this Section 5(g) , the number of shares of Common Stock at any 

time outstanding shall not include any shares of Common Stock then owned or held by or for the account of the Corporation.  
 

(v)                  Certificate of Independent Accountant .  The certificate of any firm of independent public accountants of recognized 
national standing selected by the Board of Directors of the Corporation (which may be the firm of independent public accountants regularly 
employed by the Corporation) shall be presumptively correct for any computation made under this Section 5(g) .  
 

(vi)                  No Adjustments for Abandoning Dividend Distributions .   If the Corporation shall take a record of the holders of its 
Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or other distribution, and shall thereafter and before the distribution to 
stockholders thereof legally abandon its plan to pay or deliver such dividend or distribution, then thereafter no adjustment in the Conversion 
Price or the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the right of conversion granted by this Section 5(g) shall be required 
by reason of the taking of such record.  
 

(vii)                  No Adjustments for Mergers, Reorganizations, Acquisitions or Similar Events .   There shall be no adjustment of the 
Conversion Price in case of the issuance of any stock of the Corporation to the security holders of any other corporation in a merger, 
reorganization, acquisition or other similar transaction except as set forth in this Section 5(g) .  
   
 (h)         In case of any capital reorganization or reclassification of outstanding shares of Common Stock (other than a reclassification covered by 
Section 5(g)(iii) ), or in the case of a share exchange of Common Stock for securities of another corporation, or in case of any consolidation or 
merger of the Corporation with or into another corporation, or in case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation of the property of the 
Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety (each of the foregoing being referred to as a “ Transaction ”), each share of the Series B 
Preferred then owned by such holder shall thereafter be convertible into, in lieu of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion prior to 
consummation of such Transaction, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable (including cash) upon the 
consummation of such Transaction by a holder of that number of shares of Common Stock into which one share of the Series B Preferred was 
convertible immediately prior to such Transaction (including, on a pro rata basis, the cash, securities or property received by holders of Common 
Stock in any tender or exchange offer that is a step in such Transaction).  
 
(i)         Upon any adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect, the Corporation, at its expense, shall, upon the written request of any holder 
of Series B Preferred, promptly compute such adjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and furnish to each holder of Series B Preferred a 
certificate setting forth such adjustment and showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based.  
 
(j)         Upon any conversion of Series B Preferred pursuant to this Section 5 , the holder of such shares being converted shall receive any unpaid 
and accrued dividends on such shares being converted.  
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6.                Redemption .  
 
(a)         At any time after the third anniversary of the issuance of the Series B Preferred, all, but not less than all,  the shares of Series B Preferred 
outstanding may be redeemed by the Corporation (a “ Mandatory Redemption ”) at its sole discretion, at a price equal to the greater of (i) one 
hundred ten percent (110%) of the Original Purchase Price, plus an amount equal to any unpaid and accrued dividends and (ii) the Fair Market 
Value on the Redemption Date of such number of shares of Common Stock which the holder of the redeemed Series B Preferred would be 
entitled to receive had the redeemed Series B Preferred been converted immediately prior to the redemption. The right of the Corporation to 
redeem the Series B Preferred provided under this Section 6(a) , shall cease upon the occurrence of an Acquisition Event.  
 
(b)          Redemption Notice . Upon the determination by the Corporation to effectuate a Mandatory Redemption or a Partial Redemption, 
written notice of such redemption (the “ Redemption Notice ”) shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to each holder of record of Series B Preferred, at 
its post office address last shown on the records of the Corporation, not less than five (5) business days prior to the date such redemption is to 
occur (the “ Redemption Date ”).  Each Redemption Notice shall state:  
    

(i)                 the number of shares of Series B Preferred held by the holder that the Corporation shall redeem on the Redemption Date; 
 

(ii)                 the Redemption Date and the price the Corporation shall pay to the holders of Series B Preferred upon such redemption 
as determined pursuant to Section 6(a) , as applicable (the “ Redemption Price ”); and  
 

(iii)                 that the holder is to surrender to the Corporation, in the manner and at the place designated, his, her or its certificate or 
certificates representing the shares of Series B Preferred to be redeemed.  
 
(c)          Redemption Mechanics . On any Redemption Date, the Corporation shall redeem such number of shares of Series B Preferred set forth 
in the Redemption Notice.  If on any Redemption Date the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to redeem such number 
of shares of Series B Preferred set forth in the Redemption Notice, the Corporation shall redeem a pro rata portion of each Series B Preferred 
holder’s redeemable shares out of funds legally available therefor, based on the respective amounts which would otherwise be payable in respect 
of such shares to be redeemed if the legally available funds were sufficient to redeem all such shares, and shall redeem the remaining shares to 
have been redeemed as soon as practicable after the Corporation has funds legally available therefor.   The Corporation may delay or cancel any 
redemption by providing notice of such delay or cancellation to each holder of Series B Preferred that received a Redemption Notice in 
connection with such redemption as promptly as practicable following the determination by the Corporation to delay or cancel such redemption.  
 
(d)          Surrender of Certificates; Payment .  On or before the applicable Redemption Date, each holder of shares of Series B Preferred to be 
redeemed on such Redemption Date, unless such holder has exercised his, her or its right to convert such shares as provided in Section 5 , shall 
surrender the certificate or certificates representing such shares to the Corporation, in the manner and at the place designated in the Redemption 
Notice, and thereupon the Redemption Price for such shares shall be payable to the order of the person whose name appears on such certificate 
or certificates as the owner thereof, and each surrendered certificate shall be canceled and retired.  In the event less than all of the shares of 
Series B Preferred represented by a certificate are redeemed, a new certificate representing the unredeemed shares of Series B Preferred shall 
promptly be issued to such holder.  
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(e)          Rights Subsequent to Redemption .  If the Redemption Notice shall have been duly given, and if on the applicable Redemption Date the 
Redemption Price payable upon redemption of the shares of Series B Preferred to be redeemed on such Redemption Date is paid or tendered for 
payment or deposited with an independent payment agent so as to be available therefor, then notwithstanding that the certificates evidencing any 
of the shares of Series B Preferred so called for redemption shall not have been surrendered, dividends with respect to such shares of Series B 
Preferred shall cease to accrue after such Redemption Date and all rights with respect to such shares shall forthwith after the Redemption Date 
terminate, except only the right of the holders to receive the Redemption Price without interest upon surrender of their certificate or certificates 
therefor.  
    
7.            Payment of Taxes .  The Corporation shall pay all documentary, stamp, transfer and other taxes (other than taxes on income of the 
holders of shares of Series B Preferred) and other governmental charges attributable to the issuance, delivery, conversion or redemption of shares 
of Series B Preferred; provided, however , that the Corporation shall not be required to pay any taxes payable in respect of any transfer involved 
in the issuance or delivery of any certificate for such shares in a name other than that of the holder of the shares of Series B Preferred in respect 
of which such shares are being issued.  
 
8.            Exclusion of Other Rights .  Except as may otherwise be required by law, the shares of Series B Preferred shall not have any 
preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, other than those specifically set forth herein.  The shares of Series B 
Preferred shall have no preemptive or subscription rights.  
 
9.            Severability .  If any right, preference or limitation of the Series B Preferred set forth herein is invalid, unlawful or incapable of being 
enforced by reason of any rule of law or public policy, all other rights, preferences and limitations set forth herein which can be given effect 
without the invalid, unlawful or unenforceable right, preference or limitation shall, nevertheless, remain in full force and effect, and no right, 
preference or limitation herein set forth shall be deemed dependent upon any other such right, preference or limitation unless so expressed 
herein.  
 
10.            Status of Reacquired Shares .  Shares of Series B Preferred that have been issued and reacquired in any manner shall (upon 
compliance with any applicable provisions of the laws of the State of Delaware) have the status of authorized and unissued shares of Preferred 
Stock issuable in series undesignated as to series and may be redesignated and reissued.  
 
11.            Waivers .  The holders of Series B Preferred shall also be entitled to, and shall not be deemed to have waived, any other applicable 
rights granted to such holders under the Delaware General Corporation Law.  Any of the rights of the holders of Series B Preferred set forth 
herein may be waived by the affirmative consent or vote of the holders of at least a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B Preferred, 
subject to applicable law.  
   
12.            Registration of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock .  The Corporation shall register shares of the Series B Preferred, upon records to 
be maintained by the Corporation for that purpose (the “ Series B Preferred Register ”), in the name of the record holders thereof from time to 
time.  The Corporation may deem and treat the registered holder of shares of Series B Preferred as the absolute owner thereof for the purpose of 
any distribution to such holder, and for all other purposes, absent actual notice to the contrary.  
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 13.            Registration of Transfers .  The Corporation shall register the transfer of any shares of Series B Preferred in the Series B Preferred 
Register, upon surrender of certificates evidencing such Shares to the Corporation at its address specified herein.  Upon any such registration or 
transfer, a new certificate evidencing the shares of Series B Preferred so transferred shall be issued to the transferee and a new certificate 
evidencing the remaining portion of the shares not so transferred, if any, shall be issued to the transferring holder.  
   
14.            Replacement Certificates .  If any certificate evidencing Series B Preferred is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Corporation shall 
issue or cause to be issued in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation hereof, or in lieu of and substitution for such certificate, a new 
certificate, but only upon receipt of an affidavit of loss and indemnity agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation evidencing such loss, 
theft or destruction and customary and reasonable indemnity, if requested.  Applicants for a new certificate under such circumstances shall also 
comply with such other reasonable regulations and procedures and pay such other reasonable third-party costs as the Corporation may prescribe.  
 
15.            Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion .  The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized 
but unissued shares of Common Stock , solely for the purposes of effecting the conversion of the shares of Series B Preferred, such number of its 
shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of the Series B Preferred; and 
if at any time the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the conversion of all then 
outstanding shares of Series B Preferred, in addition to such other remedies as shall be available to the holders of such Preferred Stock,  the 
Corporation will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but unissued shares of 
Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes, including without limitation, engaging in best efforts to obtain 
the requisite stockholder approval of any necessary amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation.  
   

This Certificate shall become effective upon the filing thereof with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.  
 
   

*          *          *  
 
   
 

[signature page follows]  
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The Corporation has caused this Amended Certificate of Designation to be duly executed and acknowledged by its undersigned duly 

authorized officers this 4th day of December, 2009.  
 
   

 
   

 
   
   
   
   
   

  REED’S, INC.  
   
By:     /s/ Christopher J. Reed                              
Name:  Christopher J. Reed  
Title:    President & Chief Executive Officer  

  REED’S, INC.  
   
By:    /s/ Judy Holloway Reed                               
Name:  Judy Holloway Reed  
Title:    Secretary  
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LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT  
 

by and between  
 

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC,  
 

as Lender,  
 

and  
 

REED’S, INC.,  
 

as Borrower  
 
 
 
 

Dated: November 18, 2009  
   
   
   

 
 
   
  

  



 
 

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT  
 
 

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, dated as of November 18, 2009, by and between REED’S, INC. , a Delaware corporation, 
with its principal place of business located at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061 ( “Borrower” ), and GEMCAP 
LENDING I, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305, Santa Monica, California 90401. 
(together with its successors and assigns, the “Lender” ).  
 
 

R E C I T A L S :  
 

WHEREAS , Borrower desires to enter into an accounts receivable-based and inventory-based revolving loan credit facility with 
Lender; and  
 

WHEREAS , Lender is willing to provide such loans on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and 
valuable consideration, Lender and Borrower mutually covenant, warrant and agree as follows:  
 
SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION  AND CONSTRUCTION  
 

Specific Terms Defined .  The following terms (including both the singular and plurals thereof) shall have the following meanings 
unless the context indicates otherwise:  
 

1.1             “Account Debtor” or “account debtor” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.2             “Accounts” or “accounts” shall mean “accounts” as defined in the UCC, and, in addition, any and all obligations of any 
kind at any time due and/or owing to Borrower, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and all rights of Borrower to receive payment or any 
other consideration including, without limitation, invoices, contract rights, accounts receivable, general intangibles, choses-in-action, notes, 
drafts, acceptances, instruments and all other debts, obligations and liabilities in whatever form owing to Borrower from any Person, 
Governmental Authority or any other entity, all security therefor, and all of Borrower’s rights to receive payments for goods sold (whether 
delivered, undelivered, in transit or returned), which may be represented thereby, or with respect thereto, including, but not limited to, all rights 
as an unpaid vendor (including stoppage in transit, replevin or reclamation), and all additional amounts due from any Account Debtor, together 
with all Proceeds and products of any and all of the foregoing.  
 

1.3              “ ACH ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(k) hereof.  
   

1.4             “Advance” shall have the meaning as set forth in   Section 2.2(b) hereof.  
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1.5               “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, (a) any other Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled 

by, or is under common control with such Person or (b) any other Person who is a director or officer (i) of such Person, (ii) of any Subsidiary of 
such Person or (iii) of any Person described in clause (a) above.  For the purposes of this definition, control of a Person shall mean the power 
(direct or indirect) to direct or cause the direction of the management or the policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of any class 
of stock or equity of such person or by contract or otherwise.  
   

1.6               “Agreement” shall mean this Loan and Security Agreement (including all Exhibits annexed hereto and the Borrower’s 
Disclosure Schedule) as originally executed or, if amended, modified, supplemented, renewed or extended from time to time, as so amended, 
modified, supplemented, renewed or extended.  
   

1.7              “ Availability ” shall mean the lesser of (i) the Borrowing Base, and (ii) $3,000,000.  
   

1.8             “Balance Sheet” means the Borrower’s balance sheet dated as of September 30, 2009.  
   

1.9               “Borrower” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.  
   

1.10             “Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule ” means the disclosure schedule prepared by Borrower that is being delivered to Lender 
concurrently herewith.  
   

1.11            “ Borrowing Base ” shall be calculated at any time as the sum of (A) the product obtained by multiplying the outstanding 
amount of Eligible Accounts, net of all taxes, discounts, allowances and credits given or claimed, and net of all Reserves, by eighty percent 
(80%), plus (B) the lesser of (1) the product obtained by multiplying the outstanding amount of Eligible Inventory by fifty percent (50%) of the 
actual manufactured cost or invoiced cost thereof, as applicable, or (2) $1,500,000, net of all Reserves.  
 

1.12             “Borrowing Certificate” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.2(f) hereof.  
   

1.13            “ Business ” shall mean the manufacture, sale and distribution of non-alcoholic and New Age beverages, candies and ice 
creams. “New Age” beverages include natural soda, fruit juices and fruit drinks, ready-to-drink teas, sports drinks and water..  
   

1.14             “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banks located in the State of 
California are authorized or required to close under applicable banking laws.  
   

1.15             “Capital Assets” shall mean, in accordance with GAAP, fixed assets, both tangible (such as land, buildings, fixtures, 
machinery and equipment) and intangible (such as patents, copyrights, trademarks, franchises and goodwill).  
   

1.16             “Change of Control” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 10.1 hereof.  
   

1.17            “ Chattel Paper ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
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1.18           “Closing Date”  shall mean the date of this Agreement.  

   
1.19             “Collateral” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 5.1 hereof.  

   
1.20             “Collection Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2 hereof.  

   
1.21           “Collection Days” shall mean a period equal to the greater of (i) two (2) Business Days after the deposit of Collections into 

the Collection Account, or (ii) such longer period as may be required by the financial institution with whom the Collection Account is 
maintained, in either event for which interest may be charged on the aggregate amount of such deposits at the Interest Rate or, if applicable, the 
Default Interest Rate.  
 

1.22             “Collections” means with respect to any Account, all cash collections on such Account.  
   

1.23            “ Commercial Tort Claims ”  shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.24            “ Default Interest Rate ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1 hereof.  
   

1.25            “ Deposit Accounts ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.26             “Document” or “document” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.27            “ Eligible Accounts” are Accounts created by Borrower which satisfy the following criteria:  
   

(1)           such Accounts are created from, or arise in connection with, the sale of Inventory in the ordinary course of 
Borrower’s Business;  

   
(2)           such Accounts are good and valid Accounts representing undisputed bona fide indebtedness incurred by the 

Account Debtor therein named, for a fixed sum as set forth in the invoice relating thereto with respect to an unconditional sale and 
delivery upon the stated terms of goods sold by the Borrower, and collectible in accordance with their terms;  

   
(3)           the amounts of the Accounts reported to Lender are absolutely owing to Borrower and do not arise from sales on 

consignment, guaranteed sales or other terms under which payment by the Account Debtors may be conditional or contingent;  
   

(4)           the Account Debtor’s chief executive office or principal place of business is located in the United States;  
   

(5)           such Accounts do not arise from progress billings, retainages or bill and hold sales;  
   

(6)           there are no contra relationships, setoffs, counterclaims or disputes existing with respect thereto;  
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(7)             the Inventory giving rise thereto are not subject to any Liens except for the Liens of Lender;  

   
(8)             such Accounts are free and clear of all Liens except for the Liens of Lender;  

 
(9)            such Accounts are not Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor or any officer or employee thereof is 

an officer, employee or agent of or is affiliated with Borrower, directly or indirectly, whether by virtue of family membership, 
ownership, control, management or otherwise;  

   
(10)           such Accounts are not Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is the United States or any state or 

political subdivision thereof or any department, agency or instrumentality of the United States, any state or political subdivision;  
   

(11)           Borrower has delivered to Lender or Lender’s representative such documents as Lender may have requested in 
connection with such Accounts and Lender shall have received a verification of such Accounts, satisfactory to it, if sent to the Account 
Debtor or any other obligor or any bailee;  

   
(12)           there are no facts existing or threatened which might result in any material adverse change in the Account 

Debtor’s financial condition;  
   

(13)           Accounts owed by a single Account Debtor or its Affiliates which are no greater than twenty (20%) of all Eligible 
Accounts;  

   
(14)           such Accounts are not owed by an Account Debtor with respect to which more than 25% of such Account 

Debtor’s Accounts have remained unpaid for more than forty (40) days after the invoice date thereof;  
   

(15)           such Accounts have not remained unpaid for more than ninety (90)  days after the invoice date thereof;  
   

(16)           such Accounts continue to be in full conformity with the representations and warranties made by Borrower to 
Lender with respect thereto;  

   
(17)           Lender is, and continues to be, reasonably satisfied with the credit standing of the Account Debtor in relation to 

the amount of credit extended;  
   

(18)           such Accounts are not evidenced by chattel paper or an instrument of any kind with respect to or in payment of 
the Account unless such instrument is duly endorsed to and in possession of Lender or represents a check in payment of an account;  

   
(19)           such Accounts are net of any returns, discounts, claims, credits and allowances;  

   
(20)           Borrower is able to bring suit and enforce its remedies against the Account Debtor through judicial process;  
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(21)           such Accounts do not represent interest payments, late or finance charges owing to Borrower; and  

   
(22)           such Accounts are otherwise satisfactory to Lender in its sole discretion.  

 
1.28            “ Eligible Inventory” shall mean finished goods and processed Inventory owned by Borrower consisting of beverages, 

candies and ice creams, and raw materials for the manufacture thereof, based on reports furnished to Lender by Borrower that are acceptable to 
Lender in its sole discretion, excluding any Inventory having any of the following characteristics:  
 

(1)             In-transit Inventory;  
   

(2)             Inventory that is located at any warehouse or other premises other than Borrower’s premises at 12930 or 13000 
South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061, or any other warehouse expressly approved by Lender in writing;  

   
(3)             Inventory as to which Lender has not received a waiver in form and substance acceptable to Lender from the 

applicable landlord, warehouseman, filler, processor or packer in respect thereof;  
   

(4)             Inventory not subject to a duly perfected first priority security interest in Lender's favor;  
   

(5)             Inventory that is subject to any Lien in favor of any Person other than Lender that is not subordinate to Lender's 
first priority security interest on terms satisfactory to Lender in its sole discretion;  

   
(6)             Inventory on consignment from any Person, on consignment to any Person or subject to any bailment;  

   
(7)             Inventory that is damaged, defective, tainted, slow-moving or not currently saleable in the normal course of the 

Borrower's operations, or the amount of such Inventory that has been reduced by shrinkage;  
   

(8)             Inventory that the Borrower has returned, has attempted to return, is in the process of returning or intends to 
return to the vendor thereof;  

   
(9)             Inventory manufactured or produced by the Borrower pursuant to a license unless the applicable licensor has 

agreed in writing to permit the Lender to exercise its rights and remedies against such Inventory;  
   

(10)           Inventory not covered by a casualty insurance policy reasonably acceptable to Lender and under which Lender 
has been named as a loss payee and additional insured;  

   
(11)           Inventory consisting of (i) packaging (except bottle inventory approved by Lender in its sole discretion), (ii) 

work-in-process, (iii) replacement parts, (iv) cleaning supplies, (v) office supplies, (vi) Inventory held at locations carrying less than an 
aggregate of $20,000 of Inventory at actual manufactured cost or invoiced cost, as applicable, (vii) raw materials in opened or partial 
containers, and (viii) any raw materials or finished goods which are past or near the expiration date thereof;  
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(12)           Inventory with any contra relationships, setoffs, counterclaims or disputes existing with respect thereto;  

   
(13)           Inventory located at any warehouse or other storage facility as to which amounts payable by Borrower to such 

warehouse or storage facility are past due; and  
   

(14)           Inventory otherwise deemed ineligible by Lender in its sole discretion.  
   

1.29            “ Environment ” means all air, surface water, groundwater or land, including, without limitation, land surface or 
subsurface, including, without limitation, all fish, wildlife, biota and all other natural resources.  
 

1.30             “Environmental Law” or “Environmental Laws” shall mean all federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances and 
regulations now or hereafter in effect, and in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, and any judicial or administrative 
interpretation thereof, including any judicial or administrative order, consent decree or judgment relating to the regulation and protection of 
human health, safety, the environment and natural resources (including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, wetlands, land surface or 
subsurface strata, wildlife, aquatic species and vegetation).  
 

1.31             “Environmental Liabilities and Costs” shall mean, as to any Person, all liabilities, obligations, responsibilities, remedial 
actions, losses, damages, punitive damages, consequential damages, treble damages, costs and expenses (including all fees, disbursements and 
expenses of counsel, experts and consultants and costs of investigation and feasibility studies), fines, penalties, sanctions and interest incurred as 
a result of any claim or demand by any other Person, whether based in contract, tort, implied or express warranty, strict liability, criminal or civil 
statute, including any Environmental Law, permit, order or agreement with any Governmental Authority or other Person, and which arise from 
any environmental, health or safety conditions, or a Release or conditions that are reasonably likely to result in a Release, and result from the 
past, present or future operations of such Person or any of its Affiliates.  
   

1.32             “Environmental Lien” shall mean any Lien in favor of any Governmental Authority for Environmental Liabilities and 
Costs.  
   

1.33             “ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as the same now exists or may from time to 
time hereafter be amended, modified, recodified or supplemented, together with all rules, regulations and interpretations thereunder or related 
thereto.  
   

1.34             “Equipment” shall mean “equipment”, as such term is defined in the UCC, now owned or hereafter acquired by Borrower, 
wherever located, and shall include, without limitation , the machinery and equipment set forth on Exhibit 1.34   annexed hereto, and all other 
equipment, machinery, furniture, Fixtures, computer equipment, telephone equipment, molds, tools, dies, partitions, tooling, transportation 
equipment, all other tangible assets used in connection with the manufacture, sale or lease of goods or rendition of services, and Borrower’s 
interests in any leased equipment, and all repairs, modifications, alterations, additions, controls and operating accessories thereof or thereto, and 
all substitutions and replacements therefor.  
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1.35            “ Equity Interests ” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any and all shares, rights to purchase, options, warrants, 

general, limited or limited liability partnership interests, membership interests, units, participations or other equivalents of or interest in 
(regardless of how designated) equity of such Person, whether voting or nonvoting, including common stock, preferred stock, convertible 
securities or any other “equity security” (as such term is defined in Rule 3a11-1 of the General Rules and Regulations promulgated by the SEC 
(or any successor thereto) under the 1934 Act).  
   

1.36             “Event of Default” shall mean the occurrence or existence of any event or condition described in Section 11 of this 
Agreement.  
   

1.37             “Financial Statements” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 8.9 hereof.  
   

1.38             “Financing Statements” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code UCC-1 Financing Statements to be filed with 
applicable Governmental Authorities of each State or Commonwealth or political subdivisions thereof pursuant to which Lender shall perfect its 
security interest in the Collateral.  
   

1.39             “Fiscal Year” shall mean that twelve (12) month period commencing on  January 1 and ending on December 31.  
   

1.40             “Fixtures” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.41             “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in effect in the United States of America at the time of any 
determination, and which are applied on a consistent basis.  All accounting terms used in this Agreement which are not expressly defined in this 
Agreement shall have the meanings given to those terms by GAAP, unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires.  
 

1.42             “General Intangibles” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.43             “Goods” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.44             “Governmental Authority” or “Governmental Authorities” shall mean any federal, state, county or municipal 
governmental agency, board, commission, officer, official or entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative 
functions of or pertaining to government.  
   

1.45            “ Guarantor ” shall mean Christopher Reed.  
   

1.46             “Indebtedness” shall mean, with respect to any Person, all of the obligations of such Person which, in accordance with 
GAAP, should be classified upon such Person’s balance sheet as liabilities, or to which reference should be made by footnotes thereto, including 
without limitation, with respect to Borrower, in any event and whether or not so classified:  
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(a)           all debt and similar monetary obligations of Borrower, whether direct or indirect;  

 
(b)           all obligations of Borrower arising or incurred under or in respect of any guaranties (whether direct or indirect) by 

Borrower of the indebtedness, obligations or liabilities of any other Person; and  
 

(c)           all obligations of Borrower arising or incurred under or in respect of any Lien upon or in any property owned by 
such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such obligations.  
 

1.47            “ Intellectual Property ” shall mean all of the following intellectual property used in the conduct of the business of 
Borrower: (a) inventions, processes, techniques, discoveries, developments and related improvements, whether or not patentable; (b) United 
States patents, patent applications, divisionals, continuations, reissues, renewals, registrations, confirmations, re-examinations, extensions and 
any provisional applications, of any such patents or patent applications, and any foreign or international equivalent of any of the foregoing; (c) 
United States registered or pending trademarks, trade dress, service marks, service names, trade names, brand names, logos, domain names, or 
business symbols and any foreign or international equivalent of any of the foregoing and all goodwill associated therewith; (d) work 
specifications, software (including object and source code listing) and artwork; (e) technical, scientific and other know-how and information, 
trade secrets, methods, processes, practices, formulas, designs, assembly procedures, specifications owned or used by Borrower; (f) copyrights; 
(g) work for hire; (h) customer and mailing lists; and (i) any and all rights of the Seller to the name “Reed’s” or any derivation thereof, and 
Borrower’s entire customer list and database and all assets used or useful by Borrower in the conduct of its business over the internet or in any 
electronic medium, including any websites or domain names owned by Borrower.  
 

1.48           [RESERVED]  
   

1.49            “ Interest Rate ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1 hereof.  
   

1.50             “Instruments” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC  
   

1.51             “Inventory” shall mean “inventory,” as such term is defined in the UCC, now owned or hereafter acquired by Borrower, 
wherever located, and, in any event, shall include, without limitation, all raw materials, work-in-process, finished and semi-finished Inventory 
including, without limitation, all materials, parts, components and supplies relating to the manufacture or assembly thereof, packaging and 
shipping supplies relating thereto, and all other inventory, merchandise, goods and other personal property now or hereafter owned by Borrower, 
which are held for sale, exchange or lease or are furnished or are to be furnished under a contract of service or an exchange arrangement or 
which constitute raw materials, work-in-process or materials used or consumed or to be used or consumed in Borrower’s business, or the 
processing, packaging, delivery or shipping of the same, and all finished goods and the products of the foregoing, whatever form and wherever 
located; and all names or marks affixed to or to be affixed thereto for purposes of selling same by the seller, manufacturer, lessor or licensor 
thereof and all right, title and interest of Borrower therein and thereto.  
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1.52            “ Investment Property ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  

   
1.53            “ Landlord Waiver(s) ” shall mean the Landlord Waiver(s) executed by 525 South Douglas Street, LLC (“ Landlord ”) in 

the form of Exhibit 1.53 annexed hereto.  
   

1.54             “Lender” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.  
 

1.55            “ Letter-of-Credit Rights ” means “letter-of-credit rights” as such term is defined in the UCC, including rights to payment 
or performance under a letter of credit, whether or not the beneficiary thereof has demanded or is entitled to demand payment or performance.  
   

1.56             “Lien” or “lien” shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, hypothecation, assignment, lien 
(statutory or other, including, without limitation, liens imposed by any Governmental Authority), charge or other encumbrance of any kind or 
nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, pursuant to any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any financing lease having 
substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing, and the filing of any financing statement under the UCC or comparable law of 
any jurisdiction to evidence any of the foregoing) on personal or real property or fixtures.  
   

1.57             “Loan Documents” shall mean this Agreement and any and all other agreements, notes, documents, mortgages, financing 
statements, guaranties, certificates and instruments executed and/or delivered by Borrower or any other Person to Lender pursuant to and in 
connection with the Loan and this Agreement, including, without limitation, the Revolving Loan Note, the Validity Guaranty, the Landlord 
Waiver(s), the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement, the Warehouse Agreements and all other documents entered into by the parties in 
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby .  
   

1.58               “ Material Adverse Effect ” means a material adverse effect on (a) the Business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, 
results of operations or business prospects of Borrower, (b) the ability of Borrower to perform its obligations under any Loan Document to which 
it is a party, (c) the value of the Collateral or the rights of Lender therein, (d) the validity or enforceability of any of the Loan Documents, (e) the 
rights and remedies of Lender under any of such Loan Documents, or (f) the timely payment of the principal of or interest on the Loan or other 
amounts payable in connection therewith. All determinations of materiality shall be made by the Lender in its reasonable judgment.  
   

1.59            “ Material Contract ” means any contract or other arrangement (other than Loan Documents), whether written or oral, to 
which Borrower is a party as to which the breach, nonperformance, cancellation or failure to renew by any party thereto could have a Material 
Adverse Effect.  
   

1.60             “Maturity Date” shall mean November 18, 2011, or such earlier date by which the maturity of the Obligations shall have 
been accelerated pursuant to the terms hereof.  
   

1.61           “1934 Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 

1.62           “Note” shall mean the Revolving Loan Note.  
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1.63             “Obligations” shall mean all obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every kind, nature and description owing by 

Borrower to Lender pursuant to the Loan Documents, including, without limitation, principal, interest, repurchase obligations, charges, fees, 
costs and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor or otherwise, whether now existing or hereafter arising, 
whether arising before, during or after the Term or after the commencement of any case with respect to Borrower under the United States 
Bankruptcy Code or any similar statute (including, without limitation, the payment of interest and other amounts which would accrue and 
become due but for the commencement of such case), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due or not due, primary 
or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured.  
   

1.64             “Overadvance ” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.2(d) hereof.  
   

1.65           “Patent and Trademark Security Agreement” shall mean the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement in the form of 
Exhibit 1.65 annexed hereto.  
   

1.66            “ Payment Intangibles ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.67             “Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean the following:  (a) Liens granted to Lender or its Affiliates; (b) purchase money 
security interests in favor of equipment vendors upon any Capital Assets hereafter acquired (including, without limitation, capitalized or finance 
leases); provided, that , (i) no such purchase money security interest or other Lien (or capitalized or finance lease, as the case may be) with 
respect to specific future Capital Assets shall extend to or cover any other property, other than the specific Capital Assets so acquired, and the 
proceeds thereof, (ii) such mortgage, Lien or security interest secures only the cost or obligation to pay the purchase price of such specific 
Capital Assets only (or the obligations under the capitalized or finance lease), (iii) the principal amount secured thereby shall not exceed one 
hundred (100%) percent of the lesser of the cost or the fair market value (at the time of the acquisition of the Capital Assets) of the Capital 
Assets so acquired, and (iv) such purchase money security interest is permitted under Section 10.5 hereof; (c) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, 
artisans, bailees, mechanics and materialmen incurred in the ordinary course of business securing sums not overdue; (d) Liens incurred in the 
ordinary course of business in connection with worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance or other forms of governmental insurance or 
benefits, relating to employees, securing sums (i) not overdue or (ii) being diligently contested in good faith provided that adequate reserves with 
respect thereto are maintained on the books of Borrower in conformity with GAAP; (e) Liens for taxes (i) not yet due or (ii) being diligently 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, provided that adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of 
Borrower in conformity with GAAP, and which have no effect on the priority of Liens in favor of Lender or the value of the assets in which 
Lender has a Lien; and (f) such other Liens as are set forth on Exhibit  1.67 annexed hereto and made a part hereof.  
 

1.68             “Person” or “person” shall mean, as applicable, any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, limited 
liability company, limited liability partnership, business trust, unincorporated association, joint stock corporation, trust, joint venture or other 
entity or any government or any agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof.  
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1.69             “Proceeds” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC and shall also include, but not be limited to, (a) any 

and all proceeds of any and all insurance policies (including, without limitation, life insurance, casualty insurance, business interruption 
insurance and credit insurance), indemnity, warranty or guaranty payable to Borrower from time to time with respect to any of the Collateral or 
otherwise, (b) any and all payments (in any form whatsoever) made or due and payable to Borrower from time to time in connection with any 
requisition, confiscation, condemnation, seizure or forfeiture of all or any part of the Collateral by any governmental body, authority, bureau or 
agency or any other Person (whether or not acting under color of Governmental Authority) and (c) any and all other amounts from time to time 
paid or payable under or in connection with any of the Collateral.  
   

1.70            “ Promissory Note ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.71           [RESERVED]  
   

1.72            “ Release ” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, 
dumping, or disposing of a Hazardous Substance into the Environment.  
   

1.73             “Reserves” shall mean, as of any date of determination, such amounts as Lender  may from time to time establish and 
revise in good faith reducing the amount of the Availability (a) to reflect events, conditions, contingencies or risks which, as determined by 
Lender in good faith, do or may adversely affect either (i) the Collateral or any other property which is security for the Obligations or its value, 
(ii) the assets, Business or prospects of Borrower, (iii) the security interests and other rights of Lender in the Collateral (including the 
enforceability, perfection and priority thereof), or (iv) Borrower’s ability to perform its Obligations under the Loan Documents; or (b) in respect 
of any state of facts which Lender determines in good faith constitutes an Event of Default or may, with notice or passage of time or both, 
constitute an Event of Default.  
 

1.74             “Responsible Officer” shall mean the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer or the Chief Financial Officer 
of Borrower.  
   

1.75           “Revolving Loan Commitment” shall mean the difference between (i) Availability and (ii) the sum of the Reserves plus 
matured and unpaid Obligations.  
   

1.76           “Revolving Loan Note” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.2(b) hereof.  
   

1.77            “ Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.  
   

1.78             “Revolving Loans” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.2(a) hereof.  
   

1.79           “SEC” shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.  
   

1.80            “ SEC Reports ” shall mean the Borrower’s periodic and other reports filed by the Borrower with the SEC pursuant to the 
1934 Act, in each case as filed with the SEC and including the information and documents (other than exhibits) incorporated therein by 
reference.  
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1.81            “ Securities ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  

   
1.82             “Software” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  

 
1.83             “Subsidiary” shall mean, as to any Person, a corporation, limited liability company or other entity with respect to which 

more than fifty (50%) percent of the outstanding Equity Interests of each class having voting power is at the time owned by such Person or by 
one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person.  
   

1.84               “Tangible Chattel Paper ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the UCC.  
   

1.85             “Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.  
   

1.86             “UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as presently enacted in   California (or any successor legislation 
thereto), and as the same may be amended from time to time, and the state counterparts thereof as may be enacted in such states or jurisdictions 
where any of the Collateral is located or held.  
   

1.87            “ Validity Guaranty ”shall mean that certain guaranty made by Guarantor in favor of Lender, in the form of Exhibit 1.87 
annexed hereto.  
   

1.88            “ Warehouse Agreements ” shall mean the agreements, of even date herewith, among Lender, Borrower and each of 
United States Cold Storage, Valley Distributing & Storage, Advanced Packaging & Distribution Specialists, La Grou, Castle & Cooke Cold 
Storage, Gress Refrigerated Services and United Warehouses, in the form of Exhibit 1.88   annexed hereto.  
   

1.89             Rules of Interpretation and Construction. In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires:  
   

(a)           All terms used herein which are defined in the UCC  shall have the meanings given therein unless otherwise 
defined in this Agreement;  
   

(b)           Sections mentioned by number only are the respective Sections of this Agreement as so numbered;  
 

(c)           Words importing a particular gender shall mean and include the other gender and words importing the singular 
number mean and include the plural number and vice versa;  
   

(d)           Words importing persons shall mean and include firms, associations, partnerships (including limited partnerships), 
societies, trusts, corporations, limited liability companies or other legal entities, including public or governmental bodies, as well as natural 
persons;  
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(e)           Each reference in this Agreement to a particular person shall be deemed to include a reference to such person's 

successors and permitted assigns;  
   

(f)           Any headings preceding the texts of any Section of this Agreement, and any table of contents or marginal notes 
appended to copies hereof are intended, solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect 
its meaning, construction or effect;  
   

(g)           If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid or unenforceable by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions thereof;  
   

(h)           The terms “herein”, “hereunder”, “hereby”, “hereto”, and any similar terms as used in this Agreement refer to this 
Agreement; the term “heretofore” means before the date of execution of this Agreement; and the term “hereafter” shall mean after the date of 
execution of this Agreement;  
   

(i)            If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be determined to be apparently contrary to or conflicting 
with any other clause, provision or section of this Agreement, then the clause, provision or section containing the more specific provisions shall 
control and govern with respect to such apparent conflict;  
   

(j)            Unless otherwise specified, (i) all accounting terms used herein or in any Loan Document shall be interpreted in 
accordance with GAAP, (ii) all accounting determinations and computations hereunder or thereunder shall be made in accordance with GAAP 
and (iii) all financial statements required to be delivered hereunder or thereunder shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP;  
   

(k)           An Event of Default that occurs shall exist or continue or be continuing unless such Event of Default is waived by 
Lender in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and  
   

(l)           The word “and” when used from time to time herein shall mean “or” or “and/or” if such meaning is expansive of 
the rights or interests of Lender in the given context.  
   
   
SECTION 2.  LOANS  
 

2.1             [RESERVED]  
   

2.2             Revolving Loans .  
   

(a)           Lender may, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein and the satisfaction of the closing and funding 
conditions set forth herein, make revolving loans to Borrower (“ Revolving Loans ”) prior to the Maturity Date in amounts requested by 
Borrower from time to time, but not more than 15 times each month, provided that the requested Revolving Loan would not cause the 
outstanding Revolving Loans to exceed the Revolving Loan Commitment existing immediately prior to the making of the requested Revolving 
Loan.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow Revolving Loans, as set forth in this Agreement.  
   

(b)           Revolving Loans may be drawn in tranches of not less than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) (each drawing, an “
Advance ” and collectively, the “ Advances ”). The obligation of Borrower to repay the Revolving Loans shall be evidenced by a note (the “
Revolving Loan Note ”) in the form of Exhibit 2.2(b)   hereto and dated the date hereof.  
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(c)           Subject to mandatory payment of Revolving Loans as set forth in Section 2.2(d) below,  the principal amount of the 

Revolving Loans shall be payable on the Maturity Date.  
   

(d)           Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, Borrower shall repay the Revolving Loans immediately at any 
time and from time to time in an amount by which the outstanding balance of the Revolving Loans exceeds the Revolving Loan Commitment, as 
determined by Lender (an “ Overadvance ”).  
   

(e)           Borrower may prepay the entire unpaid principal sum of the Revolving Loans without premium or penalty, except as 
set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.  
 

(f)           Whenever Borrower desires an Advance, Borrower will notify Lender by delivery of a borrowing certificate certified 
by a Responsible Officer (“ Borrowing Certificate ”) no later than one (1) Business Day prior to the date of the proposed Advance, setting forth 
in reasonable detail, as of the date set forth on the Borrowing Certificate, (i) a schedule of all Accounts; (ii) a schedule of Eligible Accounts and 
the calculation of the Advance requested in connection therewith, (iii) a schedule of all Inventory, and (iv) a schedule of Eligible Inventory 
setting forth the calculation of Eligible Inventory on which such Advance is based and the calculation of the Advance requested in connection 
therewith, which Borrowing Certificate shall in all respects be subject to Lender’s review and approval. In addition, Borrower shall furnish 
Lender with a Borrowing Certificate weekly on each Tuesday during the Term setting forth such information, irrespective of whether Borrower 
has then requested an Advance. Lender shall be entitled to rely on any facsimile or electronic transmission of a Borrowing Certificate given by a 
person who Lender reasonably believes to be a Responsible Officer, and Borrower shall indemnify and hold Lender harmless for any damages or 
loss suffered by Lender as a result of such reliance. The funding of each Advance shall be made in accordance with the applicable Borrowing 
Certificate as approved by Lender.  
 

(g)           Remittances from Account Debtors and all other proceeds of Accounts and other Collateral shall be directed to 
Lender and deposited in an account at a financial institution selected by Lender (the “ Collection Account ”).  Borrower shall cause all 
Collections with respect to all Accounts to be sent directly to Lender’s address set forth in this Agreement or in accordance with wire 
instructions as provided by Lender pursuant to a written instruction approved by Lender and delivered to all Account Debtors, which instruction 
may not be modified or terminated without Lender’s prior written consent in each case. Once instituted, such payment system shall remain in 
effect unless Lender directs otherwise.  Borrower shall bear all risk of loss of any funds deposited into such account except to the extent such 
loss is caused by the gross negligence or the willful misconduct of Lender.  In connection therewith, Borrower shall execute such lockbox and/or 
bank account agreements as Lender shall specify from time to time.  Any collections or other Collateral proceeds received by Borrower from any 
source whatsoever shall be held in trust for the benefit of Lender and immediately remitted to Lender in kind.  
   

(h)           In the event that Borrower receives any Collections that should have been sent to the Collection Account, Borrower 
shall, promptly upon receipt and in any event within one Business Day of receipt, forward such Collections directly to Lender, in the form 
received, and promptly notify Lender of such event.  Until so forwarded, such Collections shall be held in trust for the benefit of Lender.  
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(i)           Subject to charges for Collections Days, all amounts deposited into the Collection Account will, for the purposes of 

calculating the Borrowing Base and interest, be credited to the aggregate outstanding amount of the Revolving Loans on the date of deposit in 
the Collection Account.  No checks, drafts or other instruments received by Lender shall constitute final payment to Lender unless and until such 
instruments have actually been collected.  
   

(j)           All payments of principal, interest, fees, costs, expenses and other charges provided for in this Agreement or any 
other Loan Document that have not been paid to Lender on the due dates thereof, and any chargeback on an Eligible Account against which an 
Advance was made, shall be added to the principal amount of the Revolving Loans, and shall bear interest at the Default Interest Rate.  
   

( k)            Application of Collections and Proceeds of Collateral :  
   

1.           So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and remain outstanding, Lender agrees to apply all 
Collections as follows: first, to Overadvances; second, to all fees, costs and expenses; third, to accrued and unpaid interest; fourth, to 
matured and unpaid Obligations; and fifth, the principal amount of the Revolving Loans.  

   
2.           If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Lender may apply Collections, any other 

proceeds of Collateral and all other payments received by Lender to the payment of the Obligations in such manner and in such order as 
Lender may elect in its sole discretion.  

 
3.           In addition to the foregoing application of Collections, in order to satisfy Borrower’s payment of amounts 

due under the Revolving Loans and all fees, expenses and charges with respect thereto that are due and payable under this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document, Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Lender to initiate manual and automatic electronic (debit and 
credit) entries through the Automated Clearing House or other appropriate electronic payment system (“ ACH ”) to all deposit accounts 
maintained by Borrower, wherever located. At the request of the Lender, Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver to the institution 
set forth below (with a copy to the Lender) any ACH agreement, voided check, information and/or direction letter reasonably necessary 
to so instruct Borrower’s depository institution.  Borrower (i) shall maintain in all respects this ACH arrangement; (ii) shall not change 
depository institutions without Lender’s prior written consent, and if consent is received, shall immediately execute similar ACH 
instruction(s), and (iii) waive any and all claims for loss or damage arising out of debits or credits to/from the depository institution, 
whether made properly or in error.  Borrower has communicated and instructed the institutions set forth below:  

   

   

  

Bank Name:  City National Bank  
Address:  3424 Carson Street,  
  Torrance, CA 90503  
ABA #:  122016066  
Account #:  017236482  
Phone:  310-264-2919  
Fax:  310-264-2906  
Reference:  Reed’s  
Contact Person:  Jackie Saidian  
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2.3            Maximum Credit.  The aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Loans shall not exceed $3,000,000.  

 
2.4            Reserves. Without limiting any other rights and remedies of Lender hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the 

Availability shall be subject to Lender's continuing right, in its sole discretion in good faith, from time to time, to withhold a Reserve from 
Availability.  
 

2.5            Use of Proceeds. Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Revolving Loans solely for (i) payment in full of any existing senior 
debt secured by the Collateral; or (ii) ordinary course working capital purposes in its Business, including without limitation, the payment of any 
fees hereunder.  
 

2.6            Repayment. Borrower shall repay the Revolving Loans and other Obligations in accordance with the Revolving Loan Note 
and this Agreement  
   
   
SECTION 3.  INTEREST, FEES AND CHARGES  
 

3.1             Interest.  
   

(a)             Interest on the unpaid principal balance of Revolving Loans, including interest charges for Collection Days,  shall 
be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 days and shall accrue at the rate of Eighteen Percent (18%) per 
annum (the “ Interest Rate ”).   All accrued interest on the Revolving Loans, including interest charges for Collection Days, shall be due and 
payable in arrears monthly on the first Business Day of each month.  

   
(b)             Following and during the continuation of an Event of Default, interest on the unpaid principal balance of the 

Revolving Loans shall accrue at a rate equal to Twenty-Four Percent (24%) per annum (the “ Default Interest Rate ”).  
 

3.2             Fees. Borrower shall pay Lender, or Lender’s designee, the fees set forth in Exhibit 3.2 . Such fees, other than the audit fees 
referenced therein, shall be deemed fully earned on the date hereof, shall be paid from Loan proceeds, and not be subject to rebate or proration 
for any reason.  
 

3.3             Fees and Expenses . Borrower shall pay, on Lender's demand, all costs, expenses, filing fees and taxes payable in 
connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, recording, administration, collection, liquidation, defense and enforcement of the Loan 
Documents, Lender's rights in the Collateral, and all other existing and future agreements or documents contemplated herein or related hereto, 
including any amendments, waivers, supplements or consents which may now or hereafter be made or entered into in respect hereof, or in any 
way involving claims or defenses asserted by Lender or claims or defenses against Lender asserted by Borrower or any third party directly or 
indirectly arising out of or related to the relationship between Borrower and Lender, including, but not limited to the following, whether incurred 
before, during or after the Term or after the commencement of any case with respect to Borrower under the United States Bankruptcy Code or 
any similar or successor statute: (a) all costs and expenses of filing or recording (including UCC Financing Statement and mortgage filing fees); 
(b) all title insurance and other insurance premiums, appraisal fees, fees incurred in connection with any environmental report and audit, survey 
and search fees and charges; (c) all fees relating to the collection and wire transfer of loan proceeds, including lockbox charges, and other funds 
and fees for returned checks; and (d) all costs, fees and disbursements of counsel to Lender. If any fees, costs or charges payable to Lender 
hereunder are not paid when due, such amounts shall be added to the principal amount of the Revolving Loans and accrue interest at the Default 
Interest Rate until paid.  
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3.4             Savings Clause . It is intended that the Interest Rate and the Default Interest Rate shall never exceed the maximum rate, if 

any, which may be legally charged in the State of California for loans made to corporations (the “ Maximum Rate ”).  If the provisions for 
interest contained in the Revolving Loan Note would result in a rate higher than the Maximum Rate, the interest shall nevertheless be limited to 
the Maximum Rate and any amounts which may be paid toward interest in excess of the Maximum Rate shall be applied to the reduction of 
principal, or, at the option of Lender, returned to the Borrower.  
 
   
SECTION 4.  TERM.  
 

4.1             Term . This Agreement shall continue until all Obligations shall have been indefeasibly paid in full (the “Term” ).  
   

4.2            Early Termination; Loan Prepayment Fees.  
 

(a)           Lender shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time upon or after the occurrence of an Event of 
Default.  
 

(b)           Except as set forth in Sections 4.2(c) hereof, the Revolving Loans shall be prepayable by Borrower without premium 
or penalty.  
 

(c)           Borrower may prepay the entire unpaid principal sum of the Revolving Loans without premium or penalty, provided , 
however , that , (i) such prepayment is no less than the amount of the remaining outstanding principal sum of all outstanding Revolving Loans, 
(ii) as part of such prepayment, Borrower shall pay Lender all other amounts due to Lender pursuant to the Revolving Loan Note, this 
Agreement and other Loan Documents, and  (iii) in addition, in the event Borrower makes such prepayment during the first nine (9) months of 
the Term, then Borrower shall pay to Lender an amount equal to $60,000 (representing two percent (2%) of the maximum Revolving Loan 
Commitment of $3,000,000) (the “ Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee ”).  The Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee is intended to compensate 
Lender for committing and deploying funds for Borrower’s Revolving Loans pursuant to the Agreement and for Lender’s loss of investment of 
such funds in connection with such early termination, and is not intended as a penalty.  
 

(d)           The Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee also shall be due and payable by Borrower to Lender if Lender accelerates the 
payment of the Obligations during the first nine (9) months of the Term due to the occurrence of an Event of Default.  
 
   
SECTION 5.  COLLATERAL.  
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5.1             Security Interests in Borrower’s Assets . As collateral security for the payment and performance of the Obligations, 

Borrower hereby grants and conveys to Lender a first priority continuing security interest in and Lien upon all now owned and hereafter acquired 
property and assets of Borrower and the Proceeds and products thereof (which property, assets and Proceeds, together with all other collateral 
security for the Obligations now or hereafter granted to or otherwise acquired by Lender, are referred to herein collectively as the “Collateral” ), 
including, without limitation, all property of Borrower now or hereafter held or possessed by Lender, and including the following:  
   

 

  

  (a)  Accounts;  
      
  (b)  Chattel Paper;  
      
  (c)  Commercial Tort Claims;  
      
  (d)  Deposit Accounts;  
      
  (e)  Documents;  
      
  (f)  Electronic Chattel Paper;  
      
  (g)  Equipment;  
      
  (h)  Fixtures;  
      
  (i)  General Intangibles;  
      
  (j)  Goods;  
      
  (k)  Instruments;  
      
  (l)  Inventory;  
      
  (m)  Investment Property;  
      
  (n)  Letter-of-Credit Rights;  
      
  (o)  Payment Intangibles;  
      
  (p)  Promissory Notes;  
      
  (q)  Software;  
      
  (r)  Tangible Chattel Paper;  
      
  (s)  Securities (whether certificated or uncertificated);  
      
  (t)  Warehouse receipts;  
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(u)           Cash monies;  

   
(v)           Tax and duty refunds;  

   
(w)           Intellectual Property;  

 
(x)           All present and future books and records relating to any of the above including, without limitation, all present and 

future books of account of every kind or nature, purchase and sale agreements, invoices, ledger cards, bills of lading and other shipping 
evidence, statements, correspondence, memoranda, credit files and other data relating to the Collateral or any Account Debtor, together with the 
tapes, disks, diskettes and other data and software storage media and devices, file cabinets or containers in or on which the foregoing are stored 
(including any rights of Borrower with respect to any of the foregoing maintained with or by any other Person);  
   

(y)           All of Borrower’s real property as well as any and all fixtures and improvements thereto, and any and all interests 
therein, wherever located; and  
   

(z)           Any and all products and Proceeds of the foregoing in any form including, without limitation, all insurance claims, 
warranty claims and proceeds and claims against third parties for loss or destruction of or damage to any or the foregoing.  
   

5.2             Financing Statements . Borrower hereby authorizes Lender to file Financing Statements with respect to the Collateral in 
form acceptable to Lender and its counsel, and hereby ratifies any actions taken by Lender prior to the date hereof to file such Financing 
Statements.  Borrower shall, at all times, do, make, execute, deliver and record, register or file all Financing Statements and other instruments, 
acts, pledges, leasehold or other mortgages, amendments, modifications, assignments and transfers (or cause the same to be done), and will 
deliver to Lender such instruments and/or documentation evidencing items of Collateral, as may be requested by Lender to better secure or 
perfect Lender's security interest in the Collateral or any Lien with respect thereto.   Borrower acknowledges that it is not authorized to file any 
Financing Statement or amendment or termination statement with respect to any Financing Statement without the prior written consent of Lender 
and agrees that it will not do so without the prior written consent of Lender.  
   

5.3            License Grant . Borrower hereby grants to Lender an irrevocable, non-exclusive, worldwide license without payment of 
royalty or other compensation to Borrower, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to use or otherwise exploit in 
any manner as to which authorization of the holder of such Intellectual Property would be required, and to license or sublicense such rights in to 
and under, any Intellectual Property now or hereafter owned by or licensed to Borrower, and wherever the same may be located, including in 
such license access to all media in which any of such Intellectual Property may be recorded or stored and to all software and hardware used for 
the compilation or printout thereof, and represents, promises and agrees that any such license or sublicense is not and will not be in conflict with 
the contractual or commercial rights of any third Person and subject, in the case of trademarks and service marks, to sufficient rights to quality 
control and inspection in favor of Borrower to avoid the risk of invalidation of said trademarks and service marks.  The foregoing license will 
terminate on the indefeasible payment in full of all Obligations; provided , however , that any license, sublicense, or other rights granted by 
Lender pursuant to such license during its term shall remain in effect in accordance with its terms.  
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5.4             Representations, Warranties and Covenants Concerning the Collateral. Borrower represents, warrants (each of which 

such representations and warranties shall be deemed repeated upon the making of each request for a Revolving Loan and made as of the time of 
each and every Revolving Loan hereunder) and covenants as follows:  
 

(a)           All of the Collateral (i) is owned by it free and clear of all Liens  (including any claim of infringement) except those 
in Lender’s favor and Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) is not subject to any agreement prohibiting the granting of a Lien or requiring notice of 
or consent to the granting of a Lien.  
   

(b)           It shall not encumber, mortgage, pledge, assign or grant any Lien upon any Collateral or any other assets to anyone 
other than the Lender and except for Permitted Encumbrances.  
   

(c)           The Liens granted pursuant to this Agreement, upon the filing of Financing Statements in respect of Borrower in 
favor of the Lender in the applicable filing office of the state of organization of Borrower, the recording of the Liens in favor of the Lender in the 
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and the U.S. Copyright Office, as applicable, and the taking of any actions required under the laws of 
jurisdictions outside the United States with respect to Intellectual Property included in the Collateral which is created under such laws, constitute 
valid perfected first priority security interests in all of the Collateral in favor of the Lender, as security for the prompt and complete payment and 
performance of the Obligations, enforceable in accordance with the terms hereof.  
   

(d)           No security agreement, mortgage, deed of trust, financing statement, equivalent security or Lien instrument or 
continuation statement covering all or any part of the Collateral is or will be on file or of record in any public office, except those relating to 
Permitted Encumbrances.  
   

(e)           It shall not dispose of any of the Collateral whether by sale, lease or otherwise except for (i) the sale of Inventory in 
the ordinary course of business and (ii) the disposition or transfer in the ordinary course of business of Equipment only to the extent that the 
proceeds of any such disposition are used to acquire replacement Equipment which is subject to the Lender’s security interest or are used to 
repay the Obligations.  
   

(f)           It shall defend the right, title and interest of the Lender in and to the Collateral against the claims and demands of all 
Persons whomsoever, and take such actions, including (i) all actions necessary to grant the Lender “control” of any Investment Property, Deposit 
Accounts, Letter-of-Credit Rights or Electronic Chattel Paper owned by it, with any agreements establishing control to be in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Lender, (ii) the prompt (but in no event later than three (3) Business Days following the Lender’s request therefor) delivery to 
the Lender of all original Instruments, Chattel Paper, negotiable Documents and certificated Securities owned by it (in each case, accompanied 
by stock powers, allonges or other instruments of transfer executed in blank), (iii) notification to third parties of the Lender’s interest in 
Collateral at the Lender’s request, and (iv) the institution of litigation against third parties as shall be prudent in order to protect and preserve its 
and/or the Lender’s interests in the Collateral.  
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(g)           It shall promptly, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after the same is acquired by it, notify the Lender 

of any Commercial Tort Claim acquired by it and, unless otherwise consented to by the Lender, it shall enter into a supplement to this 
Agreement granting to the Lender a Lien in such Commercial Tort Claim for the benefit of Lender.  
   

(h)           It shall perform in a reasonable time all other steps requested by the Lender to create and maintain in the Lender’s 
favor a valid perfected first Lien in all Collateral subject only to Permitted Encumbrances.  
   

(i)             [RESERVED]  
   

(j)            All Accounts (i) represent complete bona fide transactions which require no further act under any circumstances on 
its part to make such Accounts payable by the Account Debtors, (ii) are not subject to any present, future contingent offsets or counterclaims, 
and (iii) do not represent bill and hold sales, consignment sales, guaranteed sales, sale or return or other similar understandings or obligations of 
any Affiliate or Subsidiary of the applicable Borrower.  It has not made, nor will it make, any agreement with any Account Debtor for any 
extension of time for the payment of any Account, any compromise or settlement for less than the full amount thereof, any release of any 
Account Debtor from liability therefor, or any deduction therefrom except a discount or allowance for prompt or early payment allowed by it in 
the ordinary course of its business consistent with historical practice and as previously disclosed to the Lender in writing.  
   

(k)           It shall keep and maintain its Equipment in good operating condition, except for ordinary wear and tear, and shall 
make all necessary repairs and replacements thereof so that the value and operating efficiency shall at all times be maintained and preserved.  It 
shall not permit any such items to become a fixture to real estate or accessions to other personal property.  
   

(l)            It shall maintain and keep all of its books and records concerning the Collateral at its executive offices listed in 
Section 5.4(n) of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule.  
   

(m)           Section 5.4(m) of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule lists all banks and other financial institutions at which it 
maintains deposits and/or other accounts, and such Schedule correctly identifies the name, address and telephone number of each such 
depository, the name in which the account is held, a description of the purpose of the account, and the complete account number.  It shall not 
establish any depository or other bank account with any financial institution (other than the accounts set forth on Section 5.4(m) of the 
Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule) without providing Lender with written notification thereof and providing similar information related thereto.  
   

(n)           On the date hereof, its exact legal name (as indicated in the public record of its jurisdiction of organization), 
jurisdiction of organization, organizational identification number, if any, from the jurisdiction of organization, and the location of its chief 
executive office and all other offices or locations out of which it conducts business or operations, are specified on Section 5.4(n) of the 
Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule.  It has furnished to the Lender a certified charter, certificate of incorporation or other organization document 
and long-form good standing certificate as of a date which is within thirty (30) days of the date hereof.  It is organized solely under the law of the 
jurisdiction so specified and has not filed any certificates of domestication, transfer or continuance in any other jurisdiction.  Except as otherwise 
indicated on Section 5.4(n) of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule, the jurisdiction of its organization of formation is required to maintain a 
public record showing it to have been organized or formed.  Except as specified on Section 5.4(n) of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule, it has 
not changed its name, jurisdiction of organization, chief executive office or sole place of business or its corporate structure in any way (e.g., by 
merger, consolidation, change in corporate form or otherwise) within the last five years and has not within the last five years become bound 
(whether as a result of merger or otherwise) as a grantor under a security agreement entered into by another Person, which has not heretofore 
been terminated.  
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(o)           It will not, except upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Lender and delivery to the Lender of all additional 

financing statements and other documents reasonably requested by the Lender to maintain the validity, perfection and priority of the security 
interests provided for herein:  (i) change its jurisdiction of organization or the location of its chief executive office from that referred to in 
Section 5.4(n) of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule; or (ii) change its name, identity or organizational structure.  
 

(p)           None of the Collateral is subject to any prohibition against encumbering, pledging, hypothecating or assigning the 
same or requires notice or consent to Borrower’s doing of the same.  

   
 
SECTION 6.  CONDITIONS TO INITIAL LOANS.  
 

The obligation of Lender to make the initial Revolving Loans shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver by Lender, prior thereto or 
concurrently therewith, of each of the following conditions precedent:  
 

6.1             Loan Documents . Each of the Loan Documents shall have been duly and properly authorized, executed and delivered by 
Borrower and the other parties thereto and shall be in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  
 

6.2             Representations and Warranties . Each of the representations and warranties made by or on behalf of Borrower to Lender 
in this Agreement and in other Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof, provided that any such 
representation or warranty that is qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date hereof.  
 

6.3             Certified Copies of Corporate Documents . Lender shall have received from Borrower, certified by a duly authorized 
officer to be true and complete on and as of a date which is not more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date hereof, a copy of each of (a) 
the certificate of incorporation or such other formation documents of Borrower in effect on such date of certification, and (b) the by-laws of 
Borrower in effect on such date.  
 

6.4             Proof of Corporate Action . Lender shall have received from Borrower a copy, certified by a duly authorized officer to be 
true and complete on and as of the date which is not more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date hereof, of the records of all corporate 
action taken by Borrower to authorize (a) its execution and delivery of each of the Loan Documents to which it is or is to become a party as 
contemplated or required by this Agreement, (b) its performance of all of its agreements and obligations under each of such documents, and (c) 
the incurring of the Obligations contemplated by this Agreement.  
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6.5             Legal Opinion . Lender shall have received a written legal opinion, addressed to Lender, dated the date hereof, from counsel 

for Borrower.  Such legal opinion shall be acceptable to Lender and its counsel.  
 

6.6             Collateral . Lender shall have obtained a first, perfected security interest in the Collateral of Borrower, subject only to the 
Permitted Encumbrances.  
 

6.7             Insurance . Lender shall have received evidence of insurance, additional insured and loss payee endorsements required 
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, and certificates of insurance policies and/or 
endorsements naming Lender as additional insured and loss payee.  
 

6.8             Validity of Collateral Representation. Lender shall have received a statement by the appropriate officers of the Borrower 
which shall represent and certify the validity of the Collateral.  
 

6.9             ACH Agreement. Lender shall have received from Borrower an agreement executed by Borrower which irrevocably 
authorizes Lender to initiate manual and automatic electronic (debit and credit) entries through the Automated Clearing House or other 
appropriate electronic payment system to all deposit accounts maintained by Borrower, wherever located.  
 

6.10           IRS Form 4506. Lender shall have received from Borrower an executed Form 4506 to be submitted to the Internal Revenue 
Service which shall grant Lender access to Borrower’s tax returns.  
 

6.11          IRS Form W-9. Lender shall have received from Borrower an executed Form W-9 to be submitted to the Internal Revenue 
Service which shall allow Lender to verify Borrower’s tax identification number(s).  
 

6.12           Pay Proceeds Letter . Borrower shall have delivered to Lender a pay proceeds letter with respect to the disbursement of the 
proceeds of the initial Revolving Loans in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, which letter shall provide for, among other things, the 
payment or reimbursement of all costs and expenses incurred by Lender in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.  
 
   
SECTION 7.  CONDITIONS TO MAKING ALL LOANS.  
 

The obligations of Lender to make all Revolving Loans hereunder shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver by Lender, prior thereto 
or concurrently therewith, of each of the following conditions precedent:  
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7.1             Applications and Compliance . The application for such Revolving Loans shall have been made by Borrower to Lender in 

accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement and in compliance with all provisions of this Agreement.  
 

7.2             Representations and Warranties . Each of the representations and warranties made by or on behalf of Borrower to Lender 
in this Agreement or in other Loan Documents shall have been true and correct in all material respects when made (provided that any such 
representation or warranty that is qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct in all respects), shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, be 
deemed to be repeated on and as of the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender hereunder and shall be true and correct in all respects on and as 
of each such date, except to the extent that any of such representations and warranties relate, by the express terms thereof, solely  to a date prior 
to the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender hereunder, and Lender shall have received a certification from a Responsible Officer with respect 
to the foregoing  in form and substance satisfactory to Lender.  
 

7.3             Performance, etc. Borrower shall have duly and properly performed, complied with and observed each of its covenants, 
agreements and obligations contained in this Agreement and in any other Loan Documents on the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender 
hereunder, and Lender shall have received a certification from a Responsible Officer with respect to the foregoing in form and substance 
satisfactory to Lender.  No event shall have occurred on or prior to the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender hereunder and be continuing on 
the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender hereunder, and no condition shall exist on the date of each Revolving Loan by Lender hereunder, 
which constitutes an Event of Default or which would, with notice or the lapse of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default under this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document, and Lender shall have received a certification from a Responsible Officer with respect to the 
foregoing  in form and substance satisfactory to Lender.  
   
   
SECTION 8.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.  
 

Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Lender, knowing and intending that Lender shall rely thereon in making the Revolving 
Loan contemplated hereby (each of which representations and warranties shall be continuing unless expressly made in relation only to a specific 
date), that:  
 

8.1            Corporate Existence:  Good Standing.  
 

(a)           Borrower (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) is in good standing in all other jurisdictions in which it is required to be qualified to do business as a foreign 
corporation, and (iii) has all requisite corporate power and authority and full legal right to own or to hold under lease its properties and to carry 
on the business as presently engaged.  
   

(b)           Borrower has corporate power and authority and has full legal rights to enter into each of the Loan Documents to 
which it is a party, and to perform, observe and comply with all of its agreements and obligations under each of such documents.  
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8.2            No Violation, etc. The execution and delivery by Borrower of the Loan Documents to which Borrower is a party, the 

performance by Borrower of all of its agreements and obligations under each of such documents, and the incurring by Borrower of all of the 
Obligations contemplated by this Agreement, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions on the part of Borrower and, if 
required, its shareholders, and do not and will not (a) contravene any provision of Borrower’s charter, bylaws or other governing documents or 
this Agreement (each as from time to time in effect), (b) conflict with, or result in a breach of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or 
constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the property of Borrower under, any agreement, mortgage or other 
instrument to which Borrower is or may become a party, (c) violate or contravene any provision of any law, regulation, order, ruling or 
interpretation thereunder or any decree, order or judgment or any court or governmental or regulatory authority, bureau, agency or official (all as 
from time to time in effect and applicable to such entity), (d) other than waivers required from Borrower’s landlords, require any waivers, 
consents or approvals by any of third party, including any creditors or trustees for creditors of Borrower, or (e) require any approval, consent, 
order, authorization, or license by, or giving notice to, or taking any other action with respect to, any Governmental Authority.  
 

8.3            Binding Effect of Documents, etc. Borrower has duly executed and delivered each of the Loan Documents to which 
Borrower is a party, and each of the Loan Documents is valid, binding and in full force and effect. The agreements and obligations of Borrower 
as contained in each of the Loan Documents constitute, or upon execution and delivery thereof will constitute, legal, valid and binding 
obligations of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, subject, as to the enforcement of remedies 
only, to limitations imposed by federal and state laws regarding bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting 
creditors' rights and remedies generally, and by general principles of law and equity.  
 

8.4             No Events of Default .  
 

(a)           No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and no event has occurred and is continuing and no condition 
exists that would, with notice or the lapse of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default.  
   

(b)           Borrower is not in default under any material contract, agreement or instrument to which Borrower is a party or by 
which Borrower or any property of Borrower is bound.  
   

(c)           Borrower’s execution, delivery and performance of and compliance with this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents  will not, with or without the passage of time or giving of notice, result in any material violation of law, or be in conflict with or 
constitute a default under any term or provision, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of Borrower’s  properties or assets or the 
suspension, revocation, impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal, of any permit, license, authorization or approval applicable to Borrower, or any of 
its businesses or operations or any of its assets or properties.  
   

8.5             No Governmental Consent Necessary . No consent or approval of, giving of notice to, registration with or taking of any 
other action in respect of, any Governmental Authority is required with respect to the execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of this 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party.  
   
   

  

  
26 



   
8.6             No Proceedings . There are no actions, suits, or proceedings pending or, to the best of Borrower’s knowledge, threatened 

against or affecting Borrower in any court or before any Governmental Authority which, if adversely determined, would have an adverse effect 
on the ability of Borrower to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents to which it is a party.  
 

8.7             No Violations of Laws . Borrower has conducted, and is conducting, its business, so as to comply in all material respects 
with all applicable federal, state, county and municipal statutes and regulations.  Neither Borrower nor any officer, director or shareholder of 
Borrower is charged with, or so far as is known by Borrower, is under investigation with respect to, any violation of any such statutes, 
regulations or orders, which could have a Material Adverse Effect.  
 

8.8             Use of Proceeds of the Loan . Proceeds from the Revolving Loan shall be used only for those purposes set forth in this 
Agreement .   No part of the proceeds of the Loan shall be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock 
or for the purpose of purchasing or carrying or trading in any stock under such circumstances as to involve Borrower in a violation of any statute 
or regulation.  In particular, without limitation of the foregoing, no part of the proceeds from the Revolving Loans are intended to be used to 
acquire any publicly-held stock of any kind.  
 

8.9               Financial Statements; Indebtedness .  
 

(a)           The audited and unaudited financial statements contained in the SEC Reports (collectively, the “ Financial 
Statements” ) (x) fairly present as of the respective dates thereof the financial position of the Borrower and the results of its operations, cash 
flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the periods then ended in all material aspects; and (y) except for the fact that the unaudited financial 
statements omit notes to such statements and year-end adjustments thereto, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP in conformity with the 
rules and regulations of the SEC.  
 

(b)           Except as shown on the most recent Financial Statements, (i) Borrower has  no other Indebtedness as of the date 
hereof which would adversely affect the financial condition of Borrower or the Collateral, and (ii) Borrower has no liabilities, contingent or 
otherwise, except those which, individually or in the aggregate, are not material to the financial condition or operating  results of Borrower.  
 

8.10             Changes in Financial Condition . Since September 30, 2009, there has been no material adverse change and no material 
adverse development in the business, properties, operations, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or prospects of the 
Borrower.  Since September 30, 2009, Borrower has not (i) declared or paid any dividends, (ii) sold any assets, individually or in the aggregate, 
outside of the ordinary course of business, (iii) had capital expenditures outside of the ordinary course of business, (iv) engaged in any 
transaction with any Affiliate or (v) engaged in any other transaction outside of the ordinary course of business.  
 

8.11             Equipment . Borrower shall keep its Equipment in good order and repair, and in running and marketable condition, 
ordinary wear and tear excepted.  
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8.12             Taxes and Assessments .  
 

(a)           Borrower has paid and discharged when due all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 
lawfully be levied or assessed upon its income and profits, or upon all or any portion of any property belonging to it, whether real, personal or 
mixed, to the extent that such taxes, assessment and other charges have become due.  Borrower has filed all tax returns, federal, state and local, 
and all related information, required to be filed by it.  
 

(b)           Borrower shall make all payments to be made by it hereunder without any Tax Deduction (as defined below), 
unless a Tax Deduction is required by law. If Borrower is aware that it must make a Tax Deduction   (or that there is a change in the rate or the 
basis of a Tax Deduction), it shall promptly notify Lender.  If a Tax Deduction is required by law to be made by Borrower, the amount of the 
payment due from Borrower shall be increased to an amount which (after making the Tax Deduction) leaves an amount equal to the payment 
which would have been due if no Tax Deduction had been required. If Borrower is required to make a Tax Deduction, Borrower shall make the 
minimum Tax Deduction allowed by law and shall make any payment required in connection with that Tax Deduction within the time allowed 
by law. Within thirty (30) days of making either a Tax Deduction or a payment required in connection with a Tax Deduction, Borrower shall 
deliver to Lender evidence satisfactory to Lender that the Tax Deduction has been made or (as applicable) the appropriate payment has been paid 
to the relevant taxing authority.  
 

(c)            “Tax Deduction” means a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax from a payment under a Loan 
Document. “Tax” means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature, including any income, franchise, stamp, 
documentary, excise or property tax, charge or levy (in each case, including any related penalty or interest).  
 

8.13             ERISA . Borrower is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and all regulations 
issued thereunder by the United States Treasury Department, the Department of Labor and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.  
 

8.14             Environmental Matters .  
 

(a)           To the best of its knowledge, Borrower has duly complied with, and its facilities, business assets, property, 
leaseholds and equipment are in compliance in all respects with, the provisions of all Environmental Laws.  
 

(b)           To the best of its knowledge, Borrower has been issued all required federal, state and local licenses, certificates or 
permits relating to the operation of its business; and each Borrower and its facilities, business, assets, property and equipment are in compliance 
in all material respects with all Environmental Laws.  
 

8.15            United States Anti-Terrorism Laws; Holding Company Status.  
 

(a)           In this Section 8.15:  
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“ Anti-Terrorism Law ” means each of:  (i) Executive Order No. 13224 of September 23, 2001  Blocking Property and 
Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten To Commit, or Support Terrorism (the “Executive Order” ); (ii) the 
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Public 
Law 107-56 (commonly known as the USA Patriot Act); (iii) the Money Laundering Control Act of 1986, Public Law 99-570; and (iv) 
any similar law enacted in the United States of America subsequent to December 31, 2004.  

 
“ holding company ” has the meaning given to it in the United States Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, and any 

successor legislation and rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  
 

“ investment company ” has the meaning given to it in the United States Investment Company Act of 1940.  
 

“ public utility ” has the meaning given to it in the United States Federal Power Act of 1920.  
 

“ Restricted Party ” means any person listed: (i) in the Annex to the Executive Order; (ii) on the Specially Designated 
Nationals and Blocked Persons list maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury; 
or (iii) in any successor list to either of the foregoing.  

 
(b)           Borrower is not (i) a holding company or subject to regulation under the United States Public Utility Holding 

Company Act of 1935; (ii) a public utility or subject to regulation under the United States Federal Power Act of 1920; (iii) required to be 
registered as an investment company or subject to regulation under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940; or (iv) subject to 
regulation under any United States Federal or State law or regulation that limits its ability to incur or guarantee indebtedness.  
 

(c)           To the best of Borrower’s knowledge, Borrower (i) is not, and is not controlled by, a Restricted Party; (ii) has not 
received funds or other property from a Restricted Party; and (iii) is not in breach of and is not the subject of any action or investigation under 
any Anti-Terrorism Law.  
 

(d)           Borrower has taken reasonable measures to ensure compliance with the Anti-Terrorism Laws.  
 

8.16            Customers and Vendors . There are no disputes with any customers, suppliers, manufacturers, vendors and independent 
contractors of Borrower in excess of $15,000 in the aggregate with any such party.  
 

8.17             Representations, Warranties and Covenants Concerning the Collateral. The representations and warranties of 
Borrower set forth in Section 5.4 hereof are incorporated in this Section 8.17 by reference.  
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8.18             Books and Records . Borrower maintains its chief executive office and its books and records related to its Accounts, 

Inventory and all other Collateral at its address set forth in Section 5.4(n) of Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule.  
 

8.19              SEC Reports . The SEC Reports do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.  
 

8.20             Internal Accounting Controls .  Borrower maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 
13a-15 under the 1934 Act) to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Borrower in the reports that it files or submits under the 
1934 Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, including, 
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Borrower in the reports that it 
files or submits under the 1934 Act is accumulated and communicated to the Borrower’s management, including its principal executive officer or 
officers and its principal financial officer or officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  The result of 
management’s evaluation of internal controls are described in Borrower’s SEC Reports under “Controls and Procedures”.  
 

8.21             Changes . Since the date of the Balance Sheet, except as disclosed in Section 8.21 of Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule, with 
respect to Borrower, there has not been:  
   

(a)           any change in its business, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, operations or prospects, 
which, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect;  
   

(b)           any resignation or termination of any of its officers, key employees or groups of employees;  
   

(c)           any material change, except in the ordinary course of business, in its contingent obligations by way of guaranty, 
endorsement, indemnity, warranty or otherwise;  
   

(d)           any damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, which has had, or could reasonably be 
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;  
   

(e)           any waiver by it of a valuable right or of a material debt owed to it;  
   

(f)           any direct or indirect material loans made by it to any of its stockholders, employees, officers or directors, other 
than advances made in the ordinary course of business;  
   

(g)           any material change in any compensation arrangement or agreement with any employee, officer, director or 
stockholder;  
   

(h)           any declaration or payment of any dividend or other distribution of its assets;  
   

(i)           any labor organization activity related to it;  
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(j)           any debt, obligation or liability incurred, assumed or guaranteed by it, except those for immaterial amounts and for 

current liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business;  
   

(k)           any sale, assignment, transfer, abandonment or other disposition of any Collateral other than Inventory in the 
ordinary course of business;  
 

(l)           any change in any material agreement to which it is a party or by which it is bound which, either individually or in 
the aggregate, has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;  

   
(m)           any other event or condition of any character that, either individually or in the aggregate, has had, or could 

reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; or  
   

(n)           any arrangement or commitment by it to do any of the acts described in subsection (a) through (m) of this Section 
8.21.  
   

8.22             Intellectual Property .  
   

(a)           Except for Permitted Encumbrances, (1) Borrower holds all Intellectual Property that it owns free and clear of all 
Liens and restrictions on use or transfer, whether or not recorded, and has sole title to and ownership of or has the full, exclusive (subject to the 
rights of its licensees) right to use in its field of business such Intellectual Property; and Borrower holds all Intellectual Property that it uses but 
does not own under valid licenses or sub-licenses from others; (2) the use of the Intellectual Property by Borrower does not, to the knowledge of 
Borrower, violate or infringe on the rights of any other Person; (3) Borrower has  not received any notice of any conflict between the asserted 
rights of others and Borrower with respect to any Intellectual Property; (4) Borrower has used its commercially reasonable best efforts to protect 
its rights in and to all Intellectual Property; (5) Borrower is in compliance with all material terms and conditions of its agreements relating to the 
Intellectual Property; (6) Borrower is not, and since January 1, 2009 has not been, a defendant in any action, suit, investigation or proceeding 
relating to infringement or misappropriation by Borrower of any Intellectual Property nor has Borrower been notified of any alleged claim of 
infringement or misappropriation by Borrower of any Intellectual Property; (7) to the knowledge of Borrower, none of the products or services 
Borrower is researching, developing, proposes to research and develop, make, have made, use, or sell, infringes or misappropriates any 
Intellectual Property right of any third party; (8) none of the trademarks and service marks used by Borrower, to the knowledge of Borrower, 
infringes the trademark or service mark rights of any third party; and (9) to Borrower’s knowledge, none of the material processes and formulae, 
research and development results and other know-how relating to Borrower's business, the value of which to Borrower is contingent upon 
maintenance of the confidentiality thereof, has been disclosed to any Person other than Persons bound by written confidentiality agreements.  
 

(b)            Section 8.22 of Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of (i) all registrations and 
applications for Intellectual Property owned by Borrower filed or issued by any Intellectual Property registry, (ii) all Intellectual Property 
licenses which are either material to the business of Borrower or relate to any material portion of Borrower’s Inventory, including licenses for 
standard software having a replacement value of more than $10,000 and (iii) all domain names owned by or registered in the name of 
Borrower.  None of such Intellectual Property licenses are reasonably likely to be construed as an assignment of the licensed Intellectual 
Property to Borrower.  Borrower shall update this list throughout the Term immediately upon the filing or issuance of any registrations or 
applications for Intellectual Property owned by Borrower, the licensing by Borrower of any third party Intellectual Property material to 
Borrower’s business or the acquisition or registration by Borrower of any domain names, in each case made after the effective date of this 
Agreement.  
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8.23             Employees . Borrower has no collective bargaining agreements with any of its employees.  There is no labor union 

organizing activity pending or, to Borrower’s knowledge, threatened with respect to Borrower.  Borrower is not a party to or bound by any 
currently effective deferred compensation arrangement, bonus plan, incentive plan, profit sharing plan, retirement agreement or other employee 
compensation plan or agreement.  To Borrower’s knowledge, no employee of Borrower, nor any consultant with whom Borrower has contracted, 
is in violation of any material term of any employment contract or any other contract relating to the right of any such individual to be employed 
by, or to contract with, Borrower or to receive any benefits; and, to  Borrower’s knowledge, the continued employment by Borrower of its 
present employees, and the performance of Borrower’s contracts with its independent contractors, will not result in any such violation.  Except 
for employees who have a current effective employment agreement with Borrower, as set forth in Section 8.23 of Borrower’s Disclosure 
Schedule, no employee of Borrower has been granted the right to continued employment by Borrower or to any material compensation following 
termination of employment with Borrower.  Borrower is not aware that any officer, director, manager, partner, key employee or group of 
employees intends to terminate his, her or their employment with Borrower, nor does Borrower have a present intention to terminate any of the 
same.  
 

8.24             Tax Status . Borrower (i) has made or filed all federal and state income and all other tax returns, reports and declarations 
required by any jurisdiction to which it is subject, (ii) has paid all taxes and other governmental assessments and charges that are shown or 
determined to be due on such returns, reports and declarations, except those being contested in good faith and for which it has set aside on its 
books a provision in the amount of such taxes being contested in good faith and (iii) has set aside on its books provisions reasonably adequate for 
the payment of all taxes for periods subsequent to the periods to which such returns, reports or declarations apply.  There are no unpaid taxes 
claimed to be due by the taxing authority of any jurisdiction, and the officers of the Borrower know of no basis for any such claim.  
 

8.25             Sarbanes-Oxley Act .  To Borrower’s knowledge, Borrower is in compliance with any and all applicable requirements of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that are effective as of the date hereof, and any and all applicable rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC 
thereunder that are effective as of the date hereof.  
 

8.26            Fees; Brokers; Finders. Except as set forth in Section 8.26 of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule, there are no fees, 
commissions or other compensation due to any third party acting on behalf of or at the direction of Borrower in connection with the Loan 
Documents.  Except as set forth in Section  8.26 of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule, all negotiations relative to the Loan Documents, and the 
transactions contemplated thereby, have been carried on by the Borrower with the Lender without the intervention of any other person or entity 
acting on behalf of the Borrower, and in such manner as not to give rise to any claim against the Borrower or the Lender for any finder's fee, 
brokerage commission or like payment due to any third party acting on behalf of or at the direction of Borrower, and if any such fee, commission 
or payment is payable, it shall be the sole responsibility of the Borrower and the Borrower shall pay, and indemnify the Lender for, the same.  
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8.27            Representations and Warranties: True, Accurate and Complete. None of the representations, certificates, reports, 

warranties or statements now or hereafter made or delivered to Lender pursuant hereto or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document or the transactions contemplated hereby contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits or will omit to state 
a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained herein and therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not 
misleading.  
 
 
SECTION 9.  AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.  
 

Until the indefeasible payment and satisfaction in full of all Obligations, Borrower hereby covenants and agrees as follows:  
 

9.1             Notify Lender . Borrower shall promptly, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after obtaining knowledge 
thereof,  inform Lender (a) if any one or more of the representations and warranties made by Borrower in this Agreement or in any document 
related hereto shall no longer be entirely true, accurate and complete in any respect, (b) of any event or circumstance that, to its knowledge, 
would cause Lender to consider any then existing Inventory as no longer constituting Eligible Inventory or to consider any then existing 
Receivable as no longer constituting an Eligible Receivable, (c) of any material delay in its performance of any of its obligations to any Account 
Debtor, (d) of any assertion by any Account Debtor of any material claims, offsets or counterclaims; (e) of any allowances, credits and/or monies 
granted by it to any Account Debtor; (f) of all material adverse information relating to the financial condition of Borrower or any Account 
Debtor; (g) of any material return of Goods; and (h) of any loss, damage or destruction of any of the Collateral.  
 

9.2             Change in Directors or Officers. Borrower shall promptly notify Lender of any changes in Borrower’s Directors or 
Officers.  
 

9.3             Pay Taxes and Liabilities; Comply with Agreement . Borrower shall promptly pay, when due, or otherwise discharge, all 
indebtedness, sums and liabilities of any kind now or hereafter owing by Borrower to its employees as wages or salaries or to Lender and 
Governmental Authorities however created, incurred, evidenced, acquired, arising or payable, including, without limitation, the Obligations, 
income taxes, excise taxes, sales and use taxes, license fees, and all other taxes with respect to any of the Collateral, or any wages or salaries paid 
by Borrower or otherwise, unless the validity of which are being contested in good faith by Borrower by appropriate proceedings, provided that 
Borrower shall have maintained reasonably adequate reserves and accrued the estimated liability on Borrower’s balance sheet for the payment of 
same.  
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9.4             Observe Covenants, etc . Borrower shall observe, perform and comply with the covenants, terms and conditions of this 

Agreement and the other Loan Documents.  
 

9.5             Maintain Corporate Existence and Qualifications . Borrower shall maintain and preserve in full force and effect, its 
corporate existence and rights, franchises, licenses and qualifications necessary to continue its business, and comply with all applicable statutes, 
rules and regulations pertaining to the operation, conduct and maintenance of its existence and business including, without limitation, all federal, 
state and local laws relating to benefit plans, environmental safety, or health matters, and hazardous or liquid waste or chemicals or other liquids 
(including use, sale, transport and disposal thereof).  
 

9.6             Financial Reports and other Information and Documents to be Furnished to Lender . Borrower shall deliver or cause 
to be delivered to Lender, unless such information has been filed with the SEC:  
 

(a)            Annual Financial Statements. Annual financial statements of the Borrower, certified by the Chief Financial 
Officer of Borrower and audited by an outside accounting firm acceptable to Lender, including Weinberg & Company, P.A., as soon as 
available, but in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of Borrower’s Fiscal Year during the Term.  Such financial statements shall (x) 
fairly present the financial position of the Borrower as of the dates thereof and the results of its operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity 
for each of the periods then ended in all material aspects; and (y) be prepared in accordance with GAAP.  
   

(b)            Quarterly Financial Statements . As soon as available but in any event no later than the last day of the SEC 
filing periods of (i) forty-five (45) days from the close of each calendar quarter for the first three quarters of each calendar year, and (ii) ninety 
(90) days from the last day of each calendar year, quarterly financial statements of the Borrower, the unaudited balance sheet and the related 
statement of income of the Borrower, prepared in accordance with GAAP, subject to year-end audit adjustments, together with such other 
information with respect to the business of Borrower as Lender may request.  
   

(c)            Monthly Financial Statements. Not later than thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar month, the 
unaudited balance sheet and the related statement of income of the Borrower, certified by the Chief Financial Officer of Borrower, subject to 
year-end audit adjustments, with an aging schedule for all accounts receivable and accounts payable, together with such other information with 
respect to the business of Borrower as Lender may request.  
 

(d)            Borrowing Certificates. Weekly, a Borrowing Certificate in accordance with Section 2.2(f) hereof.  
 

(e)            Notice of Judgments, Environmental, Health or Safety Complaints .  
   

(i)               Within three (3) Business Days thereafter, written notice to Lender of the entry of any judgment or the 
institution of any lawsuit or of other legal or equitable proceedings or the assertion of any crossclaim or counterclaim seeking monetary damages 
from Borrower in an amount exceeding $25,000; and  
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(ii)              Within three (3) Business Days thereafter, notice or copies if written of all claims, complaints, orders, 

citations or notices, whether formal or informal, written or oral, from a governmental body or private person or entity, relating to air emissions, 
water discharge, noise emission, solid or liquid waste disposal, hazardous waste or materials, or any other environmental, health or safety matter, 
which adversely effect Borrower.  Such notices shall include, among other information, the name of the party who filed the claim, the potential 
amount of the claim, and the nature of the claim.  
 

(f)            Other Information . Upon demand,  
   

(i)                Certificates of insurance for all policies of insurance to be maintained by Borrower pursuant hereto;  
 

(ii)               An estoppel certificate executed by an authorized officer of Borrower indicating that there then exists 
no Event of Default and no event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default;  
 

(iii)              All information received by Borrower affecting the financial status or condition of any Account Debtor 
or the payment of any Account, including but not limited to, invoices, original orders, shipping and delivery receipts;  
 

(iv)              Assignments, in form acceptable to Lender, of all Accounts, and of the monies due or to become due 
on specific contracts relating to the same; and  
 

(v)               At Borrower’s expense, annual appraisals of Inventory by an appraiser acceptable to Lender.  
 

(g)            Additional Information . From time to time, such other information as Lender may reasonably request, including 
financial projections and cash flow analysis.  
 

9.7             Comply with Laws . Borrower shall comply with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of 
any Governmental Authority, compliance with which is necessary to maintain its corporate existence or the conduct of its business or non-
compliance with which would adversely affect in any respect its ability to perform its obligations or any security given to secure its obligations.  
 

9.8            Insurance Required.  
 

(a)           Borrower shall cause to be maintained, in full force and effect on all property of Borrower including, without 
limitation, all Inventory and Equipment, insurance in such amounts against such risks as is reasonably satisfactory to Lender, including, but 
without limitation, business interruption, fire, boiler, theft, burglary, pilferage, vandalism, malicious mischief, loss in transit, director’s and 
officer’s insurance in an amount no less than the maximum Revolving Loan Commitment of $3,000,000, hazard insurance and, if as of  the date 
hereof, any of the real property of Borrower is in an area that has been identified by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development as having 
special flood or mudslide hazards, and on which the sale of flood insurance has been made available under the National Flood Insurance Act of 
1968, then Borrower shall maintain flood insurance.   Said policy or policies shall:  
   
   

  

  
35 



   
(i)               Be in a form and with insurers which are satisfactory to Lender;  

 
(ii)             Be for such risks, and for such insured values as Lender or its assigns may reasonably require in order to 

replace the property in the event of actual or constructive total loss;  
 

(iii)            Designate Lender as additional insured and loss payee as Lender’s interest may from time to time appear;  
 

(iv)            Contain a clause whereby the Lender and any assignee of Lender has the right to receive loss payment 
even if the Lender or its assignee has started foreclosure or similar action on property covered by the insurance;  

 
(v)             Contain a clause whereby if the insurer denies a claim by Borrower because of Borrower’s acts or because 

Borrower failed to comply with any of the terms of the insurance coverage, the Lender and any assignee of Lender will 
nonetheless have the right to receive loss payment if the Lender or its assignee:  

 
(A) Pays any premium due under the insurance at the insurer’s request if Borrower has failed to do so; and  

   
(B) Submits a signed, sworn proof of loss within 60 days after receiving notice from the insurer of 

Borrower’s failure to do so.  
 

(vi)             Contain a “breach of warranty clause” whereby the insurer agrees that a breach of the insuring conditions 
or any negligence by Borrower or any other person shall not invalidate the insurance as to Lender and its assignee;  

 
(vii)            Provide that they may not be canceled or altered without thirty (30) days prior written notice to Lender; 

and  
 

(viii)           Upon demand, be delivered to Lender.  
 

(b)           Borrower shall obtain such additional insurance as Lender may reasonably require.  
   

(c)           Borrower shall, in the event of loss or damage, forthwith notify Lender and file proofs of loss with the appropriate 
insurer.  Borrower hereby authorizes Lender to endorse any checks or drafts constituting insurance proceeds.  
   

(d)           Borrower shall forthwith upon receipt of insurance proceeds endorse and deliver the same to Lender.  
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(e)           In no event shall Lender be required either to (i) ascertain the existence of or examine any insurance policy or (iii) 

advise Borrower in the event such insurance coverage shall not comply with the requirements of this Agreement.  
   

9.9              Condition of Collateral; No Liens . Borrower shall maintain all Collateral in good condition and repair at all times, and 
preserve it against any loss, damage, or destruction of any nature whatsoever relating to said Collateral or its use, and keep said Collateral free 
and clear of any Liens, except for the Permitted Encumbrances, and shall not permit Collateral to become a fixture to real estate or accessions to 
other personal property.  
 

9.10             Payment of Proceeds . Borrower shall forthwith upon receipt of all proceeds of Collateral, pay such proceeds (insurance 
or otherwise) up to the amount of the then-outstanding Obligations over to Lender for application against the Obligations in such order and 
manner as Lender may elect.  
 

9.11             Records . Borrower shall at all times keep accurate and complete records of its operations, of the Collateral and the status 
of each Account, which records shall be maintained at its executive offices as set forth on Section 5.4(n) of Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule  
 

9.12             Delivery of Documents . If any proceeds of Accounts shall include, or any of the Accounts shall be evidenced by, notes, 
trade acceptances or instruments or documents, or if any Inventory is covered by documents of title or chattel paper, whether or not negotiable, 
then Borrower waives protest regardless of the form of the endorsement.  If Borrower fails to endorse any instrument or document, Lender is 
authorized to endorse it on Borrower’s behalf.  
 

9.13             United States Contracts . If any of the Accounts arise out of contracts with the United States or any of its departments, 
agencies or instrumentalities, Borrower will notify Lender and, if requested by Lender, execute any necessary instruments in order that all 
monies due or to become due under such contract shall be assigned to Lender and proper notice of the assignment given under the Federal 
Assignment of Claims Act.  
 

9.14             Other Names; Location Changes.  
   

(a)           Borrower shall promptly notify Lender if Borrower is known by or conducting business under any names other 
than those set forth in this Agreement.  
 

(b)           Borrower shall deliver not less than thirty (30) Business Days prior written notice to Lender if Borrower intends to 
conduct any of its business or operations at or out of offices or locations other than those set forth in this Agreement, or if it changes the location 
of its chief executive office or the address at which it maintains its books and records.  
 

9.15             SEC Reporting Status.   Borrower shall timely file all reports required to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 
15(d) of the 1934 Act, and the  Borrower shall not terminate its status as an issuer required to file reports under the 1934 Act even if the 1934 
Act or the rules and regulations thereunder would permit such termination.  
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9.16             Further Assurances . Borrower shall at any time or from time to time upon request of Lender take such steps and execute 
and deliver such Financing Statements and other documents all in the form of substance satisfactory to Lender relating to the creation, validity or 
perfection of the security interests provided for herein, under the UCC or which are reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes and 
provisions of this Agreement. Borrower  shall defend the right, title and interest of Lender in and to the Collateral against the claims and 
demands of all Persons whomsoever, and take such actions, including (i) all actions necessary to grant Lender “control” of any Investment 
Property, Deposit Accounts, Letter-of-Credit Rights or Electronic Chattel Paper owned by it, with any agreements establishing control to be in 
form and substance satisfactory to Lender, (ii) the prompt (but in no event later than three (3) Business Days following Lender’s request 
therefor) delivery to Lender of all original Instruments, Chattel Paper, negotiable Documents and certificated Securities owned by it (in each 
case, accompanied by stock powers, allonges or other instruments of transfer executed in blank), (iii) notification of Lender’s interest in 
Collateral at Lender’s request, and (iv) the institution of litigation against third parties as shall be prudent in order to protect and preserve 
Borrower’s and/or Lender’s respective and several interests in the Collateral.  
 

9.17             Indemnification . Borrower shall indemnify, protect, defend and save harmless Lender, as well as Lender's directors, 
officers, trustees, employees, agents, attorneys, members and shareholders (hereinafter referred to collectively as the “ Indemnified Parties ”
and individually as an “Indemnified Party” ) from and against (a) any and all losses, damages, expenses or liabilities of any kind or nature and 
from any suits, claims or demands, by third parties (including, without limitation, claims of brokers and finders), including reasonable counsel 
fees incurred in investigating or defending such claim, suffered by any of them and caused by, relating to, arising out of, resulting from, or in any 
way connected with the Revolving Loans, the transactions contemplated herein and the Loan Documents, and (b) any and all losses, damages, 
expenses or liabilities sustained by Lender in connection with any Environmental Liabilities and Costs. In case any action shall be brought 
against an Indemnified Party based upon any of the above and in respect to which indemnity may be sought against Borrower, the Indemnified 
Party against whom such action was brought shall promptly notify Borrower in writing, and Borrower shall assume the defense thereof, 
including the employment of counsel selected by Borrower and reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, the payment of all costs and 
expenses and the right to negotiate and consent to settlement.  Upon reasonable determination made by the Indemnified Party, the Indemnified 
Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and to participate in the defense thereof; provided, however, that the 
Indemnified Party shall pay the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the employment of separate counsel.  Borrower shall not be liable 
for any settlement of any such action effected without their consent, but if settled with Borrower’s consent, or if there be a final judgment for the 
claimant in any such action, Borrower agrees to indemnify and save harmless said Indemnified Party against whom such action was brought 
from and against any loss or liability by reason of such settlement or judgment, except as otherwise provided above. The provisions of this 
Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the final repayment of the Obligations.  

   
 
SECTION 10.  NEGATIVE COVENANTS.  
   

Until payment and satisfaction in full of all Obligations and the termination of this Agreement, Borrower hereby covenants and agrees 
as follows:  
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10.1             Change of Control; No Creation of Subsidiaries . Borrower will not consolidate with, merge with, or acquire the stock or 

a material portion of the assets of any person, firm, joint venture, partnership, corporation, or other entity, whether by merger, consolidation, 
purchase of stock or otherwise if any such action results in a Change of Control (as defined below). Borrower will not create or permit to exist 
any Subsidiary unless such new Subsidiary is a wholly-owned Subsidiary and is designated by Lender as either a co-borrower or guarantor 
hereunder and such Subsidiary shall have entered into all such documentation required by Lender, including, without limitation, to grant to 
Lender a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of such Subsidiary’s assets to secure the Obligations.  In addition, Borrower 
will not acquire a material portion of the assets of any entity in a manner that is not addressed by the foregoing provisions of this Section 10.1 if 
such action would impair Lender’s rights hereunder or in the Collateral.  
 

A “ Change of Control ” shall be deemed to have occurred if:  
 

(i)              any “Person,” which shall mean a “person” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the 1934 Act, or 
group of Persons is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the 1934 Act), directly or indirectly, of 
securities of Borrower representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of Borrower’s then outstanding voting securities;  

   
   

(ii)             individuals, who at the Closing Date constitute the Board of Directors  of Borrower, and any new director 
whose election by the Board of Directors of Borrower, or whose nomination for election by Borrower’s stockholders, was approved by 
a vote of at least one-half (1/2) of the directors then in office (other than in connection with a contested election), cease for any reason 
to constitute at least a majority of the Board of Directors of Borrower;  

 
(iii)            the stockholders or members of Borrower approve (I) a plan of complete liquidation of Borrower or (II) the 

sale or other disposition by Borrower of all or substantially all of Borrower’s assets; or  
 

(iv)            a merger or consolidation of Borrower with any other entity is consummated, other than:  
 

(A)              a merger or consolidation which results in the voting securities of Borrower outstanding 
immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting 
securities of the surviving entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the surviving entity's outstanding 
voting securities immediately after such merger or consolidation; or  

 
(B)              a merger or consolidation which would result in the directors or managers of Borrower (who were 

directors or managers immediately prior thereto) continuing to constitute more than 50% of all directors or managers of 
the surviving entity immediately after such merger or consolidation.  
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In this paragraph (iv), “surviving entity” shall mean only an entity in which all of Borrower’s stockholders immediately before such 
merger or consolidation (determined without taking into account any stockholders or members properly exercising appraisal or similar 
rights) become stockholders by the terms of such merger or consolidation, and the phrase “directors of Borrower (who were directors 
immediately prior thereto)” shall include only individuals who were directors of Borrower at the Closing Date.  

 
10.2             Disposition of Assets or Collateral . Borrower will not sell, lease, transfer, convey, or otherwise dispose of any or all of 

its assets or Collateral, other than the disposition or transfer in the ordinary course of business, of obsolete and worn-out Equipment only to the 
extent that the proceeds of any such disposition are used to acquire replacement Equipment which is subject to Lender’s first priority security 
interest or are used to repay the Revolving Loans.  
 

10.3             Other Liens . Borrower will not incur, create or permit to exist any Lien on any of its property or assets, whether now 
owned or hereafter acquired, except (a) those Liens in favor of Lender created by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; and (b) for the 
Permitted Encumbrances.  
 

10.4             Other Liabilities . Borrower will not incur, create, assume, or permit to exist, any Indebtedness or liability on account of 
either borrowed money or the deferred purchase price of property, except (i) Obligations to Lender, or (ii) Indebtedness incurred in connection 
with any of the Permitted Encumbrances.  
 

10.5             Financing of Capital Assets .  
 

(a)           Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.4, Borrower shall be permitted to incur Indebtedness to acquire a 
Capital Asset secured by a purchase money security interest that qualifies as a Permitted Encumbrance, provided that (i) the total of all such 
Indebtedness does not exceed $25,000 in the aggregate, without the prior written approval of Lender, and (ii) Borrower is otherwise then in 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  
 

(b)           Borrower hereby grants to the Lender a right of first refusal to provide any Capital Asset Financing (as defined 
below) to be issued by Borrower, subject to the following terms and conditions. In the event that Borrower desires to incur indebtedness for the 
purpose of acquiring a Capital Asset whose total purchase cost is greater than $25,000, including all accessories and attachments thereto (a “
Capital Asset Financing ”), Borrower shall notify Lender in writing of such proposed Capital Asset Financing.  In connection therewith, 
Borrower shall submit to Lender all information requested by Lender regarding the Capital Asset proposed to be acquired pursuant to the Capital 
Asset Financing (the “ Capital Asset Financing Notice ”).  Lender shall have the right of first refusal, exercisable with  ten (10) Business Days 
of Lender’s receipt of the Capital Asset Financing Notice, to provide the Capital Asset Financing in accordance with the terms hereof, whereby 
sums advanced to acquire the subject Capital Asset shall be added to the principal amount of the Revolving Loan hereunder and bear interest in 
accordance with the terms hereof. If Lender declines to exercise its right to provide such Capital Asset Financing, or fails to respond to the 
Capital Asset Financing Notice within the ten-Business Day period set forth above, then Borrower shall be entitled to obtain Capital Asset 
Financing for such Capital Asset from a third party within thirty (30) days of the last day of such notice period, provided that any lien securing 
the financing thereof constitutes a Permitted Encumbrance hereunder. If such third party Capital Asset Financing is not consummated within 
such thirty (30) day period, than Borrower’s right to obtain such third party Capital Asset Financing shall terminate, and any such financing shall 
once again become subject to Lender’s first refusal right to provide such financing pursuant to the provisions of this Section 10.5(b).  
 

(c)           Borrower will not make any capital expenditures for equipment other than out of proceeds of future equity 
financings without the prior written approval of Lender.  
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10.6               Loans . Borrower will not make any loans to any Person, other than advances to employees of Borrower in the ordinary 

course of business, with outstanding advances to any employee not to exceed $1,000 at any time.  
 

10.7               Guaranties . Borrower will not assume, guaranty, endorse, contingently agree to purchase or otherwise become liable 
upon the obligation of any Person, except by the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection or similar transactions in the 
ordinary course of business.  
 

10.8               Transfers of Notes or Accounts . Borrower will not sell, assign, transfer, discount or otherwise dispose of any Accounts 
or any promissory note payable to Borrower, with or without recourse.  
 

10.9               Dividends . Borrower will not declare or pay any cash dividend, make any distribution on, redeem, retire or otherwise 
acquire directly or indirectly, any shares of its stock or other Equity Interests (collectively, “ Equity Distributions ”) without the prior written 
consent of Lender, provided , however , that so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Borrower may make Equity 
Distributions during the first and second years of the Term not to exceed an aggregate of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) during each such 
year.  
 

10.10             Payments to Affiliates . Except as set forth in Section 10.10 of the Borrower’s Disclosure Schedule,  or as otherwise 
approved by Lender in writing in advance, Borrower shall not make any payments of cash or other property to any Affiliate.  
 

10.11             Modification of Documents . Borrower will not change, alter or modify, or permit any change, alteration or modification 
of its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other governing documents in any manner that might adversely affect Lender’s rights hereunder as 
a secured  lender or its Collateral without Lender's prior written consent.  
 

10.12             Change of Business or Name . Borrower will not change or alter the nature of its business, or change its name as it 
appears in the official filings of its state of organization.  
 

10.13             Settlements . Other than in the ordinary course of its business, Borrower will not comprise, settle or adjust any claims in 
any amount relating to any of the Collateral, without the prior written consent of Lender.  
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SECTION 11.  EVENTS OF DEFAULT.  
 

The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default (hereinafter referred to as an “Event of Default” ):  
 

11.1               Failure to Pay . The failure by Borrower to pay, when due, (a) any payment of principal, interest or other charges due and 
owing to Lender pursuant to any obligations of Borrower to Lender including, without limitation, those Obligations arising pursuant to this 
Agreement or any Loan Document, or under any other agreement for the payment of monies then due and payable to Lender, or (b) any taxes 
due to any Governmental Authority.  
 

11.2              Failure of Insurance . Failure of one or more of the insurance policies required hereunder to remain in full force and 
effect; failure on the part of Borrower to pay or cause to be paid all premiums when due on the insurance policies pursuant to this Agreement; 
failure on the part of Borrower to take such other action as may be requested by Lender in order to keep said policies of insurance in full force 
and effect until all Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full; and failure on the part of Borrower to execute any and all documentation 
required by the insurance companies issuing said policies to effectuate said assignments.  
 

11.3               Failure to Perform . Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any covenant, term or condition of this Agreement or in 
any other Loan Document.  
 

11.4               Cross Default . Borrower’s default under any covenant, representation, term or warranty contained in (i) any agreement 
or contract with a third party which default would result in liability to the Borrower in excess of $100,000, and which default is not cured or 
waived within five (5) Business Days, or (ii) any other Loan Document.  
 

11.5               False Representation or Warranty . Borrower shall have made any statement, representation or warranty in this 
Agreement or in any other Loan Document to which Borrower is a party or in a certificate executed by Borrower incident to this Agreement, 
which is at any time found to have been false in any material respect at the time such representation or warranty was made.  
 

11.6               Liquidation, Voluntary Bankruptcy, Dissolution, Assignment to Creditors . Any resolution shall be passed or any 
action (including a meeting of creditors) shall be taken by Borrower for the termination, winding up, liquidation or dissolution of Borrower, or 
Borrower shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or Borrower shall file a petition in voluntary liquidation or bankruptcy, or 
Borrower shall file a petition or answer or consent seeking, or consenting to, the reorganization of Borrower or the readjustment of any of the 
indebtedness of Borrower under any applicable insolvency or bankruptcy laws now or hereafter existing (including the United States Bankruptcy 
Code), or Borrower shall consent to, or be the subject of a court order for, the appointment of any receiver, administrator, liquidator, custodian or 
trustee of all or any part of the property or assets of Borrower or any corporate action shall be taken by Borrower for the purposes of effecting 
any of the foregoing.  
 

11.7               Involuntary Petition Against Borrower . Any petition or application for any relief is filed against Borrower under 
applicable insolvency or bankruptcy laws now or hereafter existing (including the United States Bankruptcy Code) or under any insolvency, 
reorganization, receivership, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any jurisdiction now or hereafter in effect (whether 
at law or in equity), and is not discharged or stayed within thirty (30) days of the filing thereof.  
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11.8               Judgments; Levies . Any judgments or attachments aggregating in excess of $100,000 at any given time is obtained 

against Borrower which remains unstayed for a period of ten (10) days or is enforced.  
 

11.9              Change in Condition . There occurs any event or a change in the condition or affairs, financial or otherwise, of Borrower 
which, in the reasonable opinion of Lender, impairs Lender's security or ability of Borrower to discharge its obligations hereunder or any other 
Loan Document or which impairs the rights of Lender in Borrower’s Collateral.  
 

11.10             Environmental Claims . Lender determines that any Environmental Liabilities and Costs or Environmental Lien with 
respect to Borrower will have a potentially adverse effect on the financial condition of Borrower or on the Collateral.  
 

11.11             Failure to Notify . If at any time Borrower fails to provide Lender with notice or copies, if written, of all material 
complaints, orders, citations or notices with respect to environmental, health or safety complaints within five (5) days of Borrower’s receipt 
thereof.  
 

11.12             Failure to Deliver Documentation . Borrower shall fail to obtain and deliver to Lender any other documentation required 
to be signed or obtained as part of this Agreement, or shall have failed to take any reasonable action requested by Lender to perfect, protect, 
preserve and maintain the security interests and Lien on the Collateral provided for herein.  
 

11.13             Change of Control . Borrower undergoes a Change of Control.  
 

11.14             Reduction in Equity Ownership Interests . Guarantor ceases to own of record and beneficially not less than Twenty 
Percent (20%) of the issued and outstanding voting ownership interests of Borrower.  
 

11.15             Dissolution; Maintenance of Existence . Borrower is dissolved, or Borrower fails to maintain its corporate existence in 
good standing, or the usual business of Borrower ceases or is suspended in any respect.  
 

11.16             Indictment . The indictment of Borrower or any director or Responsible Officer of Borrower under any criminal statute, 
or commencement of criminal or civil proceedings against Borrower, pursuant to which statute or proceedings the penalties or remedies sought 
or available include forfeiture of any portion of the property of Borrower.  
 

11.17             Tax Liens . The filing of a Lien for any unpaid taxes filed by any Governmental Authority against Borrower or any of its 
assets.  
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11.18             Challenge to Validity of Loan Documents . Borrower attempts to terminate, or challenges the validity of, or its liability 

under, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any proceeding shall be brought to challenge the validity, binding effect of Loan 
Document, or any Loan Document ceases to be a valid, binding and enforceable obligation of Borrower.  
 

11.19            Trading of Common Stock .  The Common Stock ceases to be traded on a national securities exchange or electronic 
quotation system.  

   
 
SECTION 12.  REMEDIES.  
 

12.1               Acceleration; Other Remedies . Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default:  
 

(a)           Lender shall have all rights and remedies provided in this Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents, the UCC 
or other applicable law, all of which rights and remedies may be exercised without notice to Borrower, all such notices being hereby waived, 
except such notice as is expressly provided for hereunder or is not waivable under applicable law.  All rights and remedies of Lender are 
cumulative and not exclusive and are enforceable, in Lender's discretion, alternatively, successively, or concurrently on any one or more 
occasions and in any order Lender may determine.  Without limiting the foregoing, Lender may (i) accelerate the payment of all Obligations and 
demand immediate payment thereof to Lender, (ii) with or without judicial process or the aid or assistance of others, enter upon any premises on 
or in which any of the Collateral may be located and take possession of the Collateral or complete processing, manufacturing and repair of all or 
any portion of the Collateral, (iii) require Borrower, at Borrower’s expense, to assemble and make available to Lender any part or all of the 
Collateral at any place and time designated by Lender, (iv) collect, foreclose, receive, appropriate, setoff and realize upon any and all Collateral, 
(v) notify Account Debtors or other obligors to make payment directly to Lender, or notify bailees as to the disposition of Collateral, (vi) extend 
the time of payment of, compromise or settle for cash, credit, return of merchandise, and upon any terms or conditions, any and all Accounts or 
other Collateral which includes a monetary obligation and discharge or release the Account Debtor or other obligor, without affecting any of the 
Obligations, and (vii) sell, lease, transfer, assign, deliver or otherwise dispose of any and all Collateral (including, without limitation, entering 
into contracts with respect thereto, by public or private sales at any exchange, broker's board, any office of Lender or elsewhere) at such prices or 
terms as Lender may deem reasonable, for cash, upon credit or for future delivery, with Lender having the right to purchase the whole or any 
part of the Collateral at any such public sale, all of the foregoing being free from any right or equity of redemption of Borrower, which right or 
equity of redemption is hereby expressly waived and released by Borrower.  If any of the Collateral or other security for the Obligations is sold 
or leased by Lender upon credit terms or for future delivery, the Obligations shall not be reduced as a result thereof until payment therefor is 
finally collected by Lender. If notice of disposition of Collateral is required by law, ten (10) days prior notice by Lender to Borrower designating 
the time and place of any public sale or the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition of Collateral is to be made, shall be 
deemed to be reasonable notice thereof and Borrower waives any other notice.  In the event Lender institutes an action to recover any Collateral 
or seeks recovery of any Collateral by way of prejudgment remedy, Borrower waives the posting of any bond which might otherwise be 
required.  
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(b)           Lender may apply the proceeds of Collateral actually received by Lender from any sale, lease, foreclosure or other 

disposition of the Collateral to payment of any of the Obligations, in whole or in part (including attorneys' fees and legal expenses incurred by 
Lender with respect thereto or otherwise chargeable to Borrower) and in such order as Lender may elect, whether or not then due.  Borrower 
shall remain liable to Lender for the payment on demand of any deficiency together with interest at the Default Interest Rate and all costs and 
expenses of collection or enforcement, including reasonable attorneys' fees and legal expenses.  
   

(c)           Lender may, at its option, cure any default by Borrower under any agreement with a third party or pay or bond on 
appeal any judgment entered against Borrower, discharge taxes and Liens at any time levied on or existing with respect to the Collateral, and pay 
any amount, incur any expense or perform any act which, in Lender's sole judgment, is necessary or appropriate to preserve, protect, insure, 
maintain, or realize upon the Collateral.  Such amounts paid by Lender shall be repayable by Borrower on demand and added to the Obligations, 
with interest payable thereon at the Default Interest Rate. Lender shall be under no obligation to effect such cure, payment, bonding or discharge, 
and shall not, by doing so, be deemed to have assumed any obligation or liability of Borrower.  
 

(d)           Lender and Lender’s agents shall have the right to utilize any of Borrower’s customer lists, registered names, trade 
names or trademarks to publicly advertise the sell, lease, transfer, assign, deliver or otherwise dispose of any and all Collateral and Borrower will 
be deemed to have waived and voided any confidentiality agreements by and between Borrower and Lender.  
   

12.2             Set-off . Lender shall have the right, immediately and without notice of other action, to set-off against any of Borrower’s 
liabilities to Lender any money or other liability owed by Lender or any Affiliate of Lender (and such Affiliate of Lender is hereby authorized to 
effect such set-off) in any capacity to Borrower, whether or not due, and Lender or such Affiliate shall be deemed to have exercised such right of 
set-off and to have made a charge against any such money or other liability immediately upon the occurrence of such Event of Default even 
though the actual book entries may be made at a time subsequent thereto.  The right of set-off granted hereunder shall be effective irrespective of 
whether Lender shall have made demand under or in connection with the Loan.  None of the rights of Lender described in this Section are 
intended to diminish or limit in any way Lender's or Affiliates of Lender's common-law set-off rights.  
 

12.3             Costs and Expenses . Borrower shall be liable for all costs, charges and expenses, including attorney's fees and 
disbursements, incurred by Lender by reason of the occurrence of any Event of Default or the exercise of Lender's remedies with respect thereto, 
each of which shall be repayable by Borrower on demand with interest at the Default Interest Rate, and added to the Obligations.  
 

12.4             No Marshalling . Lender shall be under no obligation whatsoever to proceed first against any of the Collateral or other 
property which is security for the Obligations before proceeding against any other of the Collateral.  It is expressly understood and agreed that all 
of the Collateral or other property which is security for the Obligations stands as equal security for all Obligations, and that Lender shall have the 
right to proceed against any or all of the Collateral or other property which is security for the Obligations in any order, or simultaneously, as in 
its sole and absolute discretion it shall determine.  It is further understood and agreed that Lender shall have the right, subject to the notice 
provisions in Section 12.1 of this Agreement, as it in its sole and absolute discretion shall determine, to sell any or all of the Collateral or other 
property which is security for the Obligations in any order or simultaneously, as Lender shall determine in its sole and absolute discretion.  
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12.5             No Implied Waivers; Rights Cumulative . No delay on the part of Lender in exercising any right, remedy, power or 

privilege hereunder or under any other Loan Document or provided by statute or at law or in equity or otherwise shall impair, prejudice or 
constitute a waiver of any such right, remedy, power or privilege or be construed as a waiver of any Event of Default or as an acquiescence 
therein.  No right, remedy, power or privilege conferred on or reserved to Lender hereunder or under any other Loan Document or otherwise is 
intended to be exclusive of any other right, remedy, power or privilege.  Each and every right, remedy, power or privilege conferred on or 
reserved to Lender under this Agreement or under any of the other Loan Documents or otherwise shall be cumulative and in addition to each and 
every other right, remedy, power or privilege so conferred on or reserved to Lender and may be exercised by Lender at such time or times and in 
such order and manner as Lender shall (in its sole and complete discretion) deem expedient.  
   
   
SECTION 13.  OTHER RIGHTS OF LENDER.  
 

13.1             Collections .  Borrower hereby authorizes Lender to, and Lender shall make such arrangements as it shall deem necessary 
or appropriate to, collect the Accounts and any other monetary obligations included in, or proceeds of, the Collateral at any time whether or not 
an Event of Default has occurred.  Borrower shall, at Borrower’s expense and in the manner requested by Lender from time to time, direct that 
remittances and all other proceeds of accounts and other Collateral up to the amount of the then-current Obligations shall be (a) remitted in kind 
to Lender,  (b) sent to a post office box designated by and/or in the name of Lender, or in the name of Borrower, but as to which access is limited 
to Lender and/or (c) deposited into a bank account maintained in the name of Lender and/or a blocked bank account under arrangements with the 
depository bank under which all funds deposited to such blocked bank account are required to be transferred solely to Lender.  In connection 
therewith, Borrower shall execute such post office box and/or blocked bank account agreements as Lender shall specify.  
 

13.2             Repayment of Obligations . All Obligations shall be payable at Lender's office set forth below or at a bank or such other 
place as Lender may expressly designate from time to time for purposes of this Section.  Lender shall apply all proceeds of Accounts or other 
Collateral received by Lender and all other payments in respect of the Obligations to the Revolving Loans whether or not then due or to any 
other Obligations then due, in whatever order or manner Lender shall determine.  
 

13.3             Lender Appointed Attorney-in-Fact .  
   

(a)           Borrower hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints Lender, with full power of substitution, as its true and lawful 
attorney-in-fact, with full irrevocable power and authority in its place and stead and in its name or otherwise, from time to time in Lender's 
discretion, at Borrower’s sole cost and expense, to take any and all appropriate action and to execute and deliver any and all documents and 
instruments which Lender may deem reasonably necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, including, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) at any time any of the Obligations are outstanding, (A) to transmit to Account Debtors, other obligors 
or any bailees notice of the interest of Lender in the Collateral or request from Account Debtors or such other obligors or bailees at any time, in 
the name of Borrower or Lender or any designee of Lender, information concerning the Collateral and any amounts owing with respect thereto; 
(B) to execute in the name of Borrower and file against Borrower in favor of Lender Financing Statements or amendments with respect to the 
Collateral, or record a copy or an excerpt hereof in the United States Copyright Office or the United States Patent and Trademark Office and to 
take all other steps as are necessary in the reasonable opinion of Lender under applicable law to perfect the security interests granted herein; and 
(C) to pay or discharge taxes, Liens, security interests or other encumbrances levied or placed on or threatened against the Collateral; (ii) after 
and during the continuation of an Event of Default, (A) to receive, take, endorse, assign, deliver, accept and deposit, in the name of Lender or 
Borrower, any and all cash, checks, commercial paper, drafts, remittances and other instruments and documents relating to the Collateral or the 
proceeds thereof, (B) to notify Account Debtors or other obligors to make payment directly to Lender, or notify bailees as to the disposition of 
Collateral, (C) to change the address for delivery of mail to Borrower and to receive and open mail addressed to Borrower, (D) take or bring, in 
the name of Lender or Borrower, all steps, actions, suits or proceedings deemed by Lender necessary or desirable to effect collection of or other 
realization upon the Collateral; (E) to obtain and adjust insurance required pursuant to this Agreement and to pay all or any part of the premiums 
therefor and the costs thereof, and (F) to extend the time of payment of, compromise or settle for cash, credit, return of merchandise, and upon 
any terms or conditions, any and all accounts or other Collateral which includes a monetary obligation and discharge or release the Account 
Debtor or other obligor, without affecting any of the Obligations.  
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(b)           Borrower hereby ratifies, to the extent permitted by law, all that Lender shall lawfully and in good faith do or 

cause to be done by virtue of and in compliance with this Agreement.  The powers of attorney granted pursuant to this Agreement are each a 
power coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable until the Obligations are paid indefeasibly in full.  
 

13.4             Release of Lender . Borrower hereby releases and exculpates Lender, its officers, partners, members, directors, employees, 
agents, representatives and designees, from any liability arising from any acts under this Agreement or in furtherance thereof, whether as 
attorney-in-fact or otherwise, whether of omission or commission, and whether based upon any error of judgment or mistake of law or fact, 
except for gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final and non-appealable order from a court of competent jurisdiction.  In 
no event will Lender have any liability to Borrower for lost profits or other special or consequential damages.  
 

13.5             Uniform Commercial Code . At all times prior and subsequent to an Event of Default hereinafter, Lender shall be entitled 
to all the rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC with respect to all Collateral.  
 

13.6             Preservation of Collateral . At all times prior and subsequent to an Event of Default hereinafter, Lender may (but without 
any obligation to do so) take any and all action which in its sole and absolute discretion is necessary and proper to preserve its interest in the 
Collateral consisting of Accounts, including without limitation the payment of debts of Borrower which might, in Lender's sole and absolute 
discretion, impair the Collateral or Lender's security interest therein, and the sums so expended by Lender shall be secured by the Collateral, 
shall be added to the amount of the Obligations due Lender and shall be payable on demand with interest at the rate set forth in Section 3.1 
hereof from the date expended by Lender until repaid by Borrower.  After written notice by Lender to Borrower and automatically, without 
notice, after an Event of Default, Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of Lender in each instance, (a) grant any extension of time 
of payment of any Accounts, (b) compromise or settle any Accounts for less than the full amount thereof, (c) release in whole or in part any 
account debtor or other person liable for the payment of any of the Accounts or any such other Collateral, or (d) grant any credits, discounts, 
allowances, deductions, return authorizations or the like with respect to any of the Accounts.  
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13.7             Lender's Right to Cure . In the event Borrower shall fail to perform any of its Obligations hereunder or under any other 

Loan Document, then Lender, in addition to all of its rights and remedies hereunder, may perform the same, but shall not be obligated to do so, at 
the cost and expense of Borrower. Such costs and expenses shall be added to the amount of the Obligations due Lender, and Borrower shall 
promptly reimburse Lender for such amounts together with interest at the Default Interest Rate from the date such sums are expended until 
repaid by Borrower.  
 

13.8             Inspection of Collateral . From time to time as requested by Lender, Lender or its designee shall have access, (a) prior to 
an Event of Default, during reasonable business hours to all of  the premises where Collateral is located for the purpose of inspecting the 
Collateral and to all of Borrower’s Collateral, inclusive of books and records, and Borrower shall permit Lender or Lender’s designees to make 
copies of such books and records or extracts therefrom as Lender may request, and (b) on or after an Event of Default that remains uncured, at 
the sole expense of Borrower, at any time, to all of the premises where Collateral is located for the purposes of inspecting, disposing and 
realizing upon the Collateral, and all Borrower’s books and records, and Borrower shall permit Lender or its designee to make such copies of 
such books and records or extracts therefrom as Lender may request.  Without expense to Lender, Lender may use such of Borrower’s personnel, 
equipment, including computer equipment, programs, printed output and computer readable media, supplies and premises for the collection of 
Accounts and realization on other Collateral as Lender, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.  Borrower hereby irrevocably authorize all 
accountants and third parties to disclose and deliver to Lender at Borrower’s expense all financial information, books and records, work papers, 
management reports and other information in its possession regarding Borrower.  
 
 
SECTION 14.                         PROVISIONS OF GENERAL APPLICATION.  
 

14.1             Waivers . Borrower waives demand, presentment, notice of dishonor  protest and notice of protest of any instrument of 
Borrower or others which may be included in the Collateral.  
 

14.2             Survival . All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by Borrower herein or in any other Loan 
Document or in any certificate, report or instrument contemplated hereby shall survive any independent investigation made by Lender and the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, and such certificates, reports or instruments and shall continue so long as any Obligations are 
outstanding and unsatisfied, applicable statutes of limitations to the contrary notwithstanding.  
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14.3             Notices . All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto shall be in writing and either (a) 
delivered by hand or (b) delivered by national overnight courier service, and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made upon receipt by 
the receiving party.  All notices, requests and demands are to be given or made to the respective parties at the following addresses (or to such 
other addresses as either party may designate by notice in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph):  
 

 

                                          
14.4             Amendments; Waiver of Defaults . The terms of this Agreement shall not be amended, waived, altered, modified, 

supplemented or terminated in any manner whatsoever except by a written instrument signed by Lender and Borrower.  Any default or Event of 
Default by Borrower may only be waived by a written instrument specifically describing such default or Event of Default and signed by the 
Lender.  
 

14.5             Binding on Successors .  
   

(a)           This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors 
and assigns, provided, however, that Borrower may not assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents 
to any Person without the prior written consent of Lender.  
 

(b)           Lender may assign any or all of the Obligations together with any or all of the security therefor to any Person and 
any such assignee shall succeed to all of Lender’s rights with respect thereto.  Lender shall notify Borrower of any such assignment. Upon such 
assignment, Lender shall have no further obligations under the Loan Documents.  Lender may from time to time sell or otherwise grant 
participations in any of the Obligations and the holder of any such participation shall, subject to the terms of any agreement between Lender and 
such holder, be entitled to the same benefits as Lender with respect to any security for the Obligations in which such holder is a participant.  
 
 

  

If to Borrower:  Reed’s Inc.  
  1300 South Spring Street  
  Los Angeles, CA 90061  
  Attention: Christopher Reed, Chief Executive Officer  
    
If to Lender:  GemCap Lending I, LLC  
  1401 Ocean Avenue,  
  Suite 305  
  Santa Monica, California 90401  
  Attention: David Ellis  

  With a copy to:  Cohen Tauber Spievack & Wagner P.C.  
    420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 2400  
    New York, New York 10170  
    Attention:  Robert A. Boghosian, Esq.  
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14.6             Invalidity . Any provision of this Agreement which may be determined by competent authority to be prohibited or 

unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.  
 

14.7            Publicity. Borrower hereby authorizes Lender to make appropriate announcements of the financial arrangement entered into 
by and between Borrower and Lender, including, without limitation, announcements which are commonly known as tombstones, in such 
publications and to such selected parties as Lender shall in its sole and absolute discretion deem appropriate, or as required by applicable 
law.  Lender authorizes Borrower to make appropriate disclosures of the financial arrangement entered into by and between Borrower and 
Lender in Borrower’s SEC Reports, including in a Current Report on Form 8-K and as required by applicable law.  
 

14.8             Section or Paragraph Headings . Section and paragraph headings are for convenience only and shall not be construed as 
part of this Agreement.  
 

14.9             APPLICABLE LAW :  
   
THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED A ND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, THE LAWS OF WHICH THE BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY ELECTS TO 
APPLY TO THIS AGREEMENT, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO P ROVISIONS FOR CHOICE OF LAW THEREUNDER.  THE 
BORROWER AGREES THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUG HT TO ENFORCE OR ARISING OUT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT SHALL BE COMMENCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE  PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT.  

   
14.10             WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .  

   
BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS THAT IT M AY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE UNDER THE LAWS 
OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR ANY STATE TO A T RIAL BY JURY OF ANY AND ALL ISSUES ARISING 
EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN ANY ACTION OR PROC EEDING BETWEEN BORROWER, LENDER OR ITS 
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN 
DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE COLLATERAL.  IT IS INTENDED THAT SAID WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO 
ANY AND ALL DEFENSES, RIGHTS, AND/OR COUNTERCLAIMS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDINGS BETWEEN 
BORROWER AND LENDER.  BORROWER WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO  INTERPOSE ANY CLAIMS, DEDUCTIONS, SETOFFS 
OR COUNTERCLAIMS OF ANY KIND, NATURE OR DESCRIPTION  IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING INSTITUTED BY 
LENDER WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LO AN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS, THE 
COLLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM OR RELAT ING THERETO, EXCEPT COMPULSORY 
COUNTERCLAIMS.  
   

14.11             CONSENT TO JURISDICTION .  
   
BORROWER HEREBY (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS AND CONSENT S TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE 
AND FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFONI A, LOS ANGELES COUNTY WITH RESPECT TO ANY 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT,  THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS 
AND/OR THE COLLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFR OM OR RELATING THERETO, AND (b) WAIVES ANY 
OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON VENUE AND/OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS WITH 
RESPECT THERETO.  IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING,  BORROWER WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE 
SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS AND PAPERS THEREIN AND AGREES THAT THE SERVICE THEREOF 
MAY BE MADE BY CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUE STED, DIRECTED TO BORROWER AT ITS OFFICES SET 
FORTH HEREIN OR OTHER ADDRESS THEREOF OF WHICH LEND ER HAS RECEIVED NOTICE AS PROVIDED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT.  NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, BORROWER  CONSENTS TO THE COMMENCEMENT BY LENDER 
OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTI ON TO ENFORCE ITS RIGHTS IN AND TO THE 
COLLATERAL AND BORROWER WAIVES ANY OBJECTIONS WHICH  IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON 
VENUE AND/OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING.  
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14.12             Entire Agreement . This Agreement, the other Loan Documents, any supplements or amendments hereto or thereto, and 

any instruments or documents delivered or to be delivered in connection herewith or therewith represents the entire agreement and understanding 
concerning the subject matter hereof and thereof between the parties hereto, and supersede all other prior agreements, understandings, 
negotiations and discussions, representations, warranties, commitments, proposals, offers and contracts concerning the subject matter hereof, 
whether oral or written.  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and any schedule or exhibit hereto, the terms of 
this Agreement shall govern.  
 

14.13             Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by facsimile or other electronic signatures, each of 
which when so executed, shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Loan and Security Agreement has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.  
 
 
   

 
   

 
   
 
 

[SIGNATURE  PAGE OF LOAN  AND SECURITY  AGREEMENT ]  
 

  

  BORROWER:    
      
  REED’S, INC.    
        
  By:  /s/    

    Name    
    Title    
        

  LENDER:    
      
  GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC    
        
  By:  /s/    

    Name    
    Title    
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Exhibit 1.34  
to  

Loan and Security Agreement  
 

Machinery and Equipment  
 
 
 
Summary:  
   

 
Detail:  
 

 
 

  

    
September 30, 

2009    
     Vehicles      320,000   
Machinery and equipment      1,056,000   
Office equipment      389,000   

        09/30/09      Leased    
  16200       Furniture & Fixtures      19,643.86         
  16300       Office  Equipment      49,675.58         
  16400       Automobiles      320,073.61         
  16700       Mach & Equip after 06-15-09      175,165.64         
  16710       Brewery Equipment      556,387.83       556,387.83   
  16720       Leased Equip after 06-30-09      163,156.24       163,156.24   
  16730       Pasteurizer      -          
  16740       Candy Room      12,630.46           
  16750       Vending/Display Materials      149,054.56           
  16800       Computer – Hardware      86,551.36           
  16900       Computer – Software      68,565.60           
  16902       Computer – Navision      133,344.37           
  16904       CRM Hardware server      31,358.71           
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Exhibit 1.53  
to  

Loan and Security Agreement  
 

Form of Landlord Waiver  
   

LANDLORD WAIVER AND ACCESS AGREEMENT  
   

THIS AGREEMENT effective the 13th day of November 2009,  
   
BETWEEN:  
   

525 SOUTH DOUGLAS STREET, LLC (the “ Landlord ”)  
   

- and -  
   

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC (“ Lender ”)  
   
WHEREAS:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
NOW THEREFORE , in consideration of the granting of the Loans by Lender to Borrower and other good and valuable consideration, 

the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the Landlord, the Landlord represents, covenants and agrees with Lender as 
follows:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

A.    Lender is about to enter into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Reed’s, Inc. (“ Borrower ”) and in connection therewith 
Lender has been or will be granted a security interest in all of the personal property and the assets of Borrower, including, without 
limitation, all of Borrower’s inventory (as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code, or state counterpart thereof, in effect from time to 
time in California) and books and records, in any form whatsoever (such inventory, books and records, collectively, the “ Assets ”);  

B.    the Assets are or may be kept at either of the following locations: 12930 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California  90061, or 13000 
South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061 (collectively, and each individually, as the context may require, the “ Premises ”);  

C.    the Landlord is the owner of the Premises;  

D.    the Landlord has by an Industrial Lease by and between Landlord and Borrower (the “Lease”) dated May 7, 2009, leased the Premises 
to Borrower for a term expiring on June 15, 2024; and  

E.    a condition of Lender making the loans described in the Loan Agreement (the “Loans”) is the execution of this Agreement by the 
Landlord;  

1.    The Landlord hereby waives and releases in favor of Lender and his assignee:  

(a)   any contractual lien, security interest, charge or interest and any other landlord’s lien which it may be entitled to at law or in 
equity against the Assets;  

(b)   any and all rights granted by or under any present or future laws to levy or distrain for rent or any other charges which may be 
due to the Landlord against the Assets; and  

(c)   any and all other claims, liens and demands of every kind which the Landlord has or may hereafter have against the Assets.  

2.    The Landlord specifically waives its right to distrain against the Assets in favor of any rights which Lender may now or hereafter have 
with respect to the Assets and agrees to release all such Assets to Lender or his assignee in the event of default by Borrower pursuant to 
the terms of any lease of the Premises by Borrower prior to the repayment by Borrower of the Loans.  

3.    The Landlord hereby disclaims any interest in the Assets and agrees to assert no claim to the Assets while Borrower is indebted to 
Lender or Lender’s assignee.  
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4.    The Landlord agrees that Lender, its assignee or any of its representatives, may enter and remain upon the Premises for a commercially 
reasonable period of time at any time during the term of the Lease and thereafter (in accordance with Section 8, below) to inspect or, in 
addition to its other rights herein provided, take possession of, remove and / or dispose of the Assets without interference by the 
Landlord.  

5.    To the extent necessary, the Landlord consents to Lender’s security in the Assets and agrees that should Lender or his assignee exercise 
any rights under its security, the Landlord will not interfere with enforcement of the rights thereunder.  

6.    The Landlord agrees that Lender may assign its security interest in the Assets and this Agreement without the consent of the Landlord.  

7.    The Landlord shall give Lender, as applicable, (i) two weeks’ prior written notice of the expiration or termination of the Lease and/or 
the removal of the Assets to Lender and (ii) prompt written notice of default by Borrower under the Lease and/or the abandonment of 
the Premises by Borrower (any notice described in clauses (i) or (ii), the “ Notice ”).  Without limitation of any other provision hereof, 
Lender or its assignee shall have, for a period of up to three months commencing immediately upon expiration or termination of the 
Lease (the “ Period ”), the right, and a license, to enter upon and use the Premises  (including any personal property of the Landlord 
licensed or leased to Borrower prior to the exercise by the Landlord of its rights and remedies) to enjoy all the rights and benefits of 
Borrower under the Lease (but without becoming tenant thereunder or otherwise assuming any obligations of Borrower thereunder or 
any obligation to cure any defaults thereunder) to assemble, appraise, display, operate, sever, remove, maintain, prepare for sale, lease, 
process or repair the Assets or lease, transfer and/or sell (by private sale or public auction from the Premises) the Assets, or any part 
thereof; subject, however, only to the obligation of Lender to pay to Landlord the Base Rent and Additional Rent (each as defined in the 
Lease) on a per diem basis for the number of days during the Period or any extension thereof in which Lender has exercised such right, 
and all utility costs for utilities used by Lender during such days, such rent and utilities to be payable monthly.  

8.  Under no circumstances shall Lender have any obligation to remove any of the Assets from the Premises. Lender shall not be 
responsible for any costs or expenses arising from acts or omissions of Borrower with respect to the Premises or the Lease, including, 
without limitation, damage to the Premises, failure to pay rent, or failure to clean or otherwise leave the Premises in an appropriate 
condition.  

9.  [RESERVED]  

10.    The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Landlord 
(including, without limitation, any successor owner or encumbrancers of the Premises) and Lender.  Specifically, the Landlord 
acknowledges and agrees that, in connection with any refinancing of any loans to Borrower or its affiliates (including, without 
limitation, an increase in the aggregate principal amount of indebtedness thereunder), Lender may assign this Agreement to a new 
lender or lenders extending such financing (which lender or lenders may include Lender) (the “ New Lenders ”), in which event this 
Agreement shall, without further action by any party, be enforceable by the New Lenders.  Notwithstanding that the provisions of this 
paragraph are self-executing, the Landlord agrees, upon request by the New Lenders, to execute and deliver a written acknowledgment 
confirming the provisions of this paragraph in form satisfactory to the New Lenders.  

11.    To the extent necessary, the Landlord consents to the recording or registration by Lender in any appropriate registry of any notice or 
document as Lender in its sole discretion may deem desirable, appropriate or necessary, evidencing this Agreement, the Lease or 
Lender’s security in any property which is or may in the future become a fixture or is or may in the future otherwise become attached to 
the Premises.  
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[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
   
   

12.    All notices including any notice of assignment, to any party hereto under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent to such party at its 
respective address set forth hereinafter by registered mail or by courier.  For purposes hereof, the Landlord’s address is 525 S. Douglas 
Street, Suite 200, El Segundo, CA 90245 and Lender’s address is 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305, Santa Monica, CA 90401.  

13.    The provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect until the undersigned shall have received Lender’s or the New Lenders’, as the 
case may be, written certification that all loans and indebtedness of Borrower have been paid in full.  

14.    The interpretation, validity and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of 
California, without giving effect to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.  

15.    The parties irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the jurisdiction of any court located in Los Angeles County, California, and all 
courts competent to hear appeals therefrom.  

16.    Borrower has executed this Agreement for the purpose of acknowledging and agreeing to the terms of the Agreement and waiving and 
releasing any claims it may have against Landlord for Landlord agreeing to the matters set forth herein (including, but not limited to, 
allowing the Lender and its assignees to enter the Premises to remove the Assets.  

17.    The Landlord agrees to execute, acknowledge, deliver and do and perform such further instruments and things as Lender may request to 
give effect to the terms hereof.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written above.  
   
 

525 SOUTH DOUGLAS STREET, LLC  
 

By: ____________________  
 

Name: __________________  
 

Title: ___________________  
 
   

____________________________  
Witness as to signature of  
___________________  

 
   

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
 
 

By: ____________________  
 
Name: __________________  
 
Title: ___________________  

 
BORROWER acknowledges and agrees to the foregoing:  
   
Dated this ____ day of November 2009.  
   

REED’S, INC.  
 
 

By:       /s/ Christopher Reed                                        
 

Name:    Christopher Reed  
 

Title:      Chief Executive Officer  
 
 
   
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO LANDLORD WAIVER AND ACCESS AGREE MENT]  
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Exhibit 1.65  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Form of Patent and Trademark Security Agreement  

 
PATENT AND TRADEMARK SECURITY AGREEMENT  

 
PATENT AND TRADEMARK SECURITY AGREEMENT , dated as of November 12, 2009, (this “Agreement”), made by 

REED’S, INC. , a Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business located at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 
90061 ( “ Grantor”), in favor of GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 
305, Santa Monica, CA 90401 (“Lender”).  
 
 

W I T N E S S E T H:  
 

WHEREAS , the Grantor is the borrower under, and has entered into, a loan agreement with Lender, of even date herewith, 
pursuant to which Lender is making revolving loans to Borrower (the “Loan Agreement”);  

   
WHEREAS , the Grantor has, or may in the future acquire, certain right, title and interest in and to certain patents, patent 

applications and trademarks and related property;  
   
WHEREAS, the Grantor has agreed to grant to the Lender a security interest in its right, title and interest in and to all of its 

owned and after-acquired patents, patent applications, trademarks and related rights to secure the payment and performance of obligations of the 
Grantor under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents (as defined in the Loan Agreement);  

   
WHEREAS , it is a condition precedent to the Lender’s entry into the Loan Agreement that the Grantor shall have executed 

and delivered this Agreement to the Lender;  
   
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants contained herein and in the other Loan 

Documents, and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto 
hereby as follows:  

   
1.           Certain Definitions.  
   
(a)           All the agreements or instruments herein defined shall mean such agreements or instruments as the same may from 

time to time be supplemented or amended or the terms thereof waived or modified to the extent permitted by, and in accordance with, the terms 
thereof and of this Agreement.  

   
(b)           Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the 

Loan Agreement.  
   

58 



   
(c)           The following terms shall have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular 

and plural forms of the terms defined):  
   
“Contract” means any contract, agreement, arrangement, license, lease, commitment or other instrument or understanding of 

any kind, whether written or oral, express or implied.  
   
“Patent and Trademark Collateral” means all of the Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to each of the following, whether 

now owned or at any time hereafter acquired by the Grantor or in which the Grantor now has or at any time in the future may acquire any right, 
title or interest:  

   
(1)           all Patents;  
   
(2)           all Patent Licenses;  
   
(3)           all Trademarks;  
   
(4)           all Trademark Licenses;  
   
(5)           all Contracts, Documents and General Intangibles developed or acquired by the Grantor relating to any and all of the 

foregoing;  
   
(6)           all insurance policies to the extent they relate to the preceding items (1) through (5); and  
   
(7)           to the extent not otherwise included in the preceding items (1) through (6), all Proceeds, products, rents, issues, 

profits and returns of and arising from any and all of the foregoing.  
   
“Patent(s)” means all patents, patent applications and patent disclosures which are presently, or in the future may be, owned, 

issued, acquired or used (whether pursuant to a license or otherwise) anywhere in the world by the Grantor, in whole or in part, and all of the 
Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to all patentable inventions and to file applications for patents under patent laws of the United States or 
of any other jurisdiction, including any and all extensions, reissues, substitutes, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, patents of 
addition, re-examinations and renewals thereof, and patents issuing therefrom, and any other proprietary rights related to any of the foregoing 
(including, without limitation, remedies against infringements thereof and rights of protection of an interest therein under the laws of all 
jurisdictions) and any and all foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing, including those listed on Exhibit A to this Agreement, as it may be 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.  

   
“Patent Licenses” means each license agreement identified in Exhibit A to this Agreement as it may be amended, 

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, and each license agreement relating to Patents hereafter granted to, used or acquired by 
the Grantor, in each case together with the right to use and rely upon the inventions and other intellectual property conveyed thereunder.  
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“PTO” means the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  
   
“Security Interest” means the security interest and collateral assignment granted in the Patent and Trademark Collateral 

pursuant to this Agreement.  
   
“Trademark License” means each license agreement identified in Exhibit B hereto as it may be amended, supplemented or 

otherwise modified from time to time, and each license agreement relating to Trademarks hereafter used, adopted or acquired by the Grantor.  
   
“Trademarks” means (a) all trademarks, trade names, corporate names, company names, business names, fictitious business 

names, trade styles, service marks, logos and other source or business identifiers of the Grantor adopted for its use anywhere in the world or 
hereinafter adopted or acquired, whether currently in use or not, and the goodwill associated therewith, all registrations and recordings thereof, 
and all applications in connection therewith, including those identified in Exhibit B to this Agreement, and (b) all renewals thereof by the 
Grantor.  

   
2.             Grant of Security Interest.   As collateral security for the prompt and complete payment and performance when 

due of the Obligations and for the other purposes provided in this Agreement, the Grantor hereby grants, assigns and conveys to the Lender all of 
the Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to the Patent and Trademark Collateral as collateral security and hereby grants the Lender a 
continuing first priority security interest therein. Such grant includes, without limitation, a grant of the security interest to secure the payment 
and performance of the Obligations.  Notwithstanding the foregoing assignment, unless and until there shall have occurred and be continuing an 
Event of Default, the Grantor shall retain and the Lender hereby grants to the Grantor the exclusive, non-transferable, revocable right and license 
to use the Patent and Trademark Collateral on and in connection with making, having made, using and selling products sold by the Grantor, for 
the Grantor’s own benefit and account and for none other (except as provided in the Patent Licenses identified on Exhibit A and the Trademark 
Licenses identified on Exhibit B ).  The Grantor agrees not to sell or assign its interest in, or grant any sublicense under, the foregoing license 
granted to the Grantor without the prior written consent of the Lender, which may be withheld in the Lender’s sole and absolute discretion.  

   
3.             Representations and Warranties .  The Grantor hereby represents and warrants to Lender that:  
   
(a)             Description of Patent and Trademark Collateral.   True and complete schedules setting forth all Patents, Patent 

Licenses, Trademarks and Trademark Licenses owned, held, controlled or used by the Grantor or to which the Grantor is a party on the date of 
this Agreement, together with a summary description and full information in respect of the filing, registration, issuance and expiration dates 
thereof, as applicable, are set forth on Exhibit A with respect to Patents and Patent Licenses and on Exhibit B with respect to Trademarks and 
Trademark Licenses, respectively, to this Agreement.  

   
(b)             Title; No Other Liens. The Patent and Trademark Collateral is held by Grantor free and clear of any and all Liens 

or claims of others.  None of the Grantor’s Affiliates has any right, title or interest in or to any of the Patent and Trademark Collateral.  No 
security agreement, financing statement or other public notice with respect to all or any part of the Patent and Trademark Collateral is on file or 
of record in any public office, except such as may have been filed in favor of the Lender pursuant to the Loan Documents.  
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(c)             Perfected Liens .  The Liens granted pursuant to this Agreement will constitute, upon the completion of all the 

filings or notices listed in Exhibit C to this Agreement, which Exhibit includes all UCC-1 financing statements to be filed pursuant to the Loan 
Documents and all requisite filings to be made with the PTO in the forms substantially similar to that of Exhibit D and Exhibit E to this 
Agreement, as applicable, valid and perfected Liens on all Patent and Trademark Collateral in favor of the Lender, which are prior to all other 
Liens on such Patent and Trademark Collateral and which are enforceable as such against all Persons.  

   
(d)             Consents under Contracts .  No consent (other than consents that have been obtained) of any party (other than the 

Grantor) to any Contract that constitutes part of the Patent and Trademark Collateral is required, or purports to be required, in connection with 
the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the exercise of the Lender’s rights and remedies provided herein or at law.  

   
(e)             Chief Executive Office .  The Grantor’s chief executive office and chief place of business is located at 13000 South 

Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061.  
   
(f)             Authority.   The Grantor has full power, authority and legal right to grant the Lender the Lien on the Patent and 

Trademark Collateral pursuant to this Agreement.  
   
(g)             Approvals, Filings, Etc.   No authorization, approval or consent of, or filing, registration, recording or other action 

with, any United States or foreign court, governmental body, regulatory agency, self-regulatory organization, or stock exchange or market, the 
shareholders of the Grantor or any other Person, including, without limitation, the PTO, is required to be obtained or made by the Grantor or any 
Subsidiary (1) for the grant by the Grantor of the Lien on the Patent and Trademark Collateral pursuant to this Agreement, (2) the collateral 
assignment of the Patent and Trademark Collateral to the Lender pursuant to this Agreement or (3) to perfect the Lien purported to be created by 
this Agreement, in each case except as has been obtained or made or (4) for the exercise of the Lender’s rights and remedies provided herein or 
at law.  

   
(h)             No Claims.   Each of the Patents and Trademarks existing on the date hereof is valid and enforceable, and the 

Grantor is not presently aware of any past, present or prospective claim by any third party that any of such Patents or Trademarks are invalid or 
unenforceable, or that the use of any Patents does or may violate the rights of any third person, or of any basis for any such claims.  

   
(i)             Statutory Notice.   The Grantor has used and will continue to use proper statutory notice in connection with its use 

of the Patents.  
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(j)             Certain Patent Matters.   To its knowledge, the Grantor does not lack any material rights or licenses to use the 

Patents or to make, have made, use, sell, or offer for sale the claimed subject matter of the Patents.  To the knowledge of the Grantor, there are 
no facts which would form a basis for a finding that any of the claims of the Patents is unpatentable, unenforceable or invalid.  To the knowledge 
of the Grantor, there are no pending U.S. or foreign patent applications which, if issued, would limit or prohibit the ability of the Grantor or the 
Lender to make, have made, use, sell, or offer for sale the claimed subject matter of the Patents.  

   
(k)             Custom License Matters.   Each Patent License or Trademark License is the legal, valid and binding obligation of 

the Grantor and the respective licensor thereunder; the Grantor is not, and, to the best knowledge of the Grantor, each licensor is not, in default 
of any of its obligations under any Patent License or Trademark License; no event has occurred and no circumstance exists that with the giving 
of notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute such a default by the Grantor; and, to the best knowledge of the Grantor, no such event 
has occurred or circumstance exists that would constitute a default by the licensor under any Patent License or Trademark License.  

   
4.             Covenants.   The Grantor covenants and agrees with the Lender that from and after the date of this Agreement until 

the payment and performance in full by the Grantor of all of the Obligations:  
   
(a)             Further Documentation.   At any time and from time to time, upon the written request of the Lender, and at the 

sole expense of the Grantor, the Grantor will promptly and duly execute and deliver such further instruments and documents and take such 
further actions as the Lender may request for the purpose of obtaining or preserving the full benefits of this Agreement and of the rights and 
powers herein granted, including, without limitation, any applicable filing with the PTO and the filing of any financing or continuation 
statements under the UCC or similar laws in effect in any such jurisdiction with respect to the Liens created hereby.  The Grantor also hereby 
authorizes the Lender to file any such financing or continuation statement without the signature of the Grantor to the extent permitted by 
applicable law.  A photographic or other reproduction of this Agreement shall be sufficient as a financing statement for filing in any jurisdiction.  

   
(b)             Maintenance of Records . The Grantor will keep and maintain at its own cost and expense satisfactory and 

complete records of the Patent and Trademark Collateral.  For the further security of the Lender, the Grantor hereby grants to the Lender a 
security interest in all of the Grantor’s books and records pertaining to the Patent and Trademark Collateral, and the Grantor shall turn over any 
such books and records for inspection at the office of the Grantor to the Lender or to its representatives during normal business hours at the 
request of the Lender.  

   
(c)             Limitation on Liens on Patent and Trademark Collateral.   The Grantor (x) will not create, incur or permit to 

exist, will defend the Patent and Trademark Collateral against, and will take such other action as is necessary to remove, any Lien or claim on or 
to the Patent and Trademark Collateral, other than the Liens created hereby and by the other Loan Documents, and (y) will defend the right, title 
and interest of the Lender in and to any of the Patent and Trademark Collateral against the claims and demands of all Persons.  
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(d)             Limitations on Dispositions of Patent and Trademark Collateral.   The Grantor will not sell, transfer, assign, 

grant any participation in, sublicense or otherwise dispose of any of the Patent and Trademark Collateral to any Persons, including, without 
limitation, any Subsidiary or Affiliate, or attempt, offer or contract to do so.  

   
(e)             Limitations on Modifications, Waivers, Extensions of Patent Licenses and Trademark Licenses.   The Grantor 

will not (i) amend, modify, terminate or waive any provision of any Patent License with respect to any Patent or Trademark License with respect 
to any Trademark in any manner which could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the value of such Patent License or 
Trademark License as Patent and Trademark Collateral, or (ii) fail to exercise promptly and diligently each and every material right and perform 
each material obligation which it may have under each Patent License and Trademark License with respect to any Trademarks.  Within three (3) 
days of receipt thereof, the Grantor will deliver to the Lender a copy of each material demand, notice or document received by it relating in any 
way to each Patent License and Trademark License.  

   
(f)             Further Identification of Patent and Trademark Coll ateral.   The Grantor shall furnish to the Lender from time 

to time, upon the request of the Lender, statements and schedules further identifying and describing the Patent and Trademark Collateral and 
such other reports in connection with the Patent and Trademark Collateral as the Lender may reasonably request, all in reasonable detail.  

   
(g)             Notices.   The Grantor shall advise the Lender promptly, but in no event later than three (3) days after the 

occurrence thereof, in reasonable detail, at its address specified in accordance with Section 15 hereof, (i) of any Lien on, or claim asserted 
against, any of the Patent and Trademark Collateral, other than as created hereby or as permitted hereby, (ii) of any Event of Default hereunder 
or any event which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would become an Event of Default hereunder and (iii) of the 
occurrence of any other event which could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Liens created hereunder or the rights 
of the Lender hereunder.  

   
(h)             Patents.  

 
(1)           The Grantor will notify the Lender immediately if it knows, or has reason to know, that any application 

relating to any Patent may become abandoned or of any adverse determination or development (including, without limitation, the 
institution of, or any such determination or development in, any proceeding in the PTO or any court or tribunal in any country) 
regarding the Grantor’s ownership of or license rights or other rights with respect to any Patent.  

   
(2)           The Grantor will, with respect to any Patent that the Grantor obtains after the Closing Date or any Patent 

License that the Grantor acquires after the Closing Date, promptly, but in no event later than three (3) days thereafter, (i) take all actions 
necessary so that the Lender shall obtain a perfected security interest in such Patent or Patent License and (ii) provide to the Lender a 
revised Exhibit A , listing all Patents and all Patent Licenses in which the Grantor has an interest.  
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(3)           Upon request of the Lender, the Grantor shall execute and deliver any and all agreements, instruments, 

documents, and papers as the Lender may request to evidence the Lender’s security interest in such Patents or Patent Licenses, and the 
Grantor hereby constitutes the Lender its attorney-in-fact to execute and file all such writings for the foregoing purposes, all acts of such 
attorney being hereby ratified and confirmed; such power being coupled with an interest is irrevocable until the Grantor shall have paid 
and performed in full all of its obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.  

   
(4)           The Grantor will take all reasonable and necessary steps, including, without limitation, in any proceeding 

before the PTO to maintain and pursue each Patent including, without limitation, payment of maintenance fees.  
   

(5)           In the event that any Patent included in the Patent and Trademark Collateral is infringed by a third party, the 
Grantor shall promptly notify the Lender after the Grantor learns thereof and shall, if appropriate, sue for infringement, seeking 
injunctive relief where appropriate and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, or take such other actions as the Grantor 
shall reasonably deem appropriate under the circumstances to protect such Patent.  

   
(6)           The Grantor hereby grants to the Lender and Lender’s employees and agents the right, upon prior written 

notice, to visit the Grantor’s plants and facilities, and the Grantor shall use its best efforts to arrange for the Lender and its employees 
and agents to have access to such plants and facilities of third parties which manufacture or supply goods or services, for or under 
contract with the Grantor.  

   
(i)           Trademarks.  
   

(1)           The Grantor (either itself or through licensees) will, with respect to each Trademark identified in Exhibit 
B , as Exhibit B may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, (i) continue to use or have used such 
Trademark to the extent necessary to maintain such Trademark in full force free from any claim of abandonment for non-use, (ii) 
maintain as in the past the quality of products and services offered under such Trademark, (iii) employ such Trademark with the 
appropriate notice of registration, (iv) not adopt or use any mark which is confusingly similar or a colorable imitation of such 
Trademark unless the Lender shall obtain a first priority perfected security interest in the Grantor’s interest in such mark pursuant to this 
Agreement, and (v) not (and not permit any licensee or sublicensee thereof to) do any act or knowingly omit to do any act whereby any 
such Trademark may become invalidated.  

   
(2)           The Grantor will promptly notify the Lender if any application or registration relating to any Trademark 

may become abandoned, canceled or denied, or of any adverse determination or development (including, without limitation, the 
institution of, or any such determination or development in, any proceeding in the PTO or any court or tribunal in any country) 
regarding the Grantor’s ownership interest in such Trademark or its right to register the same or to keep and maintain the same.  
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(3)           The Grantor will, with respect to any Trademark that the Grantor registers after the Closing Date or any 

Trademark License that the Grantor acquires after the Closing Date, promptly (i) take all actions necessary so that the Lender shall 
obtain a perfected security interest in such Trademark or Trademark License and (ii) provide to the Lender a revised Exhibit B listing 
all registered Trademarks and all Trademark Licenses in which the Grantor has an interest.  

   
(4)           Upon request of the Lender, the Grantor shall execute and deliver any and all agreements, instruments, 

documents, and papers as the Lender may request to evidence the Lender’s security interest in any Trademark and the goodwill and 
general intangibles of the Grantor relating thereto or represented thereby, and the Grantor hereby constitutes the Lender its attorney-in-
fact to execute and file all such writings for the foregoing purposes, all acts of such attorney being hereby ratified and confirmed; such 
power being coupled with an interest is irrevocable until the Grantor shall have paid and performed in full all of its obligations under 
the Loan Documents.  

   
(5)           The Grantor will take all reasonable and necessary steps, including, without limitation, in any proceeding 

before the PTO, to maintain and pursue each application (and to obtain the relevant registration) and to maintain the registration of the 
Trademarks, including, without limitation, filing of applications for renewal, affidavits of use and affidavits of incontestability.  

   
(6)           In the event that any Trademark included in the Patent and Trademark Collateral is infringed, 

misappropriated or diluted by a third party, the Grantor shall notify the Lender and shall, if appropriate, sue for infringement, 
misappropriation or dilution, seeking injunctive relief where appropriate and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, 
misappropriation or dilution, or take such other action as the Grantor reasonably deems appropriate under the circumstances to protect 
such Trademark.  

 
(j)             Further Actions.   Without limiting the foregoing provisions of this Section 4, the Grantor further agrees for itself 

and its successors and assigns to execute upon request any other lawful documents and likewise to perform any other lawful acts which may be 
necessary or desirable to secure fully for the Lender, all right, title and interest in and to the Patent and Trademark Collateral, including, but not 
limited to, the execution of substitution, reissue, divisional or continuation patent applications, and preliminary or other statement of the giving 
of testimony in any interference or other proceeding in which the Patent and Trademark Collateral or any application, Patent or Trademark 
directed thereto or derived therefrom may be involved.  

   
(k)             License Agreements .  The Grantor shall comply with its obligations under each of its Patent Licenses and 

Trademark Licenses.  
   

65 



   
(l)             Changes in Locations, Name, Etc.    The Grantor will not (i) change the location of its chief executive office/chief 

place of business from that specified in Section 3(e) or (ii) change its name, identity or corporate structure except as may be permitted under the 
Loan Agreement and, prior to such action or event, shall have taken appropriate action satisfactory to the Lender to preserve and protect the 
Lender’s collateral assignment and the Security Interest under this Agreement.  

   
(m)             Subsidiaries.   This Agreement is entered into on behalf of and for the benefit of the Grantor.  The Grantor will not 

permit any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates to have any ownership or other rights in or to exercise any control over any of the Patent and 
Trademark Collateral.  

   
(n)             Indemnification .  The Grantor shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless the Lender and its officers, 

trustees, employees, attorneys, managers, members, directors, Affiliates, agents, shareholders and representatives (each, an “Indemnified 
Person”) from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, judgments, damages, expenses or liabilities (including liabilities for penalties) of 
whatsoever kind or nature, and to reimburse the Lender for all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
expenses, caused by, relating to, arising out of, resulting from, or in any way connected with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated 
herein, including, without limitation, any breach hereof or Event of Default, or the exercise by the Lender of any right or remedy granted to it 
hereunder or under the other Loan Documents or under applicable law.  In no event shall any Indemnified Person other than the Lender have any 
liability or obligation to the Grantor under this Agreement or applicable law (liability under which the Grantor hereby waives) for any matter or 
thing in connection with this Agreement, and in no event shall the Lender be liable, in the absence of a determination of gross negligence or 
willful misconduct on its part by final judgment (not subject to further appeal) of a court of competent jurisdiction, for any matter or thing in 
connection with this Agreement other than to account for moneys actually received by it in accordance with the terms hereof.  If and to the 
extent that the obligations of the Grantor under this Section 4(n) are unenforceable for any reason, the Grantor hereby agrees to make the 
maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of such obligations which is permissible under applicable law.  

   
5.             Lender’s Powers .  
   
(a)             Powers .  The Grantor hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Lender and any officer or agent thereof with 

full power of substitution, as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact with full irrevocable power and authority in the place and stead of the Grantor 
and in the name of the Grantor or in its own name, from time to time in the Lender’s discretion, during any period in which an Event of Default 
is continuing, for the purpose of carrying out the terms of this Agreement, to take any and all appropriate action and to execute any and all 
documents and instruments which may be necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement. The Grantor hereby ratifies all 
that said attorneys shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  This power of attorney is a power coupled with an interest and shall be 
irrevocable until the Grantor shall have paid and performed in full all of the Obligations.  
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(b)             Filing and Recordation.   In addition to the filings the Grantor is required to make as specified in Exhibit C , this 

Agreement or an instrument referring hereto may be filed and recorded in such public offices and with such governmental authorities, including 
the PTO, as the Lender may determine from time to time.  The Lender may so file and record this Agreement as a “security interest”, “collateral 
assignment”, “assignment” or similar designation as the Lender may determine (so long as such designation is consistent with the terms of this 
Agreement) and the Lender may from time to time rerecord and refile or take other action to change the designation under which this Agreement 
is filed or recorded (so long as such designation is consistent with the terms of this Agreement).  

   
(c)             Other Powers.   The Grantor also authorizes the Lender, at any time and from time to time, to execute, in 

connection with the sale provided for herein, any endorsements, assignments or other instruments of conveyance or transfer with respect to the 
Patent and Trademark Collateral.  

   
(d)             No Duty on Lender’s Part.   The powers conferred on the Lender hereunder are solely to protect the Lender’s 

interests in the Patent and Trademark Collateral and shall not impose any duty upon the Lender to exercise any such powers.  The Lender shall 
be accountable only for amounts that it actually receives as a result of the exercise of such powers, and neither it nor any of its officers, directors, 
partners, managers, employees or agents shall be responsible to the Grantor for any act or failure to act hereunder, except for their own gross 
negligence or willful misconduct.  

   
(e)             Grantor Remains Liable under Contracts .  Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Grantor shall 

remain liable under each of the Contracts that constitute part of the Patent and Trademark Collateral to observe and perform all the conditions 
and obligations to be observed and performed by it thereunder, all in accordance with and pursuant to the terms and provisions of each such 
Contract.  The Lender shall not have any obligation or liability under any Contract that constitutes part of the Patent and Trademark Collateral by 
reason of or arising out of this Agreement or the receipt by the Lender of any payment relating to such Contract pursuant hereto, nor shall the 
Lender be obligated in any manner to perform any of the obligations of the Grantor under or pursuant to any such Contract, to make any 
payment, to make any inquiry as to the nature or the sufficiency of any payment received by it or as to the sufficiency of any performance by any 
party under any such Contract, to present or file any claim, to take any action to enforce any performance or to collect the payment of any 
amounts which may have been assigned to it or to which it may be entitled at any time or times.  

   
6.             Performance by Lender of Grantor’s Obligations.   If the Grantor fails to perform or comply with any of its 

agreements contained herein, the Lender, following notice to the Grantor to the extent required under the Loan Documents, may itself perform or 
comply, or otherwise cause performance or compliance, with such agreement, and the expenses of the Lender incurred in connection with such 
performance or compliance shall be payable by the Grantor to the Lender on demand and shall constitute Obligations secured hereby in 
accordance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement.  
   

67 



   
7.             Remedies.   If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Lender may exercise, in addition to all other 

rights and remedies granted to it in this Agreement and in any other instrument or agreement securing, evidencing or relating to the Obligations, 
all rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC and all other rights and remedies granted to it under the Loan Agreement.  

   
8.             Limitation on Duties Regarding Preservation of Patent and Trademark Collateral.   The Lender’s sole duty 

with respect to the custody, safekeeping and physical preservation of the Patent and Trademark Collateral in its possession, under the UCC or 
otherwise, shall be to deal with it in the same manner as the Lender deals with similar property for its own account.  Neither the Lender nor any 
of its Affiliates, directors, managers, members, officers, employees, representatives or agents shall be liable for failure to demand, collect or 
realize upon all or any part of the Patent and Trademark Collateral or for any delay in doing so or shall be under any obligation to sell or 
otherwise dispose of any Patent and Trademark Collateral upon the request of the Grantor or otherwise.  

   
9.             Powers Coupled with an Interest.   All authorizations and agencies herein contained with respect to the Patent and 

Trademark Collateral are irrevocable and powers coupled with an interest until the Grantor has paid and performed in full all of the Obligations.  
   
10.             Severability.   Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to 

such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and 
any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.  

   
11.             Paragraph Headings, Captions, Etc.   The paragraph headings, the captions and the footers, used in this 

Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to affect the construction hereof or be taken into consideration in the interpretation 
hereof.  

   
12.             No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies.   The Lender shall not by any act, delay, indulgence, omission or otherwise be 

deemed to have waived any right or remedy hereunder or to have acquiesced in any Event of Default or in any breach of any of the terms and 
conditions hereof.  No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Lender, any right, power or privilege hereunder shall 
operate as a waiver thereof.  No single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.  A waiver by the Lender of any right or remedy hereunder on any one occasion 
shall not be construed as a bar to any right or remedy which the Lender would otherwise have on any future occasion.  The rights and remedies 
herein and in the other Loan Documents provided are cumulative, may be exercised singly or concurrently and are not exclusive of any rights or 
remedies provided by law or in equity or by statute.  
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13.             Waivers and Amendments; Successors and Assigns.   None of the terms or provisions of this Agreement may be 

waived, amended, supplemented or otherwise modified except by a written instrument executed by the party to be charged with 
enforcement.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Grantor and shall inure to the benefit of the Lender and its 
successors and assigns.  The Grantor may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 
Lender, which may be withheld by the Lender in its sole and absolute discretion.  

   
14.             Termination of Security Interest; Release of Patent and Trademark Collateral.  
   
(a)      Upon the indefeasible payment and performance in full by the Grantor of the Obligations, all right, title and 

interest of the Lender in and to the Patent and Trademark Collateral, including the Security Interest, pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate 
and all rights to the Patent and Trademark Collateral shall revert to the Grantor.  

   
(b)           Upon any such termination of the Security Interest, the Lender will, at the expense of the Grantor, execute and 

deliver to the Grantor such documents and take such other actions as the Grantor shall reasonably request to evidence the reassignment of the 
Patent and Trademark Collateral to the Grantor and the termination of the Security Interest.  The Lender shall deliver to the Grantor all Patent 
and Trademark Collateral so released then in the Lender’s possession.  

   
15.             Notices.  
   

All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto shall be given in writing and either (a) delivered by hand or (b) 
delivered by national overnight courier service with next business day delivery, and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made on the date 
of delivery if delivered by hand, and on the next business day if delivered by national overnight courier service.    All notices, requests and 
demands are to be given or made to the respective parties at the following addresses (or to such other addresses as either party may designate by 
notice in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph):  
 

   
   
 
   

If to Grantor:  Reed’s, Inc.  
13000 South Spring Street,  
Los Angeles, California 90061  
Attn: Christopher Reed, Chief Executive Officer  
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16.             Fees and Expenses .  The Grantor agrees to pay the fees of the Lender in performing its services under this 

Agreement and all reasonable expenses (including but not limited to attorneys’ fees and costs for legal services, costs of insurance and payments 
of taxes or other charges) of, or incidental to, the custody, care, sale or realization on any of the Patent and Trademark Collateral or in any way 
relating to the performance of the obligations or the enforcement or protection of the rights of the Lender hereunder.  

   
17.             Survival.   All representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Grantor and of the Lender contained 

herein will survive the execution and delivery hereof and the release of any Patent and Trademark Collateral pursuant hereto and shall remain 
operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Lender or the Grantor or any person who 
controls the Lender or the Grantor.  

   
18.             Grantor’s Obligations Absolute, Etc. The obligations of the Grantor under this Agreement shall be absolute and 

unconditional and shall remain in full force and effect without regard to, and shall not be released, suspended, discharged, terminated or 
otherwise affected by, any circumstance or occurrence whatsoever, including, without limitation:  (a) any renewal, extension, amendment or 
modification of or addition or supplement to or deletion from any of the other Loan Documents or any other agreement or instrument referred to 
therein, or any assignment or transfer of any thereof; (b) any waiver, consent, extension, indulgence or other action or inaction under or in 
respect of any such Loan Document or other agreement or instrument; (c) any furnishing of any additional security to the Lender or its assignees 
or any acceptance thereof or any release of any security by the Lender or its assignees; (d) any limitation on any party’s liability or obligations 
under any such Loan Document or other agreement or instrument or any invalidity or unenforceability, in whole or in part, of any such Loan 
Document or other agreement or instrument or any term thereof; or (e) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, composition, adjustment, 
dissolution, liquidation or other like proceeding relating to the Grantor, or any action taken with respect to this Agreement by any trustee or 
receiver, or by any court, in any such proceeding, whether or not the Grantor shall have notice or knowledge of any of the foregoing.  

   
19.             Integration.   This Agreement, together with the other agreements referenced herein, represents the entire 

agreement of the Grantor and the Lender with respect to the subject matter hereof, and there are no promises, undertakings, representations or 
warranties by the Lender relative to the subject matter hereof not expressly set forth or referred to herein.  
   

If to Lender:  GemCap Lending I, LLC  
1401 Ocean Avenue  
Suite 305  
Santa Monica, California 90401  
Attn: David Ellis  

With a copy to:   Cohen Tauber Spievack & Wagner P.C.  
420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 2400  
New York, New York 10170  
Attention:  Robert A. Boghosian, Esq.  
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20.             Counterparts; Execution .  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and all the 

counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.  This Agreement, once executed by a party, may be 
delivered to the other party hereto by electronic transmission of a copy of this Agreement bearing the signature of the party so delivering this 
Agreement.  

   
21.            APPLICABLE LAW .   THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED  AND 

INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STAT E OF CALIFORNIA, THE LAWS OF WHICH THE 
GRANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY ELECTS TO APPLY TO THIS AG REEMENT, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO 
PROVISIONS FOR CHOICE OF LAW THEREUNDER.  THE GRANT OR AGREES THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING 
BROUGHT TO ENFORCE OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT  SHALL BE COMMENCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT.  

   
22.            WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .  GRANTOR HEREBY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS THAT IT  MAY 

NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE UNDER THE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR ANY STATE TO A TRIAL BY 
JURY OF ANY AND ALL ISSUES ARISING EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING 
BETWEEN GRANTOR AND LENDER OR THEIR SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED 
WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE COLLATERAL.  IT IS 
INTENDED THAT SAID WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY AND AL L DEFENSES, RIGHTS, AND/OR COUNTERCLAIMS IN 
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDINGS BETWEEN GRANTOR AND LENDE R.  GRANTOR WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO INTERPOSE 
ANY CLAIMS, DEDUCTIONS, SETOFFS OR COUNTERCLAIMS OF  ANY KIND, NATURE OR DESCRIPTION IN ANY ACTION 
OR PROCEEDING INSTITUTED BY LENDER WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, 
THE OBLIGATIONS, THE COLLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISI NG THEREFROM OR RELATING THERETO, EXCEPT 
COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIMS.  

   
23.            CONSENT TO JURISDICTION .  GRANTOR HEREBY (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS AND CONSE NTS 

TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDE RAL COURTS LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY, WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR P ROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE 
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE CO LLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM 
OR RELATING THERETO, AND (b) WAIVES ANY OBJECTION W HICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON 
VENUE OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS WITH RESPECT THERETO.  IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEE DING, GRANTOR 
WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAIN T OR OTHER PROCESS AND PAPERS THEREIN AND 
AGREES THAT THE SERVICE THEREOF MAY BE MADE BY CERT IFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, 
DIRECTED TO GRANTOR AT ITS OFFICES SET FORTH HEREIN  OR OTHER ADDRESS THEREOF OF WHICH LENDER 
HAS RECEIVED NOTICE AS PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT.    NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, GRANTOR 
CONSENTS TO THE COMMENCEMENT BY LENDER OF ANY ACTIO N OR PROCEEDING IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION 
TO ENFORCE ITS RIGHTS IN AND TO THE COLLATERAL AND GRANTOR WAIVES ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY 
NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON VENUE AND/OR FORUM N ON CONVENIENS OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING.  
   
   

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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24.             Construction.   The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to 

express their mutual intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Grantor and the Lender have caused this Patent and Trademark Security Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers or other representatives thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.  
   

   
 
   
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE – PATENT AND TRADEMARK SECURITY AGR EEMENT]  
   

  

REED’S, INC.  
 
 
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  

    
    

  

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
   
   
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  
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STATE OF                )ss.  
COUNTY OF            )  
 
On _______________, 2009, before me, ______________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  _____________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person ( s ) whose name ( s ) is / are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he / she / they executed the same in his / her / their authorized capacity ( ies ) on behalf of Reed’s, Inc., as Grantor, and 
that by his / her / their signature ( s ) on the instrument, Reed’s, Inc. executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of ___________ that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
 
   
STATE OF                )ss.  
COUNTY OF            )  
 
On _______________, 2009, before me, ________________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  ___________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to 
me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity on behalf of GemCap Lending I, LLC, as Lender, and that by his signature on the 
instrument, GemCap Lending I, LLC executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the state of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
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EXHIBIT A  

   
Patents, Patent Licenses and Patent Applications  

 
None  

 
   

ISSUED PATENTS  
None  

 
   

PATENT  LICENSES  
 

None  
 
   

PATENT APPLICATIONS  
   

None  
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EXHIBIT B  

 
Trademarks and Trademark Licenses  

TRADEMARKS  
 
 

 
 

TRADEMARK LICENSES  
 
 

   
   
   
   

Serial App. No.  Item  Status  Filing Date  Date Published,  Allowed, 
or Registered  

           
   

78014426  Reed’s  [                    ]  [                    ]  [                          ]  
   

78867175  Virgil’s  Live  April 21, 2006  February 27, 2007  
   

  Sonoma Sparkler  Abandoned       
   

73720012  China Cola  Live  January 9, 2009  Not yet registered  
   

           
   

Trademark License  Parties  Date  
   

None.       
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EXHIBIT C  

   
Filings Required for Collateral Assignment  

and to Perfect Security Interest  
   

 

 

 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

1.   Filing of Trademark Collateral Assignment and Security Agreement with the United States Patent and Trademark Office  

2.   Filing of Patent Collateral Assignment and Security Agreement with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, as applicable  

3.   Filing of notice of security interest with the State of Delaware.  
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EXHIBIT D  

 
FORM OF PATENT COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT  

AND SECURITY AGREEMENT  
 

This PATENT SECURITY AGREEMENT, dated as of November __, 2009, (this “Agreement”), made by REED’S, INC., a 
Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061  ( “ Grantor”), in 
favor of GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305, Santa Monica, 
CA 90401 (“Lender”).  

   
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meaning set forth in the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement, of even 

date herewith, between Grantor and Lender (the “Patent and Trademark Security Agreement”).  
   

W I T N E S S E T H:  
 

WHEREAS, the Grantor has acquired certain right, title and interest in certain United States patents and patent applications identified 
in Exhibit 1 hereto (the “Patents”);  
 

WHEREAS , the Grantor and the Lender are parties to that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of November _, 2009 (as 
from time to time amended or supplemented, the “Loan Agreement”);  

   
WHEREAS, it is a condition precedent to the Lender’s entry into the Loan Agreement that the Grantor shall have executed and 

delivered the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement to the Lender;  
   
WHEREAS, the Grantor wishes to grant to the Lender a security interest in certain of its property and assets to secure the performance 

of its obligations under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents; and  
   
W HEREAS, the Grantor and Lender by this instrument seek to confirm and make a record of the collateral assignment of and grant of 

a security interest in the Patents;  
   
NOW, THEREFORE , for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Grantor 

does hereby acknowledge and confirm that it has made a collateral assignment to the Lender of, and has granted to the Lender a security interest 
in, all of the Grantor’s right, title and interest in, to, and under the Patents.  The Grantor also acknowledges and confirms that the rights and 
remedies of the Lender with respect to the collateral assignment of and security interests in the Patents acknowledged and confirmed hereby are 
more fully set forth in the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement and the Loan Documents, the terms and provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference.  
   
   

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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[SIGNATURE PAGE - PATENT COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENTAND S ECURITY AGREEMENT]  
   

  

REED’S, INC.  
 
 
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  

    
    

  

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
   
   
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  
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STATE OF                )ss.  
COUNTY OF            )  
 
On _____________, 2009, before me, ______________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  
_________________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity on behalf of Reed’s, Inc., as Grantor, and 
that by his signature on the instrument, Reed’s, Inc. executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of ___________ that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
 
 
STATE OF               )ss.  
COUNTY OF           )  
 
On ______________, 2009, before me, _________________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  
______________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed to the 
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity on behalf of GemCap Lending I, LLC, as 
Lender, and that by his signature on the instrument, GemCap Lending I, LLC executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
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EXHIBIT 1  

 
Patents and Patent Applications  
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EXHIBIT E  

   
FORM OF TRADEMARK COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT  

AND SECURITY AGREEMENT  
 

This TRADEMARK SECURITY AGREEMENT, dated as of November 13, 2009, made by   REED’S, INC., a Delaware 
corporation, with its principal place of business located at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061  ( “ Grantor”), in favor of 
GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305, Santa Monica, CA 90401 
(“Lender”).  

   
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meaning set forth in the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement, of even 

date herewith, between Grantor and Lender (the “Patent and Trademark Security Agreement”).  
 

W I T N E S S E T H:  
 

WHEREAS, the Grantor has acquired an interest in certain trademarks identified in Exhibit 1 hereto (the “Trademarks”);  
 

WHEREAS , the Grantor and the Lender are parties to that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2009 (as 
from time to time amended or supplemented, the “Loan Agreement”);  

   
WHEREAS, it is a condition precedent to the Lender’s entry into the Loan Agreement that the Grantor shall have executed and deliver 

the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement to the Lender;  
   
WHEREAS, the Grantor wishes to grant to Lender a security interest in certain of its property and assets to secure the performance of 

its obligations under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents;  
   
WHEREAS, the Grantor and the Lender by this instrument seek to confirm and make a record of the collateral assignment of and grant 

of a security interest in the Trademarks.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Grantor 

does hereby acknowledge and confirm that it has made a collateral assignment to the Lender of, and has granted to the Lender a security interest 
in, all of the Grantor’s right, title and interest in, to, and under the Trademarks.  The Grantor also acknowledges and confirms that the rights and 
remedies of Lender with respect to the collateral assignment of and security interests in the Trademarks acknowledged and confirmed hereby are 
more fully set forth in the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement and the Loan Documents, the terms and provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference.  
 
   

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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[SIGNATURE PAGE - TRADEMARK COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENTAN D SECURITY AGREEMENT]  
   
   

  

REED’S, INC.  
 
 
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  

    
    

  

GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
   
   
By: _________________________  
Name:  
Title:  
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STATE OF                )ss.  
COUNTY OF            )  
 
On _______________, 2009, before me, ________________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  
____________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed to the 
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity on behalf of Reed’s, Inc., as Grantor, and that by 
his signature on the instrument, Reed’s, Inc. executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of ___________ that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
 
 
STATE OF                )ss.  
COUNTY OF            )  
 
On ________________, 2009, before me, __________________________, a Notary Public, personally appeared  
_________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity on behalf of GemCap Lending I, LLC, as Lender, and 
that by his signature on the instrument, GemCap Lending I, LLC executed the instrument.  
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.  
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.  
 
 
____________________________________________  
                                                                , Notary Public  
My Commission Expires ___________________  
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EXHIBIT 1  

 
Trademarks  

 

   
   

Serial App. No.  Item  
   

     
   

78014426  Reed’s  
   

78867175  Virgil’s  
   

  Sonoma Sparkler  
   

73720012  China Cola  
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Exhibit 1.67  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Permitted Encumbrances  

 
Landlord’s interest in the following equipment (and in similar equipment used for the brewing of beverages hereafter acquired by Borrower and 
located at 12930 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California  90061, or 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061):  
 

 
 

Machinery & Equipment  
Ursell Dicer Cutter &Slicer  
Cooling Tower  
Air Compressor  
Keg Machine  
Floor Grinder  
Forklift Overhaul  
20 Ton Glycol Chiller Refrigerator system  
Storage containers (4)x 40 foot  
5,000# lift truck  
Air Compressor  
  
Brewery  Equipment  
Bottling Line from Palm Springs Brewing  
included 1997 GAI Rinser/Filler/Crowner, Kosme labeler and conveyers and two jacked 50 BBl pressure vessels  
Case Packer  
Conveyer  
Fristam Sanitary pump  
Electrical panel  
pasteurizer from AGAR Tank & Equipment  
Cirque Brewery  
includes 600 sq ft cold box 3 kettle 30 BBl brewhouse 6x 60 BBl pressure vessels misc pumps etc  
tank insulation upgrade  
IDD flash pasteurizer  
Filter Culligan Carbon bed  
5 gallon kegs x 500  
Marq case erector  
Pearson 6 pak erector  
Pearson stuffer  
Conveyor for marq and pearson  
  
Boiler Equipment  
Smith Boiler from SAI, Inc  
Boiler System add-ons  
  
Other Equipment  
Equipment described as collateral in the UCC Financing Statements filed by Landlord on November 12, 2009, with initial filing numbers 2009 
3643183, 2009 3643191, 2009 3643209, and 2009 3643217.  
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Exhibit 1.87  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Form of Validity Agreement  

 
VALIDITY GUARANTY  

   
This Validity Guaranty, dated as of November 12,2009 ("Guaranty"), is by Christopher Reed (" Guarantor" ) in favor of GemCap 

Lending I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ( "Lender" ).  
 

RECITALS  
 
   

A.           Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meaning set forth in that certain Loan and Security Agreement, of 
even date herewith (the "Loan Agreement" ), by and among Lender and Reed's, Inc., a Delaware corporation ( "Borrower "). " Guarantor 
Obligations" means Guarantor's guarantee of the full and prompt payment, satisfaction and performance of the Obligations in accordance with 
the terms and subject to the limitations set forth herein.  

   
B.           Guarantor desires that Lender establish a revolving loan credit facility for Borrower in the principal amount of up to Three 

Million Dollars ($3,000,000) pursuant to the Loan agreement (such facility, as may be modified or replaced from time to time, the " Facility" ).  
   

C.           Lender has conditioned its willingness to establish the Facility upon the fulfillment of certain conditions, among them that 
Guarantor enters into this Guaranty.  
   

D.           Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that Guarantor will derive a substantial and direct benefit and advantage from the Facility 
and other agreements and financial accommodations of Lender to Borrower under the Loan Documents.  
   

Accordingly, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Guarantor, the parties hereby agree as follows:  
   

Section 1. Guaranty . Subject to Section 2. Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to Lender the full 
and prompt payment, satisfaction and performance of any and all Obligations as and when due, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or 
otherwise, and including any and all interest, fees, expenses, damages, and penalties that may be paid or incurred by Lender in the collection of 
all or any portion of the Obligations or the exercise or enforcement of any one or more of the other rights, powers, privileges, remedies and 
interests of Lender relating thereto, irrespective of the manner or success of any such collection, exercise or enforcement.  
   

Section 2. Limitation . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Guaranty to the contrary, Lender shall not enforce this Guaranty 
except to the extent of any loss, damage, cost, expense, liability, claim or other obligation incurred by Lender (including attorneys' fees and costs 
reasonably incurred) arising out of or in connection with one or more of the following (each of the following clauses (a) through (e) being 
independent and Lender may enforce this Guaranty separately under any or all of them):  
   

(a)    any fraud or misrepresentation by Borrower or Guarantor in connection with the Loan Documents or the transactions 
contemplated thereby;  
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(b)      the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Borrower or Guarantor;  
   
(c)    the removal or disposal of any portion of the Collateral after an Event of Default;  

   
(d)    any tortious interference by Guarantor with the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby; or  

   
(e)    any misappropriation of any Loan proceeds by Borrower or Guarantor, or any other negligent or intentional misconduct by 

Borrower or Guarantor that impairs the Collateral.  
   

Section 3. Continuing Guaranty . Guarantor covenants and agrees that: (a) this is a continuing guarantee of payment, satisfaction and 
performance, and not collectibility only, whether the Obligations are now or hereafter existing, acquired or created, and irrespective of the fact 
that, from time to time, monies may be advanced, repaid and readvanced, and the outstanding balance of the Facility may be zero; (b) mis 
Guaranty may not be revoked or terminated until such time as the Obligations and Guarantor Obligations shall have been fully paid and satisfied 
and Lender acknowledges the same in writing to Guarantor; (c) the Obligations shall not be deemed to have been otherwise fully paid and 
satisfied so long as any Loan Document (other than this Guaranty) shall have any continuing force or effect; and (d) the Obligations will be paid 
and satisfied in full in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Loan Documents without regard to any applicable law now or hereafter in 
effect in any jurisdiction, or the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of any term of any Loan Document, including, without 
limitation, any applicable law that might in any manner affect any of those terms and provisions, or any of the rights, powers, privileges, 
remedies and interests of Lender with respect thereto, or that might cause or permit to be invoked any alteration in the time, amount, or manner 
of payment of any of the Obligations by Borrower or any other person or entity (other than Lender).  
   

Section 4. Agreement Absolute. Survival of Representations. Etc. Each of the representations, warranties, covenants and other 
obligations and agreements contained in this Guaranty and the Loan Documents: (a) shall be absolute and unconditional, irrespective of the 
legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of any Obligations or Guarantor Obligations or of any Loan Document; (b) shall survive the 
execution and delivery of this Guaranty and the Loan Documents, and any and all advances, repayments and readvances thereunder, and shall 
remain and continue in full force and effect until Lender's lending commitment (if any) under the Facility has terminated and all Obligations and 
Guarantor Obligations have been fully paid and/or satisfied, without regard (i) to any waiver, modification, extension, renewal, consolidation, 
division, amendment or restatement of any term or provision of any Loan Document, (ii) to any full, partial, delayed, discontinued or non-
exercise of any of Lender's rights, powers, privileges, remedies and interests under any Loan Document or applicable law, against any person or 
entity, which exercise or enforcement may be delayed, discontinued or otherwise not pursued or exhausted for any or no reason whatsoever, or 
which may be waived, omitted or otherwise not exercised or enforced (whether intentionally or otherwise), (iii) to any surrender, repossession, 
sequestration, foreclosure, conveyance or assignment (by deed in lieu of foreclosure, or otherwise), sale, lease or other realization, dealing or 
disposition respecting any Collateral, (iv) to any release, subordination or impairment of all or any part of any Obligations or Collateral, or any 
security interest therein (whether intentionally or otherwise), (v) to any extension, stay, moratorium or statute of limitations or similar time 
constraint under any applicable law, (vi) to any investigation, analysis or evaluation by Lender or its designees or representatives of the assets, 
business, operations, properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower or Guarantor (vii) to any act or omission on the part of Lender, 
Borrower, or any other person or entity, (viii) to any inducement to Guarantor to enter into this Guaranty, or (ix) to any other event that 
otherwise might constitute a legal or equitable counterclaim, defense or discharge of Borrower or Guarantor; (c) shall not be subject to any 
defense, counterclaim, setoff, right of recoupment, abatement, reduction or other claim or determination that Guarantor may have against 
Lender, Borrower, or any other person or entity; and (d) shall not be diminished or qualified by the death, disability, dissolution, reorganization, 
insolvency, bankruptcy, custodianship or receivership of Guarantor, Borrower, or any other person or entity, or the inability of any of them to 
pay debts or perform or otherwise satisfy obligations as they become due for any reason whatsoever.  
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Section 5. Guaranty Not Affected . Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sections or any other term or provision of this 

Guaranty, Guarantor covenants, agrees and consents that, at any time, and from time to time, in accordance with the Loan Documents: (a) loans 
may be advanced, repaid and readvanced from time to time, or the amount of loans, the rate of interest thereon, any other Obligation or the credit 
availability under the Facility or any Loan Document may be increased or otherwise changed; (b) the time, manner, place and other terms and 
provisions of payment or performance of any one or more of the Obligations may be amended, extended or otherwise changed; (c) any partial or 
late payment, or any payment during the continuance of any default, under any Loan Document may be accepted in whole or in part or rejected; 
(d) any Collateral may be surrendered, repossessed, sequestered, judicially or nonjudicially foreclosed, conveyed or assigned (by deed in lieu of 
foreclosure or otherwise), sold, leased or otherwise realized upon, dealt with or disposed of, in whole or in part, whether to Lender, its designees 
or representatives or otherwise; (e) any mortgage or other security interest in any such Collateral may be held without recordation or other filing 
or notice or perfection (whether intentionally or otherwise), may be recorded or otherwise perfected, or may be assigned, released, subordinated 
or otherwise impaired, dealt with or disposed of in whole or in part; (f) any one or more payments, distributions and proceeds received from or in 
respect of Borrower, Guarantor or any other person or entity, or any Collateral may be applied in the sole and absolute discretion of Lender to 
the Obligations or to any other indebtedness or obligations (including interest), the payment to or reimbursement of Lender for any fees and 
expenses for which it is entitled to be paid or reimbursed pursuant to any of the provisions of this Guaranty or the other Loan Documents, or the 
establishment and maintenance of any Collateral (all payments made by Guarantor, Borrower, or any other person or entity shall be made free 
and clear of, and without any reduction for, any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and any and 
all liabilities with respect thereto); (g) the liability of Borrower, Guarantor or any other person or entity to pay any and all of the Obligations may 
be settled, compromised, adjusted, forgiven, released or affected by any other accommodation, in whole or in part, and payment of any and all of 
the Obligations may be subordinated to the prior payment of any other debts or claims of any other person; (h) any representation, warranty, 
covenant or other term or provision of any Loan Document, in whole or in part, may be the subject of one or more waivers of applicability or 
consents to nonperformance, noncompliance or nonobservance, whether or not constituting defaults, or may be otherwise not exercised or 
enforced (whether intentionally or otherwise); (i) any Loan Document, or any term or provision thereof, in whole or in part, may be amended, 
extended, renewed or otherwise changed in any respect by the respective parties thereto in the manner provided therein; (j) any one or more of 
this Guaranty or the other Loan Documents, or any one or more of the rights, powers, privileges, remedies and interests of Lender herein or 
therein, may be sold, conveyed, assigned or otherwise transferred in whole or part (including participations or other undivided interests) to any 
other person or entity; (k) any other right, power, privilege, remedy or interest of Lender under this Guaranty, any other Loan Document or 
applicable law may be exercised or enforced by Lender or its designees or representatives, which exercise or enforcement may be delayed, 
discontinued or otherwise not pursued or exhausted for any or no reason whatsoever, or any such right, power, privilege, remedy or interest may 
be waived, omitted or otherwise not exercised or enforced (whether intentionally or otherwise); all in such manner and order, upon such terms 
and provisions and subject to such conditions as Lender may, subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, deem necessary or desirable in its sole 
and absolute discretion, all without notice to or consent from Guarantor; or (1) the death, incapacity, imprisonment or indictment and/or 
conviction of any criminal offense of Guarantor; and all of the above clauses (a^ through (1) without affecting this Guaranty or any other Loan 
Document or any of the Guarantor Obligations, which obligations shall continue in full force and effect until such time as all Obligations and all 
Guarantor Obligations have been fully paid and satisfied.  
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Section 6. Certain Representations and Warranties . Guarantor represents and warrants to Lender as to each of the matters set forth 

below: (a) Guarantor is an individual residing at the address set forth herein; (b) Guarantor has the full legal capacity and unconditional right to 
execute and deliver this Guaranty and each of the other Loan Documents to which Guarantor is or will be a party, and to perform all of 
Guarantor's obligations hereunder and thereunder; (c) the execution and delivery by Guarantor of this Guaranty and each of the other Loan 
Documents to which Guarantor is or will be a party, and the performance by Guarantor of all of Guarantor's obligations hereunder and 
thereunder will not violate or be in conflict with any term or provision of (i) any law, rule statute, ordinance, regulation, code, (including, 
without limitation, any applicable usury or similar law), (ii) any judgments, orders, writs, injunction, or decrees or (ii) any mortgages, indentures, 
leases, licenses, agreements, understandings, instruments, contracts, proposed transactions or other obligation of Guarantor or to which 
Guarantor is a party or by which Guarantor, or any material part of Guarantor's assets and properties, may be bound or subject, and will not 
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of Guarantor's assets or properties; (d) Guarantor shall not take any action or inaction 
that may impair any material part of Guarantor's assets and properties; (e) no licenses, permits, franchises, approvals, consents, waivers, notices, 
authorizations, qualifications, concessions, or the like, or registration, declaration or filing are required (1) in connection with the due and valid 
execution, delivery and performance by Guarantor of this Guaranty or any other Loan Document to which Guarantor is or will be a party, or (2) 
to effect the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of this Guaranty or any of the Loan Documents; (f) this Guaranty is, and the other 
Loan Documents to which Guarantor is or will be a party, when executed and delivered, will be, legal, valid and binding obligations of 
Guarantor, enforceable against Guarantor in accordance with their respective terms and provisions; and (g) Guarantor is solvent (i.e., the 
aggregate fair value of Guarantor's assets exceeds the sum of Guarantor's actual and contingent liabilities) and, both before and after taking into 
account the Guarantor Obligations, Guarantor has adequate capital and is able to pay his debts as they mature.  
   

Section 7. Certain Covenants of the Guarantor . Guarantor covenants and agrees that, from the date hereof and until the Obligations and 
Guarantor Obligations have each been fully paid and satisfied, Guarantor shall give, or cause to be given, immediate written notice to Lender of 
(i) any change in the domicile of Guarantor, (ii) the institution or threat of, or any adverse change in, any action, suit, investigation or proceeding 
at law, in equity, in arbitration or otherwise, involving or affecting Guarantor or any Guarantor Obligation, or (iii) any change in location or 
material loss in the assets, properties and/or liabilities of Guarantor or a material decline in the value or the validity thereof.  
   

Section 8. Certain Acknowledgments and Waivers of Guarantor . Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that the rights, powers, 
privileges, remedies and interests granted to or conferred upon Lender by this Guaranty, the other Loan Documents and applicable law are purely 
discretionary and shall not, and shall not be deemed or construed to, impose upon Lender any duty or other obligation, including, without 
limitation, any obligation (a) to sell, foreclose or otherwise realize upon any Collateral, (b) to protect or preserve any Collateral, (c) to perform or 
satisfy any obligation under or respecting any Collateral or Guarantor, (d) to mitigate or otherwise reduce any expense, fees, penalties, damage 
or other loss, or (e) to otherwise exercise or enforce any such right, power, privilege, remedy or interest. Any sale, foreclosure or other 
realization upon any Collateral, or any other exercise or enforcement of any such right, power, privilege, remedy or interest, if undertaken by 
Lender in its discretion, may be delayed, discontinued or otherwise not pursued or exhausted for any reason whatsoever (whether intentionally or 
otherwise). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to the extent waiver is not limited under applicable law, Guarantor hereby expressly 
waives each and every claim or defense, and agrees that Guarantor will not assert or pursue (by action, suit, counterclaim or otherwise) any 
claim or defense, respecting (i) any settlement or compromise with any obligor or other third party under any account receivable, note, 
instrument, agreement, document or general intangible included in the Collateral, irrespective of any reduction in the potential proceeds 
therefrom, (ii) the selection or order of disposition of any Collateral (which may be at random or in any order Lender may select in its sole and 
absolute discretion, and may be without regard to any holding period or tax basis that any person or entity may have therein or any tax or other 
consequences arising from such disposition), (iii) the private sale of any Collateral, whether or not any public market exists, (iv) the choice or 
timing of any sale date as to any Collateral (which Lender may select in its sole and absolute discretion), irrespective of whether greater sale 
proceeds would be realizable on a different sale date, (v) the adequacy of the sale price of any Collateral, (vi) any insufficiency of any such 
proceeds to fully satisfy the Obligations and Guarantor Obligations, (vii) any sale of any Collateral to the first person or entity to receive an offer 
or make a bid, (viii) the selection of any purchaser of any Collateral, or (ix) any default by any purchaser of any Collateral. Guarantor hereby 
expressly waives the applicability of any and all applicable laws that are or may be in conflict with the terms and provisions of this Guaranty or 
the other Loan Documents now or at any time in the future to the extent waiver is not limited under applicable law, including (without limitation) 
those pertaining to notice (other than notices required by this Guaranty or any other Loan Document), protest, appraisal, valuation, stay, 
extension, moratorium, marshaling of assets, exemption and equity of redemption. Neither Lender nor any of its designees or representatives 
shall incur any liability in connection with any sale of or other action taken respecting any Collateral in accordance with the provisions of this 
Guaranty or any other Loan Document or applicable law.  
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Section 9. Waivers of Notice. Etc. Guarantor hereby expressly waives: (a) notice of acceptance of this Guaranty; (b) notice of any 

action taken or omitted in reliance hereon; (c) presentment; (d) demand for payment; (e) protest or notice of protest; (f) notice of any 
nonpayment or the occurrence or continuance of any other default, or any other event that (with the giving of notice or the passage of time or 
both) could constitute a default, under any Loan Document; (g) notice of any material or adverse effect, whether individually or in the aggregate, 
upon the assets, business, operations, properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower, Guarantor or any other person or entity, or 
upon any part of any Collateral; (h) any statute of limitations or similar time constraint under any applicable law, whether with respect to the 
Obligations or Guarantor Obligations or otherwise; or (i) any other proof, notice or demand of any kind whatsoever or the making or promptness 
in making any claim or demand under this Guaranty or any other Loan Document. No act or omission of any kind in connection with any of the 
foregoing shall in any way impair or otherwise affect the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of any term or provision of this 
Guaranty or any of the Guarantor Obligations.  

  
Section 10. Bankruptcy: Reinstatement . In the event Lender is not permitted or is otherwise unable (because of the pendency of any 

bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other proceeding) to demand or accelerate the Obligations, but otherwise would have been permitted to 
do so at such time pursuant to any Loan Document, Lender may demand payment in full, and may exercise and enforce any and all of its other 
rights, powers, privileges, remedies and interests under this Guaranty or the other Loan Documents to which Guarantor is a party or by which 
Guarantor may be bound or subject, in each case as if the Obligations had been duly demanded or accelerated, and Guarantor will not raise, and 
hereby expressly waives and releases, any claim or defense with respect to such deemed demand or acceleration. In the event any payment of or 
any application of any amount, asset or property to any of the Obligations or Guarantor Obligations, or any part thereof, at any time is rescinded 
or must otherwise be restored or returned by Lender upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower, Guarantor, or any other 
person or entity, whether by order of any court, by any settlement approved by any court, or otherwise, then the terms and provisions of this 
Guaranty and the other Loan Documents shall continue to apply, or shall be reinstated if not then in effect, as the case may be, with respect to the 
Obligations or Guarantor Obligations so rescinded, restored or returned, all as though such payment or application had never been made.  
   

Section 11. Enforcement . Lender, in its sole discretion, may proceed to exercise or enforce any right, power, privilege, remedy or 
interest that Lender may have under this Guaranty, any other Loan Document or applicable law at law, in equity, in rem or in any other forum 
available under applicable law, severally and cumulatively. Lender may institute one or more proceedings (which may be separate proceedings) 
with respect to this Guaranty and each of the other Loan Documents in such order and at such times as Lender may elect in its sole and absolute 
discretion. This Guaranty and the other Loan Documents may be enforced without possession of any underlying promissory note, security 
agreement or pledge, or its production in any action, suit or proceeding, and without the presence or participation of Borrower or Guarantor, 
whether through lack of jurisdiction, venue or service or otherwise; and Guarantor will not raise, and each hereby waives, any objection or 
defense respecting the need for any such production, presence or participation.  
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Section 12. Exculpation . Lender and its participants, affiliates, custodians and designees, representatives, and its officers, employees, 

attorneys and agents, shall not incur any liability for any acts or omissions (and Guarantor hereby expressly waives any and all related claims 
and actions against each such person or entity) arising out of or related directly or indirectly to this Guaranty, except to the extent occasioned by 
the respective person's or entity's gross negligence or willful misconduct as finally determined pursuant to applicable law by a governmental 
authority or court having jurisdiction.  

   
Section 13. Subrogation . No payment by Guarantor shall entitle Guarantor, by subrogation to the rights of Lender, rights of 

reimbursement, restitution or contribution from Borrower, or otherwise, to any payment by Borrower (or out of any assets of Borrower), except 
after the final and irrevocable payment (in cash) and satisfaction of any and all Obligations and Guarantor Obligations.  
   

Section 14. Expenses. Etc. Guarantor shall pay or reimburse, on demand, any and all costs and expenses incurred by Lender, whether 
directly or indirectly, in connection with the enforcement and adjudication of this Guaranty and any other Loan Documents, including (without 
limitation) the disbursements, expenses and reasonable fees of counsel.  
   

Section 15. Further Assurances . Guarantor agrees to do such further acts and things and to execute and deliver such statements, 
assignments, agreements, instruments and other documents as Lender from time to time may request in connection with this Guaranty and in 
order to (a) evidence, confirm, perfect and protect any lien granted by Guarantor, (b) give Lender or its designees or representatives confirmation 
and further assurance of its rights, powers, privileges, remedies and interests under this Guaranty, the other Loan Documents and applicable law, 
(c) better enable Lender or its designees or representatives to exercise any such right, power, privilege, remedy or interest, and (d) otherwise 
effectuate the purpose and the terms and provisions of this Guaranty or the other Loan Documents, each in such form and substance as may be 
acceptable to Lender.  
   

Section 16. Relationship of Guarantor and Lender. Etc. Guarantor represents, warrants, acknowledges and agrees that: (a) Lender is 
acting solely in the capacity of Lender with respect to this Guaranty, the other Loan Documents and the Collateral; (b) Guarantor's sole 
relationship with Lender is that of debtor and creditor, respectively, and no term or provision of this Guaranty or any other Loan Document is 
intended to create, nor shall any such term or provision be deemed or construed to have created, any joint venture, partnership, trust, agency or 
other fiduciary or advisory relationship with Guarantor; and (c) Guarantor has independently and fully reviewed and evaluated this Guaranty, the 
other Loan Documents, and the transactions contemplated hereunder and thereunder and the potential effects of such transactions on the assets, 
business, operations, properties and condition (financial or otherwise) of Guarantor and Borrowers (if any), which review and evaluation was 
made (i) together with counsel and (to the extent deemed prudent by Guarantor) financial and other advisors to Guarantor, and (ii) without any 
reliance upon any oral or written advice, analysis or assurance of any kind whatsoever from Lender.  
   

Section 17. Notices . All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto shall be given in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been duly given or made upon receipt by the receiving party. All notices, requests and demands are to be given or made to the 
respective parties at the following addresses (or to such other addresses as either party may designate by notice in accordance with the provisions 
of this Paragraph):  
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If to Guarantor:  
   
Christopher Reed  
7706 Dunbarton Ave  
Los Angeles, CA 90045  
   
If to Lender:  
   
GemCap Lending I, LLC  
1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305  
Santa Monica, California 90401  
Attn: David Ellis  
   
With a copy to:  
   
Cohen Tauber Spievack & Wagner P.C.  
420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 2400  
New York, New York 10170  
Attention: Robert A. Boghosian, Esq.  
   

Section 18. APPLICABLE LAW. THIS GUARANTY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AN D 
INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STAT E OF CALIFORNIA, THE LAWS OF WHICH 
GUARANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY ELECTS TO APPLY TO THIS GUARANTY, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO 
PROVISIONS FOR CHOICE OF LAW THEREUNDER. GUARANTOR AGREES THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING 
BROUGHT TO ENFORCE OR ARISING OUT OF THIS GUARANTY SHALL BE COMMENCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
PROVISIONS OF THIS GUARANTY.  
   

Section 19. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, GUA RANTOR 
HEREBY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS THAT IT MAY NOW OR  HEREAFTER HAVE UNDER THE LAWS OF THE 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR ANY STATE TO A TRIAL BY  JURY OF ANY AND ALL ISSUES ARISING EITHER 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BETWEEN GUARANTOR AND LENDER OR THEIR 
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS GUARANTY, THE OTHER LOAN 
DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE COLLATERAL. I T IS INTENDED THAT SAID WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO 
ANY AND ALL DEFENSES, RIGHTS, AND/OR COUNTERCLAIMS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDINGS BETWEEN 
GUARANTOR AND LENDER. GUARANTOR WAIVES ALL RIGHTS T O INTERPOSE ANY CLAIMS, DEDUCTIONS, SETOFFS 
OR COUNTERCLAIMS OF ANY KIND, NATURE OR DESCRIPTION  IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING INSTITUTED BY 
LENDER WITH RESPECT TO THIS GUARANTY, THE OTHER LOA N DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS, THE 
COLLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM OR RELAT ING THERETO, EXCEPT COMPULSORY 
COUNTERCLAIMS.  
 

92 



   
Section 20. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. GUARANTOR HEREBY (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS AND CONSEN TS TO 

THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL  COURTS LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY, WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR P ROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF THIS GUARANTY, THE 
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE CO LLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM 
OR RELATING THERETO, AND (b) WAIVES ANY OBJECTIONS WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON 
VENUE OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS WITH RESPECT THERETO. IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEED ING, 
GUARANTOR WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AN D COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS AND PAPERS 
THEREIN AND AGREES THAT THE SERVICE THEREOF MAY BE MADE BY CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT 
REQUESTED, DIRECTED TO GUARANTOR AT ITS OFFICES SET  FORTH HEREIN OR OTHER ADDRESS THEREOF OF 
WHICH LENDER HAS RECEIVED NOTICE AS PROVIDED IN THI S GUARANTY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, 
GUARANTOR CONSENTS TO THE COMMENCEMENT BY LENDER OF ANY ACTIO N OR PROCEEDING IN ANY OTHER 
JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE ITS RIGHTS IN AND TO THE CO LLATERAL AND GUARANTOR WAIVES ANY OBJECTION 
WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON VENUE A ND/OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS OF ANY SUCH 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING.  
   

Section 21. Construction . No provision of this Guaranty shall be construed against or interpreted to the disadvantage of any party 
hereto by reason of such party or his or its counsel having, or being deemed to have, structured or drafted such provision.  
   

Section 22. Headings. Amendments. Waiver. Etc. Section and paragraph headings are for convenience only and shall not be construed 
as part of this Guaranty. Any modification and amendment shall be in writing and signed by the parties, and any waiver of, or consent to any 
departure from, any representation, warranty, covenant or other term or provision shall be in writing and signed by each affected party hereto or 
thereto, as applicable.  
   

Section 23. Entire Agreement . This Guaranty represents the entire agreement and understanding concerning the subject matter hereof 
and thereof between the parties, and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings concerning the subject matter hereof, whether oral 
or written.  
   

Section 24. Survival . All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by Guarantor herein or in any of the Loan 
Documents or in any certificate, report or instrument contemplated hereby shall survive any independent investigation made by Lender and the 
execution and delivery of this Guaranty, the Loan Documents and such certificates, reports or instruments and shall continue so long as any 
Obligations are outstanding and unsatisfied, applicable statutes of limitations to the contrary notwithstanding.  
   

Section 25. Severability . Every provision of this Guaranty is intended to be severable. If, in any jurisdiction, any term or provision 
hereof is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, (a) the remaining terms and provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, (b) any such invalidity or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction, and (c) the 
invalid or unenforceable term or provision shall, for purposes of such jurisdiction, be deemed replaced by a term or provision that is valid and 
enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision. If a court of competent 
jurisdiction determines that any covenant or restriction, by the length of time or any other restriction, or portion thereof, set forth in this Guaranty 
is unreasonable or unenforceable, the court shall reduce or modify such covenants or restrictions to those which it deems reasonable and 
enforceable under the circumstances and, as so reduced or modified, the parties hereto agree that such covenants and restrictions shall remain in 
full force and effect as so modified. In the event a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any provision of this Guaranty is invalid or 
against public policy and cannot be so reduced or modified so as to be made enforceable, the remaining provisions of this Guaranty shall not be 
affected thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect.  
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Section 26. No Waiver bv Action. Cumulative Rights. Etc. A waiver of a breach of any term, covenant or condition of this Guaranty 

shall not operate or be construed as a continuing waiver of such term, covenant or condition, or breach, or of any other term, covenant or 
condition, or breach by such party. No failure to exercise and no delay in exercising any right, remedy, or power hereunder shall preclude any 
other or further exercise of any other right, remedy or power provided herein or by law or in equity. Lender is entitled to exercise all rights and 
remedies available to it at law or in equity in connection with this Guaranty. The rights and remedies of Lender hereunder are several and 
cumulative at Lender's discretion and may be exercised at Lender's discretion.  
   

Section 27. Successors and Assigns . All covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf of the parties contained in this Guaranty 
shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective estates, representatives, successors and assigns, as 
applicable; provided , however, that nothing in this Guaranty, express or implied, shall confer on Guarantor the right to assign any of his rights 
or obligations hereunder at any time.  
   

Section 28. Counterparts . This Guaranty may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by facsimile or electronic signature, each of 
which when so executed, shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  
   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Validity Guaranty as of the date first written above.  
 
   
GUARANTOR:  
 
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY LENDER:  
   
GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
 
By: _______________________________  
Name:  
Title:  
 
 
   

 [SIGNATURE PAGE TO VALIDITY GUARANTY]  
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Exhibit 1.88  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Form of Warehouse Agreement  

   
GemCap Lending I, LLC  

1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305  
Santa Monica, California 90401  

 
November 12, 2009  
 
[WAREHOUSE ]  
[ADDRESS        ]  
[                           ]  
[ATTN:              ]  
 

 
Dear [                     ]:  
 

As part of our financing arrangement with Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”), Borrower has pledged and 
granted to GemCap Lending I, LLC (“GemCap”, “us” or “we”) a first priority continuing security interest in and lien upon all property and 
assets now owned and hereafter acquired by Borrower and the proceeds and products thereof (the “ Collateral ”).  The Collateral includes, 
among other things, merchandise, inventory and goods of the Borrower located in your facility at [_______________________] (the “ Premises 
”) and which may be shipped to and stored with you from time to time in the future (any and all such merchandise, inventory and goods, 
collectively, the “ Inventory ”).  
 

By your acknowledgement below, you certify as follows:  
   

1.     There is storage or warehouse agreement in place between you and Borrower with respect to your storage of the Inventory 
(the “ Warehouse Agreement ”).  You agree that, to the extent any of the terms of this letter agreement conflict with any of the terms of the 
Warehouse Agreement, the terms of this letter agreement will govern and control. You further agree that the Warehouse Agreement may not be 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified without our prior written consent.  
   

2.     (a)  The Warehouse Agreement is in full force and effect and has not been amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, 
(b) there is no defense, offset, claim or counterclaim by or in favor of you against Borrower under the Warehouse Agreement, and (c) no notice 
of default has been given under or in connection with the Warehouse Agreement in connection with a default that has not been cured, and you 
have no knowledge of the occurrence of any default under or in connection with the Warehouse Agreement.  
   

3.     This letter agreement is binding upon you and shall constitute notice to you that we have a security interest in the Inventory. 
You certify that you have not previously been advised that any person or entity, other than Borrower and GemCap, has any existing right, title or 
interest in any of the Inventory.  
   

4.     Until you have received written notification to the contrary from us, you may release Inventory from the Premises in 
accordance with Borrower’s instructions. Upon delivery of any such written notification, you will handle the Inventory only in accordance with 
GemCap’s instructions, notwithstanding any instruction of the Borrower to the contrary.  
   

5.     You are holding and will hold all Inventory for GemCap’s account in accordance with this letter agreement and you will 
release same to us upon demand, provided that you receive payment of any accrued charges for the storage of the Inventory being released.  You 
agree that you will not hinder or delay GemCap in enforcing its rights in and to the Inventory.  
   

   Re:  Reed’s, Inc.  
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6.     To assist us in keeping accurate records relating to the Inventory, you will provide us with a finished goods inventory report 

(“ Inventory Report ”) regarding the Inventory upon request.  The Inventory Report shall set forth the quantity of Inventory held by you, and 
such other matters as we shall reasonably request, including information regarding delivery and shipment of the Inventory and statements of 
charges rendered to the Borrower.  In addition, you will confirm balances of the Inventory to us when an inventory is taken by you or the 
Borrower, and make copies of any such inventory available to us upon request.  
   

7.     You hereby warrant and represent that you do not deal in the type of goods stored by the Borrower and you do not buy or 
sell such goods in the ordinary course of your business.  
   

8.     Your costs and expenses of storing the Inventory shall be paid by Borrower. You agree to advise us in the event that any 
charges or expenses due from the Borrower to you become past due, and if not paid by Borrower, then we shall be afforded the option to pay 
such amounts. However, we shall not be directly or indirectly liable or responsible for any of said charges whether due or to become due.  
   

9.     The arrangement and instructions outlined herein shall continue without any change or modification until we have given 
written notification to the contrary to you, which notification need only be signed by us.  Upon delivery of any such notification, you will handle 
the Inventory in accordance with our instructions.  
   

10.     You hereby grant to the authorized representatives of GemCap a license to enter the Premises to do any or all of the 
following with respect to the Inventory: inspect, have appraised, remove, maintain, prepare for sale, transfer, or sell (at public or private sale) the 
Inventory at any time, with reasonable prior notice.  We shall not have any duty or obligation to remove or dispose of any Inventory, or any other 
property left on the Premises by Borrower.  
   

11.     (a) You will not assert contractual, statutory or possessory liens, claims or demands of any kind which you have or may 
have in respect of the Inventory and (b) any rights you may have in or to the Inventory, no matter how arising (to the extent not effectively 
waived pursuant to clause (a) of this paragraph), shall be subordinate in all respects to the rights of GemCap in respect thereof.  It is specifically 
acknowledged that GemCap’s security interest is senior to and will take priority over any warehouseman’s lien now existing or hereafter arising 
under applicable law in your favor on account of unpaid warehouse charges in connection with the Inventory.  
   

12.     You will immediately notify us of any physical loss, damage, theft, or destruction of any portion of the Inventory.  
   

13.     All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto shall be in writing and either (a) delivered by 
hand or (b) delivered by national overnight courier service, and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made upon receipt by the receiving 
party.  All notices, requests and demands are to be given or made to the respective parties at the following addresses (or to such other addresses 
as either party may designate by notice in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph):  
 

 

   

 

If to GemCap  GemCap Lending I, LLC  
1401 Ocean Avenue  
Suite 305  
Santa Monica, California 90401  
Attn: David Ellis  

If to you  [                                       ]  

If to Borrower  Reed’s, Inc.  
13000 South Spring Street  
Los Angeles, California 90061  
Attn: Christopher Reed,  
           Chief Executive Officer  
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This letter agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of California.  This letter agreement 

may be executed in counterparts and by facsimile or other electronic signature, each of which shall be an original, and all of which, when taken 
together, shall constitute one agreement.  
   

   
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY:  
 
[                                                       ]  
 
By: _________________________  
Name/Title:  
 
 
REED’S, INC.  
 
By: /s/ James Linesch                            
James Linesch  
Chief Financial Officer  
Reed’s Inc.  

 

  

Very truly yours,  
 
GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC  
 
By: _________________________  
Name/Title:  
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Exhibit 2.2(b)  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Form of Revolving Loan Note  

 
SECURED LOAN NOTE  

 
 

Up to $3,000,000  
 

Dated:  November 18, 2009  
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Reed’s, Inc. ( "Borrower" ), promises to pay to the order of GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC , a Delaware 
limited liability company with offices at 1401 Ocean Avenue, Suite 305, Santa Monica, California 90401 and its successors and assigns (“
Lender ”), on or before November 18, 2011, the principal sum of up to Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) in accordance with the Loan and 
Security Agreement, of even date herewith, entered into by and between Borrower and Lender (as amended from time to time, the “ Agreement 
”).  Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have their respective meanings as set forth in the Agreement.  

 
INTEREST; AMORTIZATION; DUE DATE :  Interest on the outstanding principal balance hereof shall be computed on the basis of 

the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 days. Interest shall accrue at a rate per annum equal to Eighteen Percent (18%), and shall be 
payable by Borrower in arrears (x) prior to the Maturity Date, on the first Business Day of each calendar month, commencing December 1, 2009, 
(y) in full on the Maturity Date and (z) on demand after the Maturity Date. Following and during the continuation of an Event of Default, interest 
on the Loan, including principal and interest, shall accrue at a rate per annum equal to Twenty-Four Percent (24%).  

 
Subject to the prepayment provisions hereof, Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow Loans, as set forth in the Agreement.  

 
The entire principal balance of this Note then outstanding, plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon, together with all penalties and 

late payment fees, if any, shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. Borrower may prepay the entire 
unpaid principal sum of the Revolving Loans without premium or penalty, provided , however , that , (i) such prepayment is no less than the 
amount of the remaining outstanding principal sum of all outstanding Revolving Loans, (ii) as part of such prepayment, Borrower shall pay 
Lender all other amounts due to Lender pursuant to this Note, the Agreement and other Loan Documents, and (iii) in addition, in the event 
Borrower makes such prepayment during the first nine (9) months of the Term, then Borrower shall pay to Lender an amount equal to $60,000 
(representing two percent (2%) of the maximum Revolving Loan Commitment of $3,000,000) (the “ Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee ”).  The 
Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee is intended to compensate Lender for committing and deploying funds for Borrower’s Revolving Loans 
pursuant to the Agreement and for Lender’s loss of investment of such funds in connection with such early termination, and is not intended as a 
penalty.   The Revolving Loan Prepayment Fee also shall be due and payable by Borrower to Lender if Lender accelerates the payment of the 
Obligations during the first nine (9) months of the Term due to the occurrence of an Event of Default.  
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PAYMENT AND COLLECTION :  In order to satisfy Borrower’s payment of amounts due under the Revolving Loans and all fees, 

expenses and charges with respect thereto that are due and payable under this Note, the Agreement or any other Loan Document, Borrower 
hereby irrevocably authorizes Lender to initiate manual and automatic electronic (debit and credit) entries through the Automated Clearing 
House or other appropriate electronic payment system (“ACH”) to all deposit accounts maintained by Borrower, wherever located. At the 
request of Lender,  Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver to the institution set forth below (with a copy to the Lender) an ACH 
agreement, voided check, information and/or direction letter reasonably necessary to so instruct Borrower’s depository institution.  Borrower 
(i) shall maintain in all respects this ACH arrangement; (ii) shall not change depository institutions without Lender’s prior written consent, and if 
consent is received, shall immediately execute similar ACH instruction(s), and (iii) waive any and all claims for loss or damage arising out of 
debits or credits to/from the depository institution, whether made properly or in error.  Borrower has communicated with and instructed the 
institution set forth below:  
   

   
MAXIMUM RATE OF INTEREST :  It is intended that the rates of interest herein shall never exceed the maximum rate, if any, which 

may be legally charged on the Revolving Loans evidenced by this Note (the “ Maximum Rate ”), and if the provisions for interest contained in 
this Note would result in a rate higher than the Maximum Rate, interest shall nevertheless be limited to the Maximum Rate and any amounts 
which may be paid toward interest in excess of the Maximum Rate shall be applied to the reduction of principal, or, at the option of Lender, 
returned to Borrower.  

 
PLACE OF PAYMENT :  All payments hereon shall be made, and all notices to the Lender required or authorized hereby shall be 

given, at the office of Lender at the address designated in the Agreement, or to such other place as Lender may from time to time direct by 
written notice to Borrower.  

 
APPLICATION OF PAYMENTS :  All payments received hereunder shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of the 

Agreement.  
 

PAYMENT AND COLLECTION :  All amounts payable hereunder are payable by check or wire transfer in immediately available 
funds to the account number specified by Lender, in lawful money of the United States.  At Lender’s option, Lender may charge the Borrower’s 
account for the interest accrued hereunder. Borrower agrees to perform and comply with each of the covenants, conditions, provisions and 
agreements contained in every instrument now evidencing or securing the indebtedness evidenced hereby.  

   
   

  

Bank Name:  City National Bank  
Address:  3424 Carson Street,  
  Torrance, CA 90503  
ABA #:  122016066  
Account #:  017236482  
Phone:  310-264-2919  
Fax:  310-264-2906  
Reference:  Reed’s  
Contact Person: Jackie Saidian    
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SECURITY :  This Note is issued pursuant to the Agreement and is secured by a pledge of the Collateral as described in the Loan 
Documents.  Notwithstanding the pledge of the Collateral described above, Borrower hereby acknowledges, admits and agrees that Borrower’s 
obligations under this Note are recourse obligations of Borrower to which Borrower pledges its full faith and credit.  

 
DEFAULTS; REMEDIES :  Upon the happening of an Event of Default, the Lender shall have all of the rights and remedies set forth in 

the Agreement.  
 

The failure to exercise any of the rights and remedies set forth in the Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the right to exercise the 
same or any other option at any subsequent time in respect of the same event or any other event.  The acceptance by Lender of any payment 
which is less than payment in full of all amounts due and payable at the time of such payment shall not constitute a waiver of the right to 
exercise any of the foregoing rights and remedies at that time or at any subsequent time or nullify any prior exercise of any such rights and 
remedies without the express consent of Lender, except as and to the extent otherwise provided by law.  

 
WAIVERS :  Borrower waives diligence, presentment, protest and demand and also notice of protest, demand, dishonor and 

nonpayment of this Note.  
 

TERMINOLOGY :  Any reference herein to Lender shall be deemed to include and apply to every subsequent holder of this Note.  
 

AGREEMENT :  Reference is made to the Agreement for provisions as to the Revolving Loans, rates of interest, Collateral, 
acceleration and release matters.  If there is any conflict between the terms of this Note and the terms of the Agreement, the terms of the 
Agreement shall control.  

 
APPLICABLE LAW :  

   
THIS NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND IN TERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF 
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, THE LAWS OF WHICH BORROWER  HEREBY EXPRESSLY ELECTS TO APPLY TO THIS 
NOTE, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO PROVISIONS FOR CHOIC E OF LAW THEREUNDER.  BORROWER AGREES THAT 
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT TO ENFORCE OR ARIS ING OUT OF THIS NOTE SHALL BE COMMENCED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS NOTE.  
   

WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .     TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,  
   
BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS THAT IT M AY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE UNDER THE LAWS 
OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR ANY STATE TO A T RIAL BY JURY OF ANY AND ALL ISSUES ARISING 
EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN ANY ACTION OR PROC EEDING BETWEEN BORROWER AND LENDER OR 
THEIR SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS NOTE, THE OTHER LOAN 
DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR THE COLLATERAL.  IT IS INTENDED THAT SAID WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO 
ANY AND ALL DEFENSES, RIGHTS, AND/OR COUNTERCLAIMS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDINGS BETWEEN 
BORROWER AND LENDER.  BORROWER WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO  INTERPOSE ANY CLAIMS, DEDUCTIONS, SETOFFS 
OR COUNTERCLAIMS OF ANY KIND, NATURE OR DESCRIPTION  IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING INSTITUTED BY 
LENDER WITH RESPECT TO THIS NOTE, THE OTHER LOAN DO CUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS, THE COLLATERAL OR 
ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM OR RELATING THERETO, E XCEPT COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIMS.  
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CONSENT TO JURISDICTION .  
   
BORROWER HEREBY (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS AND CONSENT S TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE 
AND FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORN IA, LOS ANGELES COUNTY, WITH RESPECT TO ANY 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF THIS NOTE, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS AND/OR 
THE COLLATERAL OR ANY MATTER ARISING THEREFROM OR R ELATING THERETO, AND (b) WAIVES ANY 
OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE BASED ON VENUE AND/OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS WITH 
RESPECT THERETO.  IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING,   BORROWER WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE 
SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS AND PAPERS THEREIN AND AGREES THAT THE SERVICE THEREOF 
MAY BE MADE BY CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUE STED, DIRECTED TO BORROWER AT ITS OFFICES SET 
FORTH IN THE AGREEMENT OR OTHER ADDRESS THEREOF OF WHICH LENDER HAS RECEIVED NOTICE AS 
PROVIDED IN THE AGREEMENT.  NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOR EGOING,  BORROWER CONSENTS TO THE 
COMMENCEMENT BY LENDER OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE ITS 
RIGHTS IN AND TO THE COLLATERAL AND WAIVES ANY OBJE CTION WHICH BORROWER MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER 
HAVE BASED ON VENUE AND/OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Secured Revolving Loan Note has been duly executed and delivered by the undersigned as of the day 
and year first above written.  

   

 
 

  

  BORROWER :    
      
  REED’S, INC.    
        
  By:  /s/    

    Name    
    Title    
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Exhibit 3.2  

to  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 
Fees  

 
Borrower shall pay to Lender the following fees:  
 
Annual Line Fee :  
 
A non-refundable fee of Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000) per year (representing one percent (1%) per annum, computed on the basis of a 360 
day year and the actual number of days elapsed, of the maximum Revolving Loan Commitment of $3,000,000) shall be due and payable on (i) 
the Closing Date and (ii) each subsequent anniversary of the Closing Date during the Term.  
 
Unused Revolver Line Fee :  
 
A monthly fee at the rate of one-half percent (0.5%) per annum (computed on the basis of a 360 day year and the actual number of days elapsed) 
on the average daily unused maximum Revolving Loan Commitment of $3,000,000 during such month, payable monthly in arrears on the first 
day of each month during the Term.  
 
Loan Administration Fee and Funding Fee :  
 
$500.00 per month, payable in arrears on the first day of each month during the Term.  
 
Audit Fees :  
 
$700 per person, per day, plus out-of-pocket expenses, for not more than two (2) audits during each 12-month period of the Term; provided, that 
no such limitation shall apply following the occurrence of an Event of Default.  
   
   

  

102 



   
Schedule 5.4(m)  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

Banks and Financial Institutions  
 
Wells Fargo Bank  
FBO Reed’s Inc  
Dept 8184  
1200 West 7 th Street, Suite T2-210  
Los Angeles, Ca  90017-2349  
Account No. 4121722698  
Representative  
DENISE SUDENGA  
612-573-9539  
denise.j.sudenga@wellsfargo  
 
City National Bank  
ACCT 017-236482     General  
ACCT  017-236481     Credit Card  
Attn:     Jackie Saidian  
310-264-2919  
3424 Carson Street, Torrance, CA  90503  
 
 
First Capital  
ACCT  4121722698  
Attn:     John Neher  
213.412.1566  
700 South Flower Street, Suite 2325 | Los Angeles, California 90017  
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Schedule 5.4(n)  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

 

 

 

 
Chief Executive Office :  
   
13000 S. Spring Street  
Los Angeles, CA 90061  
   
Other Offices :  
   
12930 S. Spring Street  
Los Angeles, CA 90061  

 
   

 

   
   
   

●  Borrower’s Legal Name: Reed’s, Inc.  

●  Borrower’s Jurisdiction of Organization: Delaware  

●  Borrower’s Chief Executive Office and Other Offices:  

●  Describe any changes in name, jurisdiction of organization, chief office location or corporate structure undertaken by Borrower within the 
last five years: None.  

●  List any security agreements entered into by third parties which currently bind Borrower as a grantor thereunder: None.  
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Schedule 8.21  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

Changes since Balance Sheet Date of September 30, 2009  
 
On October 1, 2009, 60,000 warrants were issued in connection with long-term financing obligation at exercise price of $1.20 for approximately 
five years.  
 
On October 19, 2009, the Company executed an Asset Purchase Agreement with Sonoma Cider Mill, Inc., to acquire certain assets of the 
Sonoma Sparkler brand.  Since June 1, 2009, based on a non-binding letter of intent, the Company has been packing and selling the six Sonoma 
Sparkler brand products in anticipation of completion of this acquisition.  The assets purchased in this transaction include the intellectual 
property known as the Sonoma Sparkler label and formulas for six flavors currently on the market, customer lists and vendor contact 
information, assignable licenses and permits and existing inventory.  The aggregate purchase price under the Agreement is $252,000. Initial 
payments of $45,000 were made prior to the Agreement and the balance of $207,000 is payable in installments of $9,000 over 23 remaining 
months, continuing on the first of every month.  
 
On October 8, 2009, the Company sold an aggregate of 364,189 units (“Units”) consisting of one share of our common stock (“Share”) and 
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock (“Warrants”)at a price of $1.80 per Unit pursuant to a public shelf registration on Form S-
3.  The Warrants consist of  (i) Series A Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of common stock equal to 40% of a purchaser’s 
Shares, which have an initial exercise price of $2.25 per share and are exercisable for a period of five years commencing 183 days from the date 
of issuance, (ii) Series B Warrants, for the purchase of a number of shares of common stock equal to 50% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an 
exercise price equal to $1.80 and are exercisable for 60 trading days commencing immediately, and (iii) Series C Warrants, for the purchase of a 
number of a shares of common stock equal to 20% of a purchaser’s Shares, which have an exercise price of $2.25 and are exercisable for five 
years commencing 183 days from the date of issuance.  The Series B Warrants and Series C Warrants were only issued to purchasers who 
purchase Units for an aggregate purchase price of at least $125,000.   The Company paid an 8% placement agent fee. The net proceeds to the 
Company from the shelf-take down, after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses, were approximately $563,000. At the 
closing, the Company issued 364,189 shares of common stock, Series A Warrants to purchase 145,676 shares of common stock, Series B 
Warrants to purchase 69,445 shares of common stock, and Series C Warrants to purchase 27,778 shares of common stock.  
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Schedule 8.22  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

Intellectual Property  
 
Proprietary Rights  
   

We own trademarks that we consider material to our business. Three of our trademarks are registered trademarks in the U.S. Patent and 
Trademark Office: Virgil’s ®, Reed’s Original Ginger Brew All-Natural Jamaican Style Ginger Ale ® and Tianfu China Natural Soda ®. 
Registrations for trademarks in the United States will last indefinitely as long as we continue to use and police the trademarks and renew filings 
with the applicable governmental offices. We have not been challenged in our right to use any of our material trademarks in the United States.  
 

We have one pending trademark registration application, including application[s] for registration of the China Cola mark, serial 
application number 77646445.  
 

We utilize the following other unregistered marks in the conduct of our business: Sonoma Sparkler  
 

In addition, we consider our finished product and concentrate formulae, which are not the subject of any patents, to be trade 
secrets.  Our brewing process is a trade secret.  This process can be used to brew flavors of beverages other than ginger ale and ginger beer, such 
as root beer, cream soda, cola, and other spice and fruit beverages.  We have not sought any patents on our brewing processes because we would 
be required to disclose our brewing process in patent applications.  
 

We have registered, or have rights to utilize in the conduct of our business, the reedsinc.com and reedsgingerbrew.com domain names.  
 

We generally use non-disclosure agreements with employees and distributors to protect our proprietary rights.  
   
Government Regulation  
   

The production, distribution and sale in the United States of many of our Company’s products are subject to the Federal Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanham Act, state consumer protection laws, federal, state and local workplace health 
and safety laws, various federal, state and local environmental protection laws and various other federal, state and local statutes and regulations 
applicable to the production, transportation, sale, safety, advertising, labeling and ingredients of such products. Outside the United States, the 
distribution and sale of our many products and related operations are also subject to numerous similar and other statutes and regulations.  

    
All of our facilities and other operations in the United States are subject to various environmental protection statutes and regulations, 

including those relating to the use of water resources and the discharge of wastewater. Our policy is to comply with all such legal requirements.  
   

106 



 
Schedule 8.23  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

Employee Matters  
 
We have 37 full-time employees, as follows: three in general management, nine in sales and marketing support, six in admin and operations and 
19 in production. We employ additional people on a part-time basis as needed.  We have never participated in a collective bargaining agreement. 
We believe that the relationship with our employees is good.  
 
There are no written employment agreements with any of our officers or key employees In the event of a sale of Reed’s, Inc., should Mr. James 
Linesch’s employment terminate during the first 12 months after the sale, he will be entitled to three months severance.  
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Schedule 8.23  

To  
Loan and Security Agreement  

Employee Matters  
 
We have 32 full-time employees, as follows: three in general management, ten in sales and marketing support, five in admin and operations and 
16 in production. We employ additional people on a part-time basis as needed.  We have never participated in a collective bargaining agreement. 
We believe that the relationship with our employees is good.  
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EXHIBIT 21  
   

REED’S, INC.  
   
   

SUBSIDIARIES  
   

NONE  



  

 
Exhibit 23.1  
 
 
   
 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors  
Reed’s, Inc  
 
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the previously filed Registration Statement of Reed’s, Inc. on Form S-8 (SEC File 
Number 333-157-359) which was filed with the Commission on February 17, 2009 of our report, dated March 17, 2010, appearing in the annual 
report on Form 10K for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.  
 
 
 
 
 

/s/ WEINBERG & COMPANY, P.A.  
Certified Public Accountants  

 
Los Angeles, California  
March 30, 2010  



   
   

EXHIBIT 31.1  
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O SECTION 302  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
I, Christopher J. Reed, certify that:  
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

    a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

    b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;  

    c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

    d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

    a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

    b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Date:  March 30, 2010   /s/ Christopher J. Reed 

     Christopher J. Reed  
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (Principal 
Financial Officer)  



 
   

EXHIBIT 31.2  
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O SECTION 302  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
I, James Linesch, certify that:  
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

    a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

    b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;  

    c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

    d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

    a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

    b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Date:  March 30, 2010   /s/ James Linesch 

     James Linesch  
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)  



   
   

EXHIBIT 32.1  
   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002    
   

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Christopher J. Reed, Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that, to the best of his knowledge and belief:  
   

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
   

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  
   

      
  REED’S, INC.  
      
Date: March 30, 2010  By:    /s/ Christopher J. Reed 

  Christopher J. Reed  
Chief Executive Officer  



   
   

EXHIBIT 32.2  
   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002    
   

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), James Linesch, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to 
the best of his knowledge and belief, that:  
   

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
   

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  
   

      
  REED’S, INC.  
      
Date: March 30, 2010  By:    /s/ James Linesch 

  James Linesch  
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)  

    


